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Q Technology (Group) Company Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a global leading mid-to-high
end camera and fingerprint recognition module manufacturer for
intelligent mobile terminals. The Group is primarily engaged in
the design, research and development, manufacture and sales
of camera modules and fingerprint recognition modules, and
centred on mid-to-high end camera and fingerprint recognition
module market for intelligent mobile terminals such as global
smart phone and tablet personal computer (PC) brands, Internet
of Things (loT), smart vehicles, etc. The Group is one of the first
few manufacturers in the PRC to use chip on board (“COB”) and
chip on flex (“COF”) technologies and molding on board (“MOB”)
and molding on chip (“MOC”) technologies in the manufacture of
camera modules, as well as to produce and sell ultra-thin camera
modules with resolutions of 200 mega pixels, dual/multiple camera
modules, 3D modules, under-glass fingerprint recognition modules
and fingerprint recognition modules with various technologies
on a mass production scale. Currently, the Group’s product mix
covers ultrathin camera modules ranging from 2 mega pixels to
200 mega pixels, dual/multiple camera modules, optical image
stabilization (OIS) camera modules, periscope camera modules,
3D camera modules, automotive camera modules, smart home
camera modules, capacitive fingerprint recognition modules,
optical under-screen fingerprint recognition modules and ultrasonic
fingerprint recognition modules. In addition, the Group also
develops and sells the full line of automation equipment with
Automated Optical Inspection (AQI) as core technology. The Group
is committed to becoming an advanced intelligent vision company
and continuously enhancing ability building of three aspects of
intelligent vision products, being optical designs, computational
imaging and system integration. We believe, through resolute
and consistent promotion of the three strategies of large-scale
intelligent manufacturing, research and development of new
technology and vertical integration, we will stand out in the fast-
growing camera module and fingerprint recognition module
markets and realise the mission of “to illuminate machines”.
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(In Renminbi (“RMB’) thousands, except per share amounts or
otherwise indicated)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2022 2021
_BICF _EB”_-F
Consolidated
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13,759,170 18,662,626

17,400,369

541,342 1,761,982
(59,874) (30,050)
107,084 957,297

63,146 (94,451)

1,770,585
(53,524)
970,068
(129,960)

170,230 862,846

171,151 862,976
(921) (130)

840,108

840,108

170,230 862,846

840,108




Five-Yeér Finanéii Summary

I FMBHE

NRET T ZREER S BHIEHE

(In Renminbi (“RMB’) thousands, except per share amounts or

otherwise indicated) k)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER BZE+-—H=+—HIEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_ME “EI=R B S & BT
Consolidated
ki
Basic earnings per share BEAEBREBF
(RMB cents) (AR#SH) 23.6 6.9 145 73.2 71.9
Diluted earnings per share BESRET
(RMB cents) (ANEED) 23.5 6.9 14.5 72.8 71.4
Assets and liabilities BEERBE
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,901,874 3,836,061 3,691,338 3,733,091 3,520,863
Current assets TMEBEE 10,546,054 11,106,689 8,594,138 9,315,017 7,882,131
Total assets BEMAE 14,447,928 14,942,750 12,285,476 13,048,108 11,402,994
Bank borrowings RITE 2,434,371 4,370,999 2,615,977 1,757,670 1,263,232
Other liabilities Htha’ 6,922,191 5,740,000 4,902,094 6,585,209 6,353,936
Total liabilities BEEEE 9,356,562 10,110,999 7,518,071 8,342,879 7,617,168
Net assets BEFE 5,091,366 4,831,751 4,767,405 4,705,229 3,785,826
Total equity Em iR 5,091,366 4,831,751 4,767,405 4,705,229 3,785,826
Key Financial Ratio FEHBILE
Gross profit margin (%) EHZE(%) 6.1 4.1 3.9 9.4 10.2
Net profit margin (%) A2 (%) 1.7 0.7 1.2 4.6 4.8
Gearing ratio (%) (Note 1) BEAREREER%) W) 48.0 90.8 55.4 38.0 34.6
Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio &BEEREREEFE
(%) (Note 2) EER(%) (Ffat2) 1.1 24.8 16.2 1.0 (17.8)
Rate of return on net asset (%)  F & ERIIRE (%) 5.5 1.7 3.6 18.3 22.2
Current ratio (times) (Note 3) TRENELE (%) (523) 1.2 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.1
Quick ratio (times) (Note 4) RENEE (B) #7zt4) 0.9 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.8
Net asset value per share KAB R B AEDL
attributable to equity BRIFEE (NRET)
shareholders of the Company
(RMB) 4.30 4.08 4.03 3.98 3.23
Price per share as at +-BA=+—HEE
31 December (HKD) B (Bi&T) 6.48 4.44 4.21 10.08 13.14
Price earnings ratio (Note 5) MRE (1525) 25.43 58.31 29.85 11.48 15.38
Market capitalization as at +ZB=+—HAmE
31 December (HKD thousand) (BT T) 7,675,806 5,259,349 4,986,905 11,914,416 15,403,378
Dividend per share (RMB cents) &ERKRE (ARED) 9.3 - - - 4.2
Dividend yield (%) REWEE (%) 2.41 = = = 0.5
EBITDA (Note 6) BRI E R a0 )
(Htz26) 1,066,799 683,102 633,856 1,487,283 1,408,093

2024 F ESkRHE (KE) ARA7 7



Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

EEMSHE

Gearing ratio represents the total balance of bank borrowings and
lease liabilities as of the end of the year/period divided by total
equity as of the end of the year/period.

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio represents the total balance of
bank borrowings and lease liabilities less the total balance of cash
and cash equivalents and bank time deposits with original maturity
over three months as of the end of the year/period divided by total
equity as of the end of the year/period.

Current ratio represents total current assets divided by total current
liabilities as of the end of the year/period.

Quick ratio represents total current assets less inventories divided
by total current liabilities as of the end of the year/period.

Price earnings ratio represents the market price of shares divided
by earnings per share as of the end of the year/period.

EBITDA represents earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) +
depreciation cost + amortization cost.
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Shipment of Camera Modules
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Dear Shareholders,

We are very honored to present to the shareholders the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the
eleventh annual results of Q Technology (Group) Company Limited
since its listing on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Looking back on the Year, global social and economic
development remained generally stable. On one hand, unfavorable
factors including ongoing geopolitical conflicts and the continued
rise of international trade protectionism persisted but showed no
significant signs of escalation. On the other hand, inflation eased
significantly, with major developed countries and economies
including the United States and Europe implementing multiple
interest rate cuts. Monetary policies shifted gradually from
tightening to neutral moderation, providing new momentum for
global economic development. The “World Economic Outlook”
report released by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in
October 2024 forecasted a global economic growth rate of 3.2%
for 2024. Meanwhile, the Global Economic Prospects report
released by the World Bank in January 2025 also projected a
global economic growth rate of approximately 3.2% for 2024.
Both forecasts were higher than the predicted growth rate
of approximately 2.9% in the IMF’s World Economic Outlook
report published at the beginning of 2024, indicating that global
economic development is returning to a positive trajectory.
Economic growth data released by several developed countries
and economies were in line with or even exceeded expectations:
according to data published by the U.S. Bureau of Economic
Analysis in January 2025, the United States achieved an estimated
GDP growth rate of approximately 2.9% for 2024, surpassing the
IMF’s earlier forecast of approximately 2.8%; Data from Eurostat
released in January 2025 showed that the European Union’s
GDP growth rate for 2024 was projected at approximately 0.9%,
exceeding the IMF’s previous forecast of approximately 0.4%
for the Eurozone for 2024. According to data from the National
Bureau of Statistics of China published on 17 January 2025,
the GDP growth rate for 2024 was 5.0%, representing a slight
decline of 0.2 percentage point compared to the year ended
31 December 2023 (the "Previous Year"). However, quarterly data
showed year-on-year GDP growth of 5.3% in the first quarter,
4.7% in the second quarter, 4.6% in the third quarter, and 5.4%
in the fourth quarter, indicating strong development potential. The
favorable macroeconomic environment provided a solid foundation
for global sales of intelligent terminal products, including
smartphones, loT, and smart vehicles.

1 0 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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In terms of smartphones: According to publicly available
information, a report released by the independent third-party
research organization International Data Corporation (IDC) in
January 2025 stated that global smartphone shipments in 2024
reached approximately 1.24 billion units, representing an increase
of approximately 6.4% from 2023. Shipments grew for six
consecutive quarters, indicating a strong recovery in the global
smartphone market after two years of decline. Meanwhile, the
Chinese smartphone market saw shipments of approximately
286 million units, a year-on-year increase of 5.6%, showing
sustained demand for replacement of smartphones and positive
development momentum. Another independent third-party
research organization, Counterpoint Research, also highlighted
in its latest report that the global smartphone market rebounded
in 2024, with global smartphone revenue increasing by 5% year-
on-year. The average selling price (ASP) reached a record high
of US$356, reflecting a favorable development momentum of
both volume and price growth in global smartphone sales. The
concurrent increase in the number of smartphones sold and
improvement in product specifications provided favourable
opportunities for growth in the sales volumes and enhancement
of the product specifications of camera modules and fingerprint
recognition modules applied to smartphones.

In terms of IoT intelligent terminals: Improvements in the
macroeconomic environment, combined with advancements in
product technology and enhancements in application content,
significantly boosted sales of 0T intelligent terminals. According
to a report published by the independent third-party research
organization TrendForce in December 2024, global shipments of
virtual reality (VR) and mixed reality (MR) headsets in 2024 were
estimated at 9.60 million units, representing a year-on-year growth
of 8.8%. According to other publicly available information, during
the Year, sales volume of artificial intelligence (Al) glasses (including
AR glasses) increased significantly compared to the Previous
Year. Meanwhile, the sales volumes and sales of drones, action
cameras, and robotic vacuum cleaners also experienced steady
growth compared to the Previous Year. Consequently, the sales
volumes of camera modules applied to the aforementioned loT
intelligent terminals also showed steady growth.
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In terms of smart cars: According to a report released by the China
Association of Automobile Manufacturers (“CAAM”) in January
2025, total automobile sales in China reached approximately
31.436 million units for the Year, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 4.5%. Among these, sales of new energy
vehicles totaled approximately 12.866 million units, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 35.5%, accounting for
approximately 40.9% of total automobile sales. A report released
by the International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers
in early 2025 estimated that total global automobile sales reached
approximately 90 million units during the Year, with sales of new
energy vehicles reaching 18.236 million units, representing a year-
on-year growth of approximately 30%. Meanwhile, data from
independent third-party research organizations including Gasgoo
Research Institute showed that during the Year, the penetration
rate of smart driving solutions and the number of camera modules
installed per vehicle both demonstrated steady growth. The rapid
increase in the sales volume of new energy vehicles, the steady
rise in the penetration rate of smart driving solutions, and the
continuous improvement in the quantity and specifications of
camera modules per vehicle have all laid a solid foundation for the
development of automotive camera modules, LIiDAR sensors, and
other smart driving components.
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During the Year, under a stable macroeconomic environment and
a gradually recovering industry landscape, the management and
all employees of the Group adhered to the unchanging vision
of “to illuminate machines”, continuing to advance large-scale
intelligent manufacturing, research and development (the “R&D”)
of new technologies, and vertical chain integration. The Group
steadfastly pursued its platform strategy, component strategy,
and system integration strategy. Efforts were directed toward
enhancing the comprehensive capabilities in optical design,
structural design, self-developed equipment, and algorithm
integration for camera modules. The Group consistently prioritized
technological leadership, quality excellence, and cost efficiency
as key competitive advantages to provide excellent services to
customers and stand out in an increasingly competitive market. On
one hand, the Group remained committed to a product structure
upgrade strategy of focusing on mid-to-high end camera modules,
and has prioritized the market expansion of the mid-to-high end
camera module products for smartphones with resolutions of 32
megapixels and above. During the Year, the shipment volume
of such products accounted for approximately 50.1% of total
smartphone camera module shipments of the Group, representing
an increase of approximately 9.7 percentage points compared to
approximately 40.4% in the Previous Year; meanwhile, the Group
strengthened its efforts to expand its camera module business
applied to the non-handset fields such as automotive and IoT. By
the end of the Year, the Group had established partnerships with 7
globally leading smart driving solution providers (Tier 1 suppliers),
obtained supplier certifications from 34 globally leading automotive
and/or new energy vehicle brands, and gradually initiated business
collaborations. The Group has also become a core camera module
supplier for the world’s leading consumer drone and action
camera brands. As a result, the sales volume of camera modules
applied to the non-handset fields such as automotive and loT
has increased by approximately 58.8% compared to that of the
Previous Year. This not only provided a second growth driver for
the rapid growth of the Group’s camera module business but also
helped achieve a combined sales volume of camera modules with
resolutions of 32 megapixels and above applied to mobile phones
and camera modules applied to other areas that accounted for
approximately 51.5% of the total sales volume of camera modules
(2023: approximately 41.6%).
business development guidance outlined in the 2023 annual

The Company fully achieved the

results announcement issued in March 2024. This drove a steady
increase in the average sales unit price of the Group’s of camera

Chairman’s Statement
FERS

rEE ERERENLZHRERE -BY
EENTERET  c2EBEEEHEE
EETREGHESHRICHAINERT
B MERABERRERSELCRE
R i oA 8 (THA 3% 0) %Di@éf‘u@%é )

BEHETOBR SR REE
Pl BB %ﬁMﬁh@ﬁﬂumﬁéﬁ
SRR BUIRE - BEAEAF
AN BB RN BED

mENEBANRAEAATRIRBESR
R F Nz MEBIINGREE S
RIEAME - — HEBRBRFUPSIRIE
@ﬁé@%%@%%%é%%ﬁﬂ%
R O BEMHEE-"T-_AEEREERU
TEBREEFHEN TS HRIERER
HEMRNTBIRE RAFEEZSER
HEEELAEEEEFHRBERER
HAHEHENLEHNA50.1% B EF
ERH40.4%RFAHN.7EE DB ; &
LERE R REBE MR ER AR B
loOTEFFFHRBENBERBERAEED
R RAFER BRKETREIKEL
MEEERSZER (TerlBE) BX &
EREfR IR T 34K 2 IRSB AR E
R,/ FMERAERENHERE
MRBBUZTRHEEFESE BRKA
PIRRELHNEERE AR LENE
HREARBGEEANZOHEERS
SEERREHRMoTEIEFH BTN
BABEERAHEHERLFEERY
58.8%  NMEAAREBEBERBEMAE
HRERERIB®ETEZHH H 1SR
EE=T-_B88G=ZKRULERRF
BMNEGBEAMERNRAEMSETDN
BEEEANGTHEHRENIERSA
B E B ERNGELERA51.5% (=
T = .UM6%%%EEET$@
AR ZENE=ZRAEMN_ZT ==
Eﬁiiﬁéﬂitkﬁmﬁ%ﬁF
e S AEBBEGRBEEMAN TS
HEBBRHLLFENOAREKI0.957T
BTEAZENARRKI4 120 HA T
ZTNF EHFFOBAREIZ2.597T 0

—=

“E_HETHFFOAR/ARBESS.72

20245 55 B (RE) ARAT 13



FERS

modules from approximately RMB30.95 in the Previous Year to
approximately RMB34.12, with approximately RMB32.59 in the
first half of 2024 and approximately RMB35.72 in the second half
of 2024, showing a sustained and stable growth. On the other
hand, the Group actively strengthened overseas market expansion,
with the customer revenue from markets outside Chinese mainland
increasing approximately 12.3% compared to that of the Previous
Year. Currently, the Group has established diverse product
partnerships with multiple leading global overseas smartphone
brands and loT intelligent terminal brands, laying a solid foundation
for continued development of our international presence.

While actively promoting the camera module business, the Group
also remained committed to the development of its fingerprint
recognition module business. During the Year, the Group focused
on increasing the market share of its fingerprint recognition module
business and optimizing the product structure for fingerprint
recognition modules. The combined sales volume of optical under-
glass fingerprint recognition modules and ultrasonic fingerprint
recognition modules, which have a higher average sales unit
price, reached approximately 106.47 million units, representing an
increase of approximately 46.7% compared to that of the Previous
Year. Especially noteworthy was the rapid growth in ultrasonic
fingerprint recognition modules, with sales volumes increasing
from approximately 390,000 units in the first half of the Year to
approximately 8.10 million units in the second half of the Year,
establishing the Group as a leading module manufacturer in the
ultrasonic fingerprint recognition module segment.
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Through the collective efforts of management and staff, the
Group’s sales volume of camera modules and fingerprint
recognition modules reached approximately 434.29 million units
and approximately 160.99 million units, respectively, during the
Year, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
16.2% and 46.0%, respectively. This resulted in revenue for the
Year amounting to approximately RMB16,151,336,000 (2023:
approximately RMB12,530,799,000), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 28.9%. Meanwhile, the Group’s gross
profit for the Year was approximately RMB984,904,000 (2023:
approximately RMB508,856,000), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 93.6%. The gross profit margin was
approximately 6.1% (2023: approximately 4.1%), representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 2.0 percentage points.
The year-on-year increase in gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to: (i) improved global smartphone sales during the
Year, with the Group increasing its cooperation share with major
global smartphone brands. Meanwhile, the Group made significant
progress in its camera module business for the automotive and loT
fields, resulting in a year-on-year increase of approximately 16.2%
in the Group’s camera module sales volume and a significant
improvement in capacity utilisation rate as compared to that of the
Previous Year, which benefited the allocation of various fixed costs
including depreciation and labor; and (i) the Group’s commitment
to the business strategy of focusing on mid-to-high end camera
modules while accelerating the development of camera module
business in other segments for the Year. The combined sales
volume of camera modules with resolutions of 32 megapixels and
above applied to mobile phones and camera modules applied to
other areas accounted for approximately 51.5% of the total sales
volume of camera modules, and the increase in the proportion
of high-end products helped to improve the added value of the
Group’s products and further facilitate the improvement of gross
profit margin. On the other hand, the RMB remained weak against
the USD during the Year, with the central parity rate adjusting
from 7.0827 at the end of 2023 to 7.1884 at the end of 2024,
representing a depreciation of approximately 1.5%. The average
central parity rate for the whole year was approximately 7.1217,
representing a depreciation of approximately 1.1% compared
to approximately 7.0467 of the Previous Year. This continued to
drive up the costs of USD-denominated imported materials and
equipment, adversely impacting the gross profit margin.
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During the Year, the Group’s profit was approximately
RMB279,068,000, representing an increase of approximately
234.1% compared to that of the Previous Year. The increase
in profit was mainly attributable to the following: (i) an increase
in revenue of approximately 28.9% compared to the Previous
Year; (i) an increase in gross profit margin of approximately 2.0
percentage points compared to that of the Previous Year; and (iii)
despite the unsatisfactory operation of and losses incurred during
the Year by Newmax Technology Co., Ltd. (“Newmax Technology”),
an associate in which the Group invested, the loss decreased
year-on-year, resulting in a decrease of approximately 26.4% in
the share of loss of an associate attributable to the Company as
compared to that of the Previous Year.

The Group had published the Strategic Planning for the Five-Year
(2021-2025) Operation and Development of Q Technology (Group)
Company Limited (E#i##% (@) BRABESF (2021-2025
F) (K RBRRIRE])) (the “Five-year Strategic Planning”) for
the first time in the 2021 interim results announcement of the
Company, setting out a development blueprint for the next five
years. Entering the fourth year, despite the challenging external
environment, all employees of the Group remained true to its
original aspirations and followed this strategic plan to forge ahead
with determination, proactively seeking change, progressing
through change, and strengthening through change. During
the Year, the management team led all employees to focus on
key initiatives including strengthening management capabilities,
technological transformation and intelligent manufacturing
capabilities, and mid-to-high end product technical capabilities.
Through these efforts to improve product structure and enhance
revenue quality, the Group achieved positive business development
across all product lines, including camera modules for
smartphones, camera modules for automotive and loT intelligent
terminals, and various fingerprint recognition modules. Based
on this solid foundation, the Group will steadfastly accomplish
its strategic objectives, face challenges head-on and mobilize all
resources to fulfill the objectives outlined in its Five-year Strategic
Planning.
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PROSPECTS

In 2025, the global macro-political and economic landscape
remains complex and uncertain. Amid such macro-level
unpredictability, the Group firmly believes in the certainty of
applications and upgrades for intelligent vision system products.
On one hand, conflicts in the Middle East and Eastern Europe
persist, posing numerous challenges and uncertainties throughout
2025. Regional conflicts and power struggles among major nations
continue to affect the security and stability of these two regions,
further influencing global geopolitical and economic relations
as well as the security situation. Meanwhile, international trade
protectionism, characterized by rising tariffs and sanctions, is
intensifying, which not only risks reversing economic globalization
but could also drive inflation higher in developed countries and
economies including the United States and Europe, potentially
hindering interest rate cuts and negatively impacting global
economic growth. On the other hand, the global economy is
likely to maintain its resilience. According to the “World Economic
Outlook” report released by the IMF on 17 January 2025, the
global economic growth rate for 2025 is projected at 3.3%,
representing a 0.1 percentage point increase from the forecast
published in October 2024. The IMF continues to express
optimism about the growth momentum in China and the United
States, forecasting U.S. economic growth at 2.7% for 2025, up
0.5 percentage points from the forecast in October 2024, and
predicting Chinese economic growth at 4.6%, up 0.1 percentage
point from the forecast in October 2024. Other official institutions,
including the World Bank and the United Nations, have released
data for similar trends. Meanwhile, data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China on 17 January 2025 indicates that
China’s economic growth target for 2025 is approximately 5%,
reflecting the Chinese government’s stable expectations and
confidence in economic growth. This resilience in economic growth
is expected to boost investment confidence across industries
and consumer confidence globally, thereby driving demand for
consumer products such as smartphones, smart vehicles, and
loT terminals. In turn, this will further increase the demand for
intelligent vision system products and fingerprint recognition
module products, creating favorable development opportunities for
leading enterprises of niche products in these industries.
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In terms of smartphones, a report released by the third-party
research institute IDC in January 2025 indicates that the steady
growth trend in global smartphone shipments observed in 2024 is
expected to continue. Global smartphone shipments are projected
to increase by approximately 3% year-on-year in 2025. Another
third-party research institute, Canalys, also forecasts a year-on-
year growth in global smartphone shipments for 2025. Meanwhile,
the market for high-end smartphones with a per unit price of
over US$600 is expected to maintain robust demand, with Al
functionalities becoming a key driver of growth in the high-end
smartphone market.

In terms of 0T intelligent terminals, a report released by IDC in
December 2024 indicates that, after two quarters of decline, global
head-mounted display shipments have resumed an upward trend,
with shipments in the third quarter of 2024 increasing by 12.8%
year-on-year. Additionally, the report forecasts that head-mounted
display shipments, particularly MR headsets, are expected to
continue growing in 2025, while China’s AR devices (including Al
glasses) are anticipated to experience robust growth. Furthermore,
according to other publicly available information, [oT intelligent
terminals such as consumer-grade drones, action cameras, robotic
vacuum cleaners, and outdoor robotic lawnmowers are also
expected to continue growing in 2025. Perception and recognition
intelligence are critical parts of information interaction in loT
intelligent terminals, with machine vision being the most important
aspect of perception and recognition intelligence. Camera
modules, as the most significant and mature implementation
method of machine vision, are likely to see significant growth
prospects as Al technology continues to integrate into social and
economic life. The increasing variety of loT intelligent terminals
is expected to bring more advanced demands for camera
modules in terms of quantity, functionality, performance, and size.
This will contribute to the growth in the scale, enhancement of
specifications, and increase in added value of camera modules.

1 8 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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In terms of passenger vehicles, according to a report released
by the China Passenger Car Association (“CPCA”) in February
2025, global sales of new energy vehicles are expected to
continue growing at double-digit rates in 2025, with China poised
to maintain its leading position in the new energy vehicle sector
globally. At the same time, reports from multiple independent
third-party research institutions indicate optimism about the
increasing penetration of autonomous driving technologies. It is
estimated that in 2025, the penetration rate of Level L2 and above
autonomous driving technologies in new passenger car sales will
exceed 50% globally, with China’s penetration rate approaching
65%. The steady growth in new energy vehicle sales volume
and the rapid rise in autonomous driving penetration provide
significant opportunities for the development of automotive camera
modules, LIDAR sensors, and other intelligent driving components.
Information released by various Tier 1 suppliers and automotive
brands indicates that the quantity and specifications of automotive
camera modules and LIDAR sensors they plan to adopt continue
to grow and improve. This will not only drive the volume growth
of automotive camera modules but also promote upgrades in
product specifications. The Group’s technological expertise and
production capacity in chip on board (COB) packaging processes
are well-positioned to meet the higher functional and performance
requirements for automotive camera module specifications. The
Group has already established cooperative relationships with
numerous Tier 1 suppliers and automotive brands in the field
of automotive camera modules and has gradually expanded its
collaborations with these partners in areas such as LiDAR sensors
and domain controllers. These developments are expected to
create more market opportunities for the Group in this rapidly
growing business sector.
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At the same time, with the rapid development of foldable
smartphones, screens are evolving towards higher resolutions
and lower power consumption. Meanwhile, smartphone brands
are eager to equip their mobile phones with additional functions,
such as health monitoring. Given these trends, the advantages
of ultrasonic technology in terms of physical properties and
functional expansion have become increasingly evident. As a
result, ultrasonic technology is being widely adopted as a new
product category. According to data from independent third-party
research institutions such as Global Market Monitor, the ultrasonic
fingerprint recognition module market is expected to maintain
rapid growth in 2025, with global and Chinese sales growth rates
projected at 30% and 35%, respectively. The Group’s extensive
channel network and excellent service capabilities in the ultrasonic
fingerprint recognition module business position it well to capture
more opportunities in this fast-growing market.

In summary, the directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”)
believe that the intelligent vision industry will face both
opportunities and challenges in the future. In the long term,
the steady growth of smartphones, the rapid growth of smart
driving, the flourishing diversity of IoT intelligent terminals, and
the accelerating adoption of Al glasses by consumers will impose
increasingly higher demands on intelligent vision products. The
development potential of intelligent vision products is vast.
Meanwhile, the optical design, structural design, and integration
of key components and algorithms in camera modules will
become more critical and complex. Intelligent vision product
manufacturers capable of providing comprehensive solutions
that are both technologically advanced and cost-competitive
are more likely to meet the evolving demands of the era and
stand out in the intense competition. To this end, the Group will
focus on building leading technological capabilities, superior
quality, and cost leadership. It will continue to advance large-
scale intelligent manufacturing, R&D of new technologies, and
vertical chain integration and remain committed to its platform
strategy, device strategy, and system integration strategy,
adhering to a customer-centric service approach, so as to
provide high-quality, premium products and responsive services
to its customers. The Group will continue to focus on the
expansion of its business in camera module for mobile phones
with resolutions of 32 megapixels and above, as well as camera
modules applied to smart vehicles, IoT intelligent terminals

20 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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and other areas. Additionally, the Group will accelerate the
development of intelligent vision product solutions for innovative
fields such as Al glasses and embodied robots. The Group will
also expedite vertical supply chain integration efforts and strive
to achieve the following goals in 2025: (i) improvement in the
product mix of camera modules for mobile phones, with the sales
volume of camera modules for mobile phones with resolutions of
32 megapixels and above accounting for no less than 55% of the
sales volume of camera modules for mobile phones (approximately
50.1% during the Year), among which the sales volume of
periscope camera modules increased by more than 100% year-on-
year; (i) a year-on-year increase of not less than 40% in the sales
volume of camera modules applied to the non-handset fields such
as automotive and loT; and (iii) a year-on-year increase of not less
than 20% in the sales volume of fingerprint recognition modules.
Taking into account the market conditions and the Group’s actual
development and comprehensive capabilities, the Directors are
confident in leading the Group to embrace the challenges in the
year ahead, make further efforts to achieve good development,
endeavor to advance the Five-Year Strategic Planning, uphold
the vision of the Group “to illuminate machines” and strive to
create greater value for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

AWARDS AND HONOURS

During the Year, the Group continued to adhere to our customer-
oriented service strategies, constantly considered the provision
of good experience for customers as our operation direction and
devoted our best efforts to satisfy customers’ needs in product
R&D, sales delivery, after-sales service, product quality and
technology innovation, and gained high recognition of the Group’s
comprehensive ability, products and services from the local
governments, industry and our customers. The major honors the
Group has recently received are as follows:
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Chairman’s Stateme
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In May 2024, Kunshan QTech Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (L E gk
MBFRERMAERAT) (“Kunshan QT China”), a subsidiary of
the Company, was awarded the “Outstanding Quality Supplier of
the Year 2023” by DJI, a globally leading drone brand.

In May 2024, the Company received the “Perfect Quality” award at
the 2024 Lenovo Group Global Supplier Conference.

In July 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the “Excellent
Quality Award” by OPPO, a globally leading smartphone brand.

In November 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the “Terminal
BG Supply Assurance Award” by Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., a
globally leading smartphone brand.

In December 2024, the Company was honored with the “New
Quality Productivity Forces Award” jointly presented by the Hong
Kong International Blockchain & Finance Association and several
other co-organizing institutions.

In December 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the “Most
Innovative Award” by OPPQO, a globally leading smartphone brand.

In December 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the “Best
Delivery Award 2024” and the “Quality Progress Award 2024” by
vivo Mobile Communication Co., Ltd. (#EXBEEEERAT),
a globally leading smartphone brand; meanwhile, Kunshan QTech
Biological Recognition Technology Limited (E LI & $x4E 4738 B R
AR AR) (“QT Biological Recognition”), another subsidiary of
the Company, was also recognized by the brand with the “Best
Delivery Award 2024”.

In December 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the “Best
Supply Support Award” by Huawei, one of the world’s leading
smart automotive brands.

In December 2024, Kunshan QT China was awarded the title
of “National Green Factory” by the Ministry of Industry and

Information Technology.
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In January 2025, QT Biological Recognition was awarded the
“Best Strategic Partner for Modules 2024” by Goodix Technology,
a renowned chip solution provider.

In January 2025, Kunshan QT China was awarded the title of
“Top 10 R&D Enterprises” by the Kunshan Municipal People’s
Government.

He Ningning
Chairman

Hong Kong
14 April 2025
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB16,151,336,000, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 28.9% as compared with approximately
RMB12,530,799,000 in 2023. The year-on-year increase in
revenue was primarily attributable to the following: () during the
Year, industries that extensively use camera modules, including
smartphones, smart vehicles, smart home devices, and low-
altitude aircraft, experienced strong development, which led to an
increase in demand for camera modules and higher specification
requirements, resulting in a year-on-year increase in the sales
volume of the Group’s camera modules by approximately 16.2%
for the Year; (i) during the Year, the Group’s product strategy of
“optimizing product structure and emphasizing revenue quality”
proved effective, with the combined sales volume of camera
modules with resolutions of 32 megapixels and above applied
to mobile phones and camera modules applied to other areas
showing a significant increase in proportion of total camera module
sales, leading to an increase in the overall average sales unit price
of camera module products compared to that of the Previous
Year; and (i) the sales volume of fingerprint recognition modules
increased year-on-year by approximately 46.0%.

Cost of sales

During the Year, the cost of sales of the Group was approximately
RMB15,166,432,000, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 26.2% as compared with approximately
RMB12,021,943,000 in 2023. The year-on-year increase in cost
of sales was mainly due to the growth in the sales volume and
revenue of camera modules and fingerprint recognition modules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, gross profit of the Group was approximately
RMB984,904,000 (2023: approximately RMB508,856,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 93.6%;
while the gross profit margin was approximately 6.1% (2023:
approximately 4.1%), representing an increase of approximately
2.0 percentage points year-on-year. The increase in gross profit
margin was mainly attributable to the following: (i) improved global
smartphone sales during the Year, with the Group increasing
its cooperation share with major global smartphone brands.
Meanwhile, the Group made significant progress in its camera
module business applied to automotive and loT fields, resulting
in a year-on-year increase of approximately 16.2% in the Group’s
camera module sales volume and a significant improvement in
capacity utilisation rate as compared to that of the Previous Year,
which benefited the allocation of various fixed costs including
depreciation and labor; and (i) the Group’s commitment to
the operation strategy of focusing on mid-to-high end camera
modules for mobile phone while accelerating the development
of camera module business in other segments for the Year. The
combined sales volume of camera modules with resolutions of
32 megapixels and above applied to mobile phones and camera
modules applied to other areas accounted for approximately
51.5% of the total sales volume of camera modules, and the
increase in the proportion of high-end products helped to improve
the added value of the Group’s products and further facilitate
the improvement of gross profit margin. However, the continued
weakness of the RMB against the USD during the Year increased
the costs of USD-denominated imported materials and equipment,
adversely impacting the gross profit margin.
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Other income

During the Year, other income of the Group was approximately
RMB373,188,000, representing a decrease of approximately 2.8%
as compared with approximately RMB384,067,000 in 2023. The
decrease in other income was mainly attributable to the following:
notwithstanding the increase in consolidated revenue relating to
foreign exchange management (including foreign exchange gains
or losses and net changes in fair value of foreign exchange option
contracts and forward foreign exchange contracts at fair value
through profit or loss) of approximately RMB86,731,000 (2023:
approximately RMB9,856,000) as compared with that of the
Previous Year, however, (i) the government grants received by the
Group decreased by approximately RMB67,673,000 during the
Year (2023: approximately RMB129,996,000) as compared with
that of the Previous Year; and (ii) the net change in fair value of
wealth management products and structured deposits at fair value
through profit or loss decreased by approximately RMB30,068,000
(2023: approximately RMB42,853,000) as compared with that of
the Previous Year.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, selling and distribution expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB20,133,000,
increase of approximately 1.8% as compared with approximately
RMB19,783,000 in 2023. The ratio of selling and distribution
expenses to revenue was approximately 0.1% (2023: 0.2%). The
selling and distribution expenses remained stable.

representing an
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative and other operating expenses

During the Year, the total administrative and other operating
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB183,714,000, representing an increase of approximately
23.1% as compared with approximately RMB149,254,000 in
2023. The increase in administrative and other operating expenses
(i) Kunshan QT China,
a subsidiary of the Company, withdrew its application for the

was mainly attributable to the following:

initial public offering of A Shares on the ChiNext Market of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 18 October 2024, and recognised
an audit fee of approximately RMB13,573,000 for the initial public
offering of A shares in the Year, which included the capitalized
audit fee for the initial public offering of A shares in prior years,
resulting in an increase in third-party service fees by approximately
RMB18,891,000 (2023: approximately RMB22,184,000) as
compared with that of the Previous Year; and (i) an increase
in staff remuneration by approximately RMB15,517,000 (2023:
approximately RMB57,081,000) as compared with that of the
Previous Year.

R&D expenses

During the Year, the total R&D expenses of the Group were
approximately RMB504,807,000,
of approximately 15.9% as compared with approximately
RMB435,550,000 in 2023. The increase in R&D expenses was
mainly attributable to the following: during the Year, in order to
promote the R&D of more high-end products as a result of the
expansion of business scale of the Group, the Group’s expenditure

representing an increase

on staff remuneration and experimental activities related to R&D
has increased.
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Finance costs

During the Year, the finance costs of the Group were approximately
RMB152,122,000, representing a decrease of approximately
11.2% as compared with approximately RMB171,327,000 in
2023. The year-on-year decrease in finance costs was mainly
attributable to the following: (i) a decrease in benchmark interest
rates for both USD and RMB during the Year, which reduced the
interest expenses on the Group’s RMB and USD borrowings; and
(i) in order to reduce the financing costs, the Group reduced the
drawdown of bank borrowings in conjunction with the operation
and management situation and the funding situation. As at 31
December 2024, the balance of bank borrowings of the Group
decreased by approximately 44.3% as compared with that of
approximately RMB4,370,999,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Share of loss of an associate

During the Year, Newmax Technology, an associate of the
Company, recorded a loss. The share of loss of an associate
attributable to the Company was approximately RMB36,500,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 26.4% as compared with
the share of loss of approximately RMB49,578,000 in 2023.

Income tax expenses

During the Year, the income tax expenses of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB181,164,000, while an income tax revenue
of approximately RMB15,398,000 was recorded in 2023. This
was mainly attributable to the following: (i) there was a significant
increase of approximately 234.1% in the Group’s profit for the
Year as compared to that of the Previous Year, and (ii) taking into
account the current progress and the advice from the Indian legal
counsel and tax advisers with respect to the tax dispute of an
Indian subsidiary, the Company made a provision for the relevant
tax amount and an adjustment of the deferred income tax assets
of the Indian subsidiary in connection with the relevant events (the
“Provision and Deferred Tax Asset Adjustment”), with an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB153,630,000 (please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 22 November 2024 and 14
January 2025 for details), and there was no such provision and
adjustment of deferred income tax assets in the Previous Year.
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Kunshan Q Tech Microelectronics (India) Private Limited (“India
Q Tech”), a subsidiary of the Company, has been involved in
inspections initiated by relevant Indian authorities including
the Income Tax Department and the Directorate of Revenue
Intelligence in relation to compliance with relevant income tax
regulations and custom duties regulations.

In connection with one of the inspections mentioned above, on
30 December 2023, India Q Tech received a draft assessment
order (“2023 DAQ”) from the Office of the Assistant Commissioner
of Income Tax of the Ministry of Finance of the Government of
India (“the relevant Indian authorities”). The 2023 DAO concerned
the computation of taxable income for the tax year ended 31
March 2021, and raised issues mainly around the transfer pricing
arrangements between India Q Tech and certain other Group
companies for purchases and loans. In response to the 2023 DAO,
India Q Tech filed its written objections to the Dispute Resolution
Panel of Income Tax Department in India (“DRP”), and the dispute
resolution proceedings with the DRP were still in progress as of
31 December 2023. When preparing the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group concluded at the time that it was probable that India Q Tech
would successfully defend its tax treatment with higher appellate
authorities, taking into consideration of all relevant facts and
circumstances as of 31 December 2023 including the opinions
from tax advisors. Accordingly, the Group did not recognise any
provision and disclosed as contingencies as of 31 December 2023
pertaining to the matter.
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On 5 November 2024, India Q Tech was notified by the relevant
Indian tax department by way of its uploading the final assessment
order dated 29 October 2024 (the “FAO”) to the digital portal of the
relevant Indian tax authorities, in which the DRP had determined
that the aggregate amount of income tax and interest payable by
India Q Tech was approximately INR1,798,342,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB151,061,000 at the rate of RMB against
INR as of 31 December 2024) (the “Taxes”). After considering
the advice from its Indian legal counsel and tax advisers, India
Q Tech believed that the tax assessment logic and applicable
data used in the FAO were objectionable, and it would continue
to vigorously defend its position. On 22 November 2024, India Q
Tech filed the grounds of appeal against the FAO to the Income-
tax Appellate Tribunal, Delhi (the “ITAT”), and filed an application
for a stay of demand with respect to the payment of the Taxes
pursuant to the FAO. On 29 November 2024, during the hearing
of the application for a stay of demand, ITAT found that there were
possible apparent factual errors with respect to the FAQ, including
erroneous application of legal provisions or miscalculation of tax
demand in the FAO, and directed the relevant Indian authorities to
rectify accordingly. India Q Tech received a rectification order on 9
January 2025 and 15 January 2025 issued by the relevant Indian
authorities with respect to the FAO, pursuant to which the relevant
Indian authorities made certain rectifications on the FAO, including
two times reduction in the aggregate amount of income tax and
interest payable, ultimately to approximately INR1,218,744,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB102,374,000 at the rate of RMB
against INR as of 31 December 2024) (the “Updated Taxes”). As at
the date of this report, the rectification procedure of the FAO is still
in process, and the amount of the Updated Taxes may be subject
to further adjustments.

After seeking advice from its Indian legal counsel and tax advisors,
India Q Tech still has objections to the tax assessment logic and
applicable data used to calculate the Updated Taxes, and will
continue to vigorously defend its position. As at the date of this
report, the appeal proceedings in relation to the tax dispute are still
ongoing.
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On 27 January 2025, India Q Tech received a transfer pricing order
(“TPQ”) concerning the computation of taxable income for the tax
year ended 31 March 2022 from transfer pricing officer of Income
Tax of the Ministry of Finance of the Government of India. The
TPO also raised issues around the transfer pricing arrangements
between India Q Tech and certain other Group companies for
purchases and loans.

In view of the above developments, the Group has reassessed
the probability and the extent to which that its past tax treatments
in all the relevant years would ultimately be accepted by the
relevant Indian authorities. The Group made the Provision and
Deferred Tax Asset Adjustment related to the relevant events.
As of 31 December 2024, the Provision and Deferred Tax Asset
Adjustment related to the relevant events made by the Group
amounted to approximately RMB153,630,000. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 22 November 2024
and 14 January 2025. Tax disputes of this nature is expected to
take a long period of time to resolve and involve various levels of
government and court authorities before a judgment or settlement
can be reached. If the final judgment or settlement received by the
Group differs from the amounts provided for in the Provision and
Deferred Income Tax Asset Adjustment, it may have an impact on
the Group’s operating results or cash flows.

Profit for the Year

Based on the foregoing, the profit of the Group for the
Year amounted to approximately RMB279,068,000 (2023:
approximately RMB83,531,000),
approximately 234.1% as compared with that of 2023. The year-

representing an increase of

on-year increase in profit was mainly attributable to the following:
(i) an increase in revenue of approximately 28.9% as compared
with that of the Previous Year; (i) an increase in gross profit margin
by approximately 2.0 percentage points as compared with that
of the Previous Year; and (i) despite the unsatisfactory operation
of and losses incurred during the Year by Newmax Technology
of an associate in which the Group invested, the loss incurred
by Newmax Technology decreased year-on-year, resulting in
a decrease of approximately 26.4% in the share of loss of an
associate attributable to the Company as compared to that of the
Previous Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Bank Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB2,434,371,000, a decrease of
approximately 44.3% from approximately RMB4,370,999,000
as at 31 December 2023. Among the bank borrowings, short-
term borrowings repayable within one year or on demand were
approximately RMB2,352,495,000 whereas long-term borrowings
were approximately RMB81,876,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings were
mainly denominated in RMB and/or USD. The cash flow overview
of the Group for the Year and 2023 was set out as follows:

MEBEERMBER
SRITER

RZE_NEFE+"B=+—H Xx&E
HNETERABHNAREK2,434,371,000
TTRIEI=ZF+ZA=1+—H®WH
ANE#4,370,999,0007T 8 L £944.3% ©
HAR—FAXNZREREENTHRE
ME A NRE12,352,495,00070 ° = HA
ERE A N R #81,876,0007T °

B NFE+ZA=+—H F&&H
ZIRTEREEUARER HET
SHE-AEEREAEFER T _=FK
WERB RO

For the year ended
31 December

BE+_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MWEF —E"=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Net cash generated from/(used in) KESEEESL  (FrA) A
operating activities IR F 58 965,443 (378,783)
Net cash (used in)/generated from WEEE FTA) EEN
investing activities RE /358 (1,040,380) 366,724
Net cash (used in)/generated from BRESEE) (FRA) EEMN
financing activities & FEE (1,372,483) 1,550,685

32 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024




e gl

Management Discussion and Analysis

As of 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB1,447,471,000,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB1,445,613,000
from approximately RMB2,893,084,000 as at 31 December
2023. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was mainly
attributable to the following: in order to reduce the financing
costs, the Group repaid a substantial amount of bank borrowings
with cash and cash equivalents in conjunction with its operation
and management situation and funding position. As a result, the
balance of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2024 decreased by approximately 44.3% as compared with that of
approximately RMB4,370,999,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Operating activities

During the Year, the Group’s net cash generated from operating
activities was approximately RMB965,443,000 (2023: net cash
used in operating activities was approximately RMB378,783,000),
which was mainly attributable to the following: the Group’s
revenue and gross profit margin increased during the Year, while
inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables were well managed and did not add significant capital
tie-ups.

Investing activities

During the Year, the Group’s net cash used in investing activities
was approximately RMB1,040,380,000 (2023: net cash generated
from investing activities was approximately RMB366,724,000).
Such cash was mainly used for the following purposes: (i) a net
cash amount of approximately RMB232,762,000 was used for
the purchase of wealth management products and other financial
assets; (i) a net cash amount of approximately RMB630,111,000
was used for time deposits with a maturity of over three months;
and (i) payment of amounts due for acquisition of fixed assets
such as equipment of approximately RMB237,923,000.

EEETwmE D

rEBRBEE_T_NFEF+__A=+—
BENREMRBETEEMOABARE
1,447,471,0000 RZZEZ=F+Z
B=+—H#& AR ¥2,893,084,0007¢
B E AR H1,445,613,00070 0 IR &
RREEBYHWRLETEZHN | A
REMRERA AEEEGEETER
MEREERT BREAREEEY
BETARERTEIF CELXEER
—E_NE+_RBA=+—BMWIRTHE
MBEER_Z_—_F+"F=+—H
M ANE#4,370,999,0007T /> 7 4
44.3% o
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AEEBEMA-
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FEREH A AR %1,040,380,0007T (=
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Financing activities REEH

The net cash of the Group used in financing activities for the
Year amounted to approximately RMB1,372,483,000 (2023:
net cash generated from financing activities was approximately
RMB1,550,685,000).
(i) the repayment of bank borrowings exceeding the proceeds

This was primarily due to the following:

from bank borrowings, with the amount reaching approximately
RMB1,940,242,000; and (i) cash received from the maturity of
pledged bank deposits exceeding that used to place pledged
bank deposits, with the amount reaching approximately
RMB743,680,000.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as of 31 December 2024, as
defined by the total balance of bank borrowings and lease liabilities
divided by total equity at the end of the Year, was approximately
48.0%, representing a decrease of approximately 42.8 percentage
points as compared to that of approximately 90.8% as of 31
December 2023, which was mainly attributable to a decrease of
approximately 44.3% in the balance of bank borrowings as of the
end of the Year compared to that as of 31 December 2023.

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio

The adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio of the Group as at 31
December 2024, as defined by the total balance of bank
borrowings and lease liabilities less the total balance of cash and
cash equivalents and bank time deposits with original maturity over
three months divided by total equity at the end of the Year, was
approximately 1.1%, representing a decrease of 23.7 percentage
points from approximately 24.8% as at 31 December 2023,
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in the balance
of bank borrowings (including long-term bank borrowings) by
approximately 44.3% from approximately RMB4,370,999,000 as at
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB2,434,371,000 as at 31
December 2024.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group’s treasury policy was disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 20 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”), and was
amended by the risk management committee of the Company (the
“Risk Management Committee”) on 24 March 2016, 6 December
2022 and 12 April 2024, the details of which were disclosed under
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of the 2016 to
2023 annual reports and the 2024 interim report.

The Board, the Risk Management Committee and the staff of
the Company at the relevant positions always remain alert to the
performance and risk assessment of the wealth management
products. At the same time, the Company also pays close
attention to the liquidity and assets and liabilities position of the
Group in order to ensure the sufficiency of its working capital and
maintain the debt to assets ratio at a reasonable level.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 15 December 2020, the Company submitted an application
in relation to a potential spin-off and separate listing of Kunshan
QT China on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange or Shanghai Stock
Exchange in the PRC (the “Proposed Spin-off’) to the Stock
Exchange for approval pursuant to Practice Note 15 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”), and received the approval from the Stock
Exchange on 23 April 2021. On 23 June 2021, Kunshan QT China
submitted an application to the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange for the proposed listing (the “Proposed Listing”), and
has received approval from the listing committee of the ChiNext
Market of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 17 August 2022.
Kunshan QT China has also submitted the registration application
to the China Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”)
for the Proposed Listing, and has received the official notice of
acceptance from the CSRC on 30 December 2022. Subsequently,
in view of the current macroeconomic environment of the capital
market and industry conditions faced by Kunshan QT China, after
thorough communication and careful deliberation with relevant
parties, the Board decided to terminate the Proposed Spin-off
and discontinue the Proposed Listing of Kunshan QT China on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Accordingly, Kunshan QT China
submitted an application to withdraw the Proposed Listing to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 18 October 2024, and received
confirmation from the CSRC on 29 October 2024, agreeing to
terminate the registration of the Proposed Listing. Thus, the
Proposed Spin-off has been terminated. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 15 December 2020, 23
April 2021, 23 June 2021, 30 June 2021, 16 December 2021, 23
February 2022, 27 June 2022, 4 August 2022, 17 August 2022,
29 September 2022, 2 December 2022, 30 December 2022, 11
September 2023 and 18 October 2024.
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On 18 December 2024, the Company entered into a share
subscription agreement with Newmax Technology, an associate of
the Company, to conditionally subscribe for 20,000,000 ordinary
shares proposed to be issued by Newmax Technology (the “Private
Placement”). The Private Placement was completed on 3 March
2025, with a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of Newmax
Technology allotted and issued to the Company at NT$22.16 per
share, representing approximately 9.8% of Newmax Technology’s
enlarged total ordinary shares in issue after the completion of the
Private Placement. After the Private Placement, the Group holds
approximately 41.8% of Newmax Technology’s total ordinary
shares in issue. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 18 December 2024 and 3 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no any plan authorized by the Board for other material
investments or additions of capital assets as at 31 December
2024.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the assets pledged by the Group
included bank deposits, wealth management products and
shares of an associate, which amounted to approximately
RMB800,893,000 in total,
approximately RMB612,543,000 as compared with approximately
RMB1,4183,436,000 as at 31 December 2023 (where pledged
assets were bank deposits and shares of an associate). These

representing a decrease of

pledged assets were used as guarantee for bank borrowings and
bank guarantee letters.

EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2024, the number of staff of the Group was
10,609 (including contractual staff and non-contractual staff
such as staff under internship agreements and labour service
agreements) (as at 31 December 2023: 9,629). The Group is
committed to providing all staff with a fair working environment,
providing newly recruited staff with induction training and job
technical counseling to help them to adapt to job requirements
quickly, providing all staff with clear job responsibilities guidelines
and employees at different positions with on-the-job training
together with other training programmes to help improve
their skills and knowledge, and strived to provide all staff with
competitive remuneration packages, including granting incentive
share options to staff with outstanding performance. During the
Year, the remuneration of the staff (including staff under labour
service agreements and internship agreements) of the Group
was approximately RMB1,026,783,000 (2023: approximately
RMB801,194,000).
includes performance bonus, medical insurance, share options

Apart from basic salary, the package also

and provident fund (staff under labour service agreements and
internship agreements are treated according to the laws and
regulations of the PRC).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily due to certain
receivables, payables, cash balances and loans that are
denominated in foreign currencies other than RMB arising from
the operating activities such as bank borrowings, sale of products
and procurement of raw materials. The Group is also exposed to
currency risk from the exchange or translation of USD and HKD
into RMB and USD into INR. During the Year, the sales income
of the Group was still mainly settled in RMB, but there was a
significant increase in sales income settled in INR. Various raw
materials for production and some equipment for production
were purchased from overseas and settled in USD. Therefore,
any depreciation in the value of RMB and/or INR against the
USD would not be favourable to the Group. During the Year,
despite solid economic growth in China, the central parity rate of
RMB against USD depreciated from 7.0827 at the end of 2023
to 7.1884 at the end of 2024, representing a depreciation of
approximately 1.5%. The average central parity rate for the whole
year was approximately 7.1217, depreciating by approximately
1.1% as compared with approximately 7.0467 in the Previous
Year. The deviation of exchange rate trends from the trajectory
of economic growth has increased the challenges of managing
foreign exchange risks. However, the Group effectively mitigated
part of exchange rate cost of RMB against USD through the use
of foreign exchange option contracts and forward contracts.
During the Year, the Group recorded a net foreign exchange gain
of approximately RMB152,407,000 (2023: a net foreign exchange
gain of approximately RMB1,868,000 in aggregate was recorded)
from the combined effects of the net fair value changes in foreign
exchange option contracts and forward contracts. As affected
by multiple factors such as politics, economic, and supply and
demand, the trend of RMB against USD and INR against USD in
the future is subject to great uncertainties. It is difficult to adjust
the business model of the Group in the short run. Therefore,
the profit or loss of the Group may still be affected by exchange
rate fluctuation in the future. The Group will, on the one hand,
continuously strive to strengthen the expansion of overseas
business in an effort to increase the revenue in USD; on the
other hand, the Group will continuously enhance daily monitoring
of the exchange rate, and fix the future foreign exchange costs
by properly using financial instruments, so as to strengthen the
management of foreign exchange risks and strive to reduce foreign
exchange loss. However, the Group is also clearly aware that there
are many factors affecting exchange rates, and the mechanism
to determine exchange rate is complicated and fickle, making it
difficult to estimate its trend. Therefore, the profit or loss of the
Group may still be affected by exchange rate fluctuations.
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DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$10.0 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB9.3 cents) per
share for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Thursday, 5 June 2025 (final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023: nil). The proposed final dividend is expected
to be paid on or around Friday, 20 June 2025, subject to the
approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on 23 May 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the eligibility to attend the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
20 May 2025 to 23 May 2025 (both days inclusive). In order
to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM as a registered
shareholder of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2025.

For the purpose of determining Shareholders' entitlement to
receive the proposed final dividend (subject to Shareholders'
approval at the AGM), the register of members of the Company will
be closed from 3 June 2025 to 5 June 2025 (both days inclusive).
In order to be qualified to receive the proposed final dividend
(subject to Shareholders' approval at the AGM), all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 2
June 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of any treasury shares). The Company did

not hold any treasury shares as of 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
MANAGEMENT

The Group has strictly complied with the applicable environmental
protection laws and policies in the jurisdictions where the
respective members of the Group operate. During the Year, the
Group had continued to revise, improve and implement a number
of internal rules and regulations in relation to environmental
protection management such as the implementation of Wastewater
Management Regulations, Waste Gas Management Regulations
and Greenhouse Gas Management Measures, and to refine the
wastewater, waste gas and greenhouse gas treatment system
in order to strengthen its management and control of sewage
generated from production and daily activities so as to ensure
that the wastewater discharge is in compliance with statutory
requirements, and clarified the ranges, procedure and instrument
of collecting the data of greenhouse gas for the effective
management of greenhouse gas of the Group in the long run
and in preparation for reducing carbon emissions. At the same
time, the Group had also amended and implemented certain
regulations and measures including the Fire Safety Management
Regulations and Emergency Plan, held fire drills with particular
focus on strengthening of self-inspection of the fire protection
facilities and improving the fire prevention and control capability.
Subsidiaries such as Kunshan QT China and QT Biological
Recognition successfully obtained certificates from the relevant
government departments in Kunshan, confirming no violations in
production safety and ecological environmental protection. During
the Year, Kunshan QT China was honored with the title of “National
Green Factory” by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of China to recognise Kunshan QT China’s progress
and contributions in areas such as energy conservation and the
application of new energy sources.

Particulars of the environmental protection management of the
Company will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out in this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company currently
consists of six Directors, comprising three executive Directors,
namely Mr. He Ningning, Mr. Hu Sanmu and Mr. Fan Fugiang, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Chia-
Hsiang, Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Ms. Hui Hiu Ching.

Executive Directors

Mr. He Ningning (f1Z2) (“Mr. He"), aged 54, was appointed as
a Director on 5 May 2014 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 13 November 2014. Mr. He has been the chairman
of the Board and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Board of the Company since 13 November
2014. He is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning
and formulation of investment strategies of our Group. Mr. He
founded Kunshan QT China in October 2007 and has more than
30 years of experience in the electrical and electronics industries.
Prior to founding the Group, Mr. He served as a sales officer of
Samsung Electro-Mechanics Dongguan Co., Ltd. (FRE=2%
HAEBR/AT), a manufacturer of electronic components, from
July 1992 to April 1997 where he was primarily responsible for
sales and delivery management. In November 2000 and June
2004, Mr. He founded Surewheel Asia Pacific Limited (& H
D KARAT) (“Surewheel”), a company principally engaged in
agency sales of printheads, and Shenzhen Xike Dexin Telecom
Equipment Co., Ltd. (RIITTAEAIEEBEEXMRERRLE)
(“Shenzhen CK”), a company principally engaged in the research,
development and sales of complete handsets components, and
was the chairman of Surewheel and Shenzhen CK where he was
primarily responsible for their strategic planning. In December
2004, Mr. He founded CK Telecom Limited (78 0] @15 1ii58 45 (o)
JB) BRAE) (“Heyuan CK”), a company principally engaged in
the sales and manufacturing of complete handsets and handset
components and modules, and has been the chairman of Heyuan
CK where he is primarily responsible for the strategic planning of
Heyuan CK. Mr. He is the sole director and the sole shareholder
of Q Technology Investment Inc. (“QT Investment”), a controlling
shareholder of the Company as at the date of this report. Mr. He
received his bachelor's degree in science, majoring in weather
dynamics, from the Peking University in July 1992 and his master’s
degree of business administration from the University of California
in March 2002.
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Mr. He is also a director of each of Q Technology (Great China)
Inc., Kunshan Q Technology (Hong Kong) Limited (“Kunshan QT
Hong Kong”), Kunshan QTech Ever Capital Limited (B L8522
BREARRAT) (“QTech Ever Capital”), Kunshan QT China, QT
Biological Recognition, Kunshan QTech Optoelectronic Technology
Limited (B E#SHNERIZBRAE) (“Qlech Optoelectronic”),
Kunshan Q Technology International Limited (‘QT International”),
Q Technology (Singapore) Private Limited (“Singapore QT”),
Kunshan Q Tech Microelectronics (India) Private Limited (“India
QT”), Q Technology Micro Actuator System Limited and Kunshan
QTech Smart-Forward Limited (B E#BTEREBRAE) (‘QT
Smart-Forward”), each of which is a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Hu Sanmu (8#=K) (“Mr. Hu”), aged 49, has been an
executive Director of the Company since 8 July 2016, and
has been the chief executive officer of the Company since 15
December 2020. He is primarily responsible for the daily operation
management of the Company, especially in the operation
management of biological recognition module business of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu held various positions
in VTech (Shenzhen) Electronics Limited (852 EEFEm CRII)
BIRAE)), a company principally engaged in manufacturing of
telecommunication products, from July 1998 to November 2002,
where he last served as a mechanical structure engineer and was
primarily responsible for mechanical design. From November 2002
to August 2004, Mr. Hu held various positions in Tianjin Amphenol
Kae Co., Ltd. (REZEHHYRETHRAE), a manufacturer
of connector products, where he last served as a sales engineer
and was primarily responsible for maintaining the relationship with
existing customers and the expansion of sales network. From
July 2005 to November 2009, Mr. Hu held various positions in
Van Telecom Limited (MZ &L HBRAB]), a company principally
engaged in manufacturing and sales of precise connectors, where
he last served as the sales director and was primarily responsible
for sales management and product planning. Mr. Hu received
his bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in mechanical
design and manufacture from the Xi’an University of Science and
Technology (FAZ R AKE), previously known as Xi’an Mining
Institute (75 ZHEESMR) , in July 1998.

AEFETREXRAEMNELRAQ
Technology (Great China) Inc.»
Kunshan Q Technology (Hong Kong)
Limited (TBWE#EFE)) ~BULUERK
BEREARAE (TE#Eiz)) ~BUW
EftEPI ESREHER - B L EiRE

BRRERAR (TEi#E)) BElLE
HBRREEARAS (TEHRERKI) ~Q
Technology (Singapore) Private Limited
(T 03 F#51) ~ Kunshan Q Tech
Microelectronics (India) Private Limited
(TENE & 8K1) » Efﬂﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ[%”}ﬁﬁ
RABKRELULEREITREBRAS
(TE#KE1T71) zgio

BA=AKR&EE (TA%XE)) P49  BZF
—ﬁﬁtﬁJ\ElT%EK@E#M‘T%i’
TE_ZE_EFE+_FT+hHEHEE
ZIK’&T THRZ - HFEGEARARTHN
HREEESEEE LEULSEREYHTY
1% 7 ﬁE’J%i‘Q@_A”@%E EAHDK$$
Rl SAREBER—NANNEFLAE
gg—ﬁ‘f’_ﬁﬁ BEEETFEM (/7t<
N BRRB (—HAFTERSENER
HENRE) BEEZERAU REBEME
MHEEIEM TFZ85HME
oM _EE_F+—AEZEETNF
NB HPHEEBNERREREEBX
RELZEHRYEEFRERABREZE
Wi RREFHEHEIEM TFES
EHBERAR ARG EHEREL-
RIBBRRFLAEZEZNE+—
A HAREBR T ENFTRERIEER
REEBNATIELZRZBERAAE
EZEBL ZBRETHERSE T
EEEHEEERERBRE PALER
—AANFELAERSALREKE (7]
MAZREESR) IERST24 &
MR AT Je BliE o

20245 55 BB (RE) BRAT 43



e -——O__I]

S _1

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFAEREEREZEEFS

Mr. Hu is also a director and the general manager of QTech
Ever Capital and QT Biological Recognition, each of which is a
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Fan Fugiang GEE38) (“Mr. Fan”), aged 47, has been an
executive Director of the Company since 15 December 2020.
Mr. Fan has been a member of the Risk Management Committee
of the Company since 13 November 2014. Mr. Fan is primarily
responsible for financial management, securities affairs and risk
control functions. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fan held various
positions in Heyuan branch of the Bank of China, a state-owned
bank principally engaged in providing a range of corporate
banking, personal banking, investment banking and other services,
from July 1996 to June 2011 and last served as the general
manager of Heyuan High-tech Zone sub-branch of Bank of China
and vice general manager of the corporate department of Heyuan
branch of Bank of China, where he was primarily responsible for
the grant of the credit facilities, risks management and international
settlement. From May 2013 to April 2014 and July 2011 to April
2014, respectively, Mr. Fan served as the assistant to the chief
financial officer of Shenzhen CK and Heyuan CK, and was primarily
responsible for legal compliance matters and risk control. Mr. Fan
received a professional certificate from Guangdong International
Finance College (EHEIRE/ER) located in the PRC, in July
1996, majoring in international finance. He received a university
diploma from the Central Party School of Guangdong Provincial
Committee (FHEBHEBZEZER) located in the PRC, in January
2008, majoring in public administration, and received a graduation
certificate from South China University of Technology GERIET
KZ) in July 2019 with a bachelor's degree in management. Mr.
Fan was one of the joint company secretaries of the Company
before his resignation on 21 November 2017. Mr. Fan was also
the chief financial officer of the Company from 8 July 2016 until his
resignation on 15 December 2020.

Mr. Fan is also a director of QTech Ever Capital and QT
International, the secretary of board and chief financial officer
of Kunshan QT China, and the director and general manager of
Shenzhen Q Technology Limited CFEIIT EHMEBEFRIEARA
7)) and Huizhou DEPAM Precision Automation Co., Ltd (N
EEBZBEEEARAT), each of which is a subsidiary of the
Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ko Ping Keung (F5R3&) (‘Mr. Ko"), aged 74, JP, has been
an independent non-executive Director (the “INED”), a member
of each of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the Board,
the remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of
the Board, the Nomination Committee and the chairman of the
Risk Management Committee of the Company since 31 May
2017. Mr. Ko holds a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from
The University of Hong Kong, and holds a Master of Science
degree and a Doctor of Philosophy degree from the University
of California at Berkeley. He is an Adjunct Professor of Peking
University and Tsinghua University and Emeritus Professor of
Electrical & Electronic Engineering and the former Dean of the
School of Engineering of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. Mr. Ko was the Vice Chairman of Electrical
Engineering and Computer Science Department of the University
of California at Berkeley from 1991 to 1993 and a member of Bell
Labs in USA from 1982 to 1984. Mr. Ko is an independent non-
executive director of each of Henderson Investment Limited (stock
code: 0097), Henderson Land Development Company Limited
(stock code: 0012) and VTech Holdings Limited (stock code:
00303) respectively, all of which are Hong Kong listed companies.
Mr. Ko is also a director of Beken Corporation ({8385 E K (L
8) BBIHABRAT) (stock code: 603068.SH) (“Beken”), Smartsens
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B4E (&) EFRERRD
BBRAE]) (stock code: 688213.SH) (“Smartsens”) and Googol
Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 301510.SZ), each of which is a
Chinese listed company.
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Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang (#1&#¥) (‘Mr. Chu”), aged 55, has been
an INED, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company since 13 November 2014. From
June 1997 to June 2002, Mr. Chu served at various positions in
Hewlett-Packard Taiwan Ltd. (BERERMHBERAE), which
is a provider of computing devices, testing and skilled solutions,
and last served as a sales expert and was primarily responsible
for overseeing its sales department in respect of the computing
devices. From May 2002 to August 2004, Mr. Chu served as the
(FREERR S
which was a wholly-owned subsidiary

investment manager of CDIB Venture Capital Corp.
BIXERERMBBRAF),
of China Development Financial Holding Corporation (FFZERH
BRI ARAT) (stock code: 2883) listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange and was primarily engaged in enterprise
operations, management, and consulting services. Mr. Chu was
primarily responsible for exploring and assessing investment
plans and post-investment management. In January 2014, Mr.
Chu established WK Innovation Ltd. (EEIFTRMHERAT),
a venture capital firm, and served as the managing director and
acted as its chairman and chief executive officer, where he was
primarily responsible for its strategic planning. From August 2004
to January 2014, Mr. Chu served as the general manager of WK
Technology Fund (s AIZRE, previously known as ZEl A%
KBERMERAT), a venture capital firm. Mr. Chu was primarily
responsible for exploring and assessing investment plans and
post-investment management. He was the legal representative
of Litmax Electronics Inc. (GBZENXBRMD BT, stock code:
4995) and Raydium Semi-conductor Corporation (i 5 & g 15
BPR/AE], stock code: 3592), each of which is listed on the Taiwan
Cretai Securities Market (B7E:E55EZEEE L) . Mr. Chu is a
director of Beken (stock code: 603068.SH) and Smartsens (stock
code: 688213.SH), each of which is a Chinese listed company,
and he is also an independent director of Chicony Electronics
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2385), Chia Chang Co., Ltd. (RERMNARAT) (a
company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code: 4942)
(EREFRHERRE) (a
company listed on the Taipei Exchange, stock code: 3332).

and Cincon Electronics Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Chu received his bachelor of science degree in electrical
engineering from the National Tsing-Hua University in Taiwan
in July 1993 and his master’s degree in management from the
National Cheng-Kung University in Taiwan in June 1995. Mr. Chu
served as an executive council member of the Taiwan Private
Equity & Venture Capital Association (B/ER|EKEREREN
&) from May 2008 to May 2010.

Ms. Hui Hiu Ching (EFBEE) (“Ms. Hui"), aged 37, has been an
INED, the chairlady of the Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee of the Company since 25 March 2024. Ms. Hui
has been admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Hong Kong since 2015. Ms. Hui
has extensive experience in the areas of accounting, auditing,
finance and taxation. Ms. Hui is a Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong, a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales, and
serves as a school manager of a Hong Kong school sponsoring
body. Prior to becoming an audit partner in Hui Sik Wing & Co.,
Ms. Hui worked as an audit manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers,
where she was involved in a number of audit and assurance
projects advising large corporates including listed companies and
multinational companies. Ms. Hui holds a bachelor’s degree in
accounting from the University of Southern California.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

Mr. Cai Yun (BZE) (“Mr. Cai"), aged 41,
financial officer of the Company since December 2020 and is

has been the chief

primary responsible for the financial management of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in April 2017, he served as a cost
accountant in Fulinmun Food Co., Ltd. of the COFCO Corporation
from July 2005 to December 2006, where he was primarily
responsible for cost accounting and cost control. From December
2006 to March 2017, Mr. Cai held various positions in Suzhou
Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., and last served as a financial
manager, where he was mainly responsible for financial control,
analysis and the preparation of the annual budget. Mr. Cai received
a bachelor degree in management from Yanzhou University (35
SNAER) | majoring in accounting. Mr. Cai has been a member of
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March
2021.

Mr. Cheng Zhihua (f221E) (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 49, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 21
November 2017. Mr. Cheng graduated from the Jinan University
(BmAE) with a bachelor of accounting degree in 1999 and
further obtained a master of business administration degree from
the Jinan University in 2010. Mr. Cheng is also a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently a
senior finance manager of a private company in Hong Kong and
has more than 26 years of experience in handling accounting and
compliance matters at various companies and accounting firms in
Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Cheng has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2017.
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Mr. Wang Jianqgiang (Ef#3&) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 53,
director and chief executive officer of Kunshan QT China (an

is a

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), he is primarily
responsible for operation and business management of Kunshan
QT China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang served as a
supervisor of the quality assurance department of SAE Magnetics
(REMBEFR),
October 1995 to September 1996, where he was primarily

a computer hardware manufacturer, from

responsible for product quality assurance. From August 1998 to
January 2005, he served as the sales assistant manager of the
Shenzhen office of Samsung Electro-Mechanics (H.K.) Limited
(ZEE® (F8) ARR

components, where he was primarily responsible for the sales of

7)), a manufacturer of electronic

the electronic components. From February 2005 to April 2014 and
December 2005 to April 2014, respectively, Mr. Wang served as
the chief financial officer of Shenzhen CK and Heyuan CK where
he was primarily responsible for audit management and budgeting.
Mr. Wang had been a Director of the Company since 5 May 2014
and was re-designated as an executive Director of the Company
from 13 November 2014 until his resignation on 15 December
2020. Mr. Wang was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
from 8 July 2016 until his resignation on 15 December 2020. Mr.
Wang received his bachelor’'s degree in engineering, majoring in
fluid machinery and engineering, from the Sichuan University of
Science and Technology (PU)I| T2 23) in June 1995. Mr. Wang
is the step-brother of Mr. He.

Mr. Wang is also a director of Kunshan QT Hong Kong, QT
International, Singapore QT and India QT, and a director and the
general manager of QTech Optoelectronic, Q Technology Korea
Limited, QT Smart-Forward and Q Technology North America
Limited, each of which is a subsidiary of the Company.
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present the annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the design, research and
development, manufacture and sales of mid-to-high end camera
modules and fingerprint recognition modules.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five accounting years are set out on pages 6 to 9 of this
annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 197 to 199.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 10 to 23 of this
report. Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing can be found in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 10 to 283. Also, the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group and particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the Year
are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 24 to 41 of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in the Group Five-year Financial Summary
on pages 6 to 9 of this annual report. In addition, discussions
on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships with its
stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis,
the Corporate Governance Report, the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report and this Directors’ Report on pages 10
to 23, pages 24 to 41, pages 91 to 126, pages 127 to 185, and
pages 50 to 90 respectively. These discussions form part of this
Directors’ Report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet
its immediate and long-term business goals. During the Year, there
were no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers and suppliers.

FINAL DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 of HK$10.0 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB9.3 cents) per share (final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023: Nil) to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday,
5 June 2025. Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the
AGM, the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or
around Friday, 20 June 2025.

There was no arrangement under which a shareholder has waived
or agreed to waive any dividends for the Year.

For the purpose of determining the eligibility to attend the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
20 May 2025 to 23 May 2025 (both days inclusive). In order
to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM as a registered
shareholder of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2025.
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For the purpose of determining the eligibility to receive the final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 3 June 2025 to 5 June 2025, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. In order to be qualified to receive the
final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 2 June 2025.

17th Floor, Hopewell

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the trading between the Group and its major
customers and suppliers were as follows:

The Group’s purchases from its largest supplier accounted for
approximately 21.1% (2023: approximately 21.7%) of the total
purchases of the Group whilst the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 55.1% (2023: approximately 56.3%)
of the total purchases of the Group.

The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
27.9% (2023: approximately 30.5%) of the total turnover of the
Group whilst the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 79.5% (2023: approximately 82.1%) of the total
turnover of the Group.

During the Year, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholders of
the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial
interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the
Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of
the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company did not issue any
shares (including the sale of any treasury shares) or debentures
during the Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company subject to the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). As at 31 December
2024, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves (including
share premium and retained profits) available for distribution
to the equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB1,441,405,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,446,752,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Ningning (Chairman) N
Mr. Hu Sanmu
Mr. Fan Fugiang ™

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang M*®
Mr. Ko Ping Keung NARM
Mr. Ng Sui Yin ARM
(resigned as an INED on 25 March 2024)

Ms. Hui Hiu Ching A™M
(appointed as an INED on 25 March 2024)

member of audit committee of the Company
member of remuneration committee of the Company
member of risk management committee of the Company

zZ Z I >

member of nomination committee of the Company

In accordance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. He Ningning and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang will retire
by rotation and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

During the Year, other than Mr. Ng Sui Yin’s resignation as an INED
as he would like to devote more time to his personal affairs (please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024
for details), no Director resigned from his/her office or refused to
stand for re-election to his/her office due to reasons relating to the
affairs of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 42 to 49 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Directors has entered into a service contract or
appointment letter with our Company for a term of three years
upon his or her appointment. A renewed service contract or
appointment letter for a further term of three years has been or will
be entered into between each Director and our Company upon
expiry of the then current term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract or appointment letter with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” below, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, its controlling shareholder or subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares (in
relation to the positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded
in the register required to be maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO; or otherwise to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as

follows:
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(a)

ESEHS

Interest in the Shares of the Company

(a) MAERERRIMGZEm

Approximate

percentage
Number of of the issued
Name of Directors/ Capacity/ issued Shares
Chief Executive Nature of interest Shares held Position held (Note 2)
HIFB BT
BEEx TE FrfszB%817 BB DL
THABHR 51 #ElE KRN KB (Hizt2)
He Ningning Interest of a controlled 752,491,000 Long position 63.53%
corporation (Note 1)
fAIEE RELAEE TR Hrz1)  HE
He Ningning Beneficial owner 1,180,000 Long position 0.10%
fAIEE Em#EAEA S~
Hu Sanmu Beneficial owner 2,995,000 Long position 0.25%
(Note 3)
=K BHREAA (Hr=£3) HwE
Ko Ping Keung Beneficial owner 200,000 Long position 0.02%
SEE: BHREAA S~
Fan Fugiang Beneficial owner 2,635,000 Long position 0.22%
(Note 3)
BER BHREAA (Hr=£3) HwE
Notes: et -

1.

Mr. He Ningning, an executive Director and the chairman of
the Board, is the sole beneficial owner of QT Investment which
owned approximately 63.53% of the issued Shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2024. Under Part XV of the SFO,
Mr. He Ningning is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by QT Investment.

The percentage represents the number of Shares divided by
1,184,538,475 issued Shares of the Company in total as at 31
December 2024.

On 1 April 2025, Mr. Hu Sanmu and Mr. Fan Fugiang exercised
the 2024 Share Options and were respectively issued 87,500
Shares by the Company respectively. As a result, as at the date
of this report, Mr. Hu Sanmu and Mr. Fan Fugiang respectively
owned 3,082,500 and 2,722,500 Shares of the Company.
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Name of Directors/

(b) Interest in Underlying Shares

Capacity/Nature of

Number of
underlying
Shares in
respect of the
share options

D 'rtor
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(b) WAERABRID Z

Approximately
percentage of the
underlying Shares

over the Company’s
issued Shares

(Note 2)

(assuming that the
share options are

Chief Executive interest granted Position held exercised in full)
MR PG
P /N
2817
B3 (Hiz22)
HREREH B4 B DL
B XE B e R Y AERR (CE:30 1030
THABHS 515 #aElE RRHERE #&FE E2HITE
Hu Sanmu Beneficial owner 175,000 Long position 0.01%
(Note 1 and 3)
=K BEm#EREA MeF1kR3) WA
Fan Fuqgiang Beneficial owner 175,000 Long position 0.01%
(Note 1 and 3)
BER Em#EREA Hiz#1%3) WA
Notes: et

1. Details of the above share options have been disclosed in the

sections headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

2. The percentage represents the number of underlying Shares
divided by 1,184,538,475 issued Shares of the Company in
total as at 31 December 2024.

3. On 1 April 2025, Mr. Hu Sanmu and Mr. Fan Fugiang exercised
87,500 and 87,500 Share Options 2024 granted to each of

them respectively.

1. EREREZFBENRTXRE
AENE B EEEE -

2. ZEBADLIEEBERMNEERLUA
NER_E_NOF+-_A=+—H
B ETIRD4EE1,184,538,475

e

3. RIZTHFWMA—HB =K%
EREEREENDFITERER
87,5001 K87,5001 — & — I &
Bt o

20245 5% E#EHE (@) 5RA7 57



Directors’ Repoft
EEEHRE

(c) Interest in Associated Corporation

(c) MAEENEEZ

Approximate

Number percentage of
of issued the issued
shares of shares in

Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/Nature associated associated
Chief Executive corporation of interest corporation held corporation

FR¥sZz B8 A9(GAEEE B
B XE EEBET 2#&1TkM%
THABHR MR RS 51y #ElE & E Bt
He Ningning QT Investment Beneficial owner 2 100%
== E#®E @mHEAA 100%

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of PR EXFIEBEEN R T _OEFE+

the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, and underlying shares (in respect
of positions pursuant to equity derivatives) or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange or as recorded in the register
referred to in the SFO or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”, no
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors were aware
of, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares (in respect of positions pursuant to
equity derivatives) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO as follows:

=
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AZEZNE+ZRBA=+—H #®AERQ
BEEMA TWALT BREARBES
REBITEHABN RERMIAEREKG
(RAREBERATETEMBENFEE
iﬂtﬁﬁa) PR BRNE S RBERA
FEIMERALNBEEFNELHAZ
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Approximate
percentage

of total issued
Shares in the

Capacity/Nature Number of Company

Name of Shareholder Long/short position of interest Shares held (Note 1)

HRFEAT

BTk’

WEAESL

RER&THE wa WE 519 # a5 Fr¥sRgin & B Czap

QT Investment Long position Beneficial owner 752,491,000 63.53%

(Note 2)

E#HEE 53 BHEAA (Hiztz)

Note: et

1. The percentage represents the number of underlying Shares divided 1. ZEESLIEHERENERRMNEE
by 1,184,538,475 issued Shares of the Company in total as at 31 FRUARRABR _E_HE+ "B =+—

December 2024.

2. Mr. He Ningning is directly interested in all the issued shares in QT
Investment, which owned approximately 63.53% of the issued Shares
of the Company in total as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has not been notified of
any other person (other than a Director or a chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the Shares
and underlying Shares (in respect of positions pursuant to equity
derivatives) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December
2024,

HME 17D 48%1,184,538,4755% ©
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the schemes disclosed in the section headed “Share
Incentive Schemes” below, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that each Director, secretary
or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution
of the duties in their respective offices. The Company has taken
out and maintained appropriate insurance to cover potential legal
actions against its Directors.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company has not come into
any permitted indemnity provision with the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had made no charitable donations (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately RMB5,000).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Save as disclosed in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 24 to 41, there were no other important events affecting the
Group that had occurred after 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments for the Year are set out in notes 7
and 8 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

UPDATE ON THE DIRECTORS INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

In January 2025, Mr. Ko Ping Keung, an INED of the Company,
resigned from his position as an independent director of Primarius
Technologies Co., Ltd. (LB8BmETRHBBIRAR) (stock
code: 688206.SH), a Chinese listed company, for personal
reasons.

Save as disclosed above, there were no important changes in
the information of Directors required to be disclosed in this report
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share Option Schemes

On 13 November 2014, the Company adopted the pre-IPO share
option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) and a post-
IPO share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) and
granted a total of 59,935,000 share options under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme to the eligible participants with an aim to
reward their contribution to the Group made or possibly made.
None of the share options was exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Year. As at the
date of this report, none of share options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme remained outstanding, and the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme had lapsed accordingly.
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The Company also granted an aggregate of 99,841,600
share options under the Share Option Scheme to the eligible
participants: (i) on 26 October 2016, the Company granted an
aggregate of 39,425,000 share options (the “Share Options
2016") to 165 eligible participants; (i) on 9 June 2017, the
Company granted a total of 8,083,000 share options (the “Share
Options 2017") to 48 eligible participants; (i) on 7 December
2018, the Company granted a total of 12,720,000 share options
(the “Share Options 2018”) to 83 eligible participants; (iv) on 21
June 2019, the Company granted a total of 11,454,000 share
options (the “Share Options 2019”) to 68 eligible participants;
(v) on 16 September 2020, the Company granted a total of
17,879,600 share options (the “Share Options 2020") to 119
eligible participants; and (vi) on 5 June 2024, the Company
granted a total of 10,280,000 share options (the “Share Options
2024”) to 506 eligible participants. The Shareholders passed an
ordinary resolution to terminate the Share Option Scheme at the
extraordinary general meeting (the “2024 EGM”) held on 28 June
2024 and adopted a new share scheme (the “Share Scheme”) on
the same day. Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the
share options granted under the scheme prior to its termination will
continue to be valid. Details of the Share Option Scheme and the
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme during
the Year are set out below:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme:

The Share Option Scheme is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible Participants
(as defined in paragraph 2 below) had or may have made
to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the
Eligible Participants with an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with a view to achieving the following
objectives:

()  motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.
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Participants of the Share Option Scheme:

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
the following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”)
to subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board
may determine:

() any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(i) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole
opinion of the Board will contribute or have contributed
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and percentage of the total number of issued
Shares as at the date of this report:

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
19 May 2017, an ordinary resolution was passed by the
Shareholders to approve the refreshment of the maximum
number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise
of all options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to not exceeding 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue of the Company as at the date of approval
by the Shareholders of the refreshed limit. On the date of
approving such ordinary resolution (i.e. on 19 May 2017),
the total number of Shares in issue of the Company was
1,095,597,000 shares, therefore, the maximum number of
Shares relating to the options that may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company were refreshed to 109,559,700
Shares, representing approximately 9.21% of total number
of 1,189,531,475 Shares in issue on the date of this report
(i,e. on 14 April 2025). As at 1 January 2024, the number
of options available for grant by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme was 78,350,130. As the Share Option
Scheme was terminated on 28 June 2024, the number of
options available for grant by the Company under the Share

Option Scheme was nil as at 31 December 2024.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme:

The maximum number of Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company (including exercised and outstanding options)
to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue of
the Company (excluding any treasury shares) as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit
shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time with such Eligible Participant
and his/her close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
(or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a connected
person (as defined in the Listing Rules)) abstaining from
voting.

The period within which the options must be exercised under
Share Option Scheme to subscribe for Shares:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time in the period after the
date upon which the option is deemed to be granted and
accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date
subject to the provisions for early termination set out in the
Share Option Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised:

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must
be held before it can be exercised unless otherwise imposed
by the Directors.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls must or
may be made, or loans for such purposes must be repaid:

Options granted must be taken up by eligible participants
within 21 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1.
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The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price is determined by the Board but shall not
be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant, which must be a day on which
the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities; (i) the average of the official closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme:

The Share Option Scheme had a term of 10 years
commenced from 13 November 2014. On 28 June 2024, a
resolution to terminate the Share Option Scheme was passed
by the Shareholders at the 2024 EGM and the Share Option
Scheme was terminated accordingly.
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10. Share Options 2020:

(@)

The total number of the Share Options 2020:

On 16 September 2020, the Company granted a total of
17,879,600 share options (representing approximately
1.53% of the total number of 1,172,250,680 issued
Shares on the date of grant of the relevant share options
(i.e. on 16 September 2020) and approximately 1.50%
of the total number of 1,189,531,475 issued Shares as
at the date of this report (i.e. on 14 April 2025)) under
the Share Option Scheme to 119 Eligible Participants
(including two executive Directors, Mr. Hu Sanmu and
Mr. Fan Fugiang). Among the share options granted
above, a total of 12,619,600 share options (the “Share
Options Batch One”) were granted to 83 Eligible
Participants, and a total of 5,260,000 share options
(the “Share Options Batch Two”) were granted to 36
Eligible Participants. During the Year, none of the Share
Options 2020 were exercised. A total of 805,800 Share
Options 2020 were cancelled during the Year as the
applicable performance conditions related to certain
revenue growth targets of 2023 were not met. As at
31 December 2024, none of Share Options 2020 were
outstanding.

The period within which the Share Options 2020 must be
exercised to subscribe for Shares and the performance
targets:

The options granted are exercisable within the period as

notified by the Board to each grantee and in accordance
with the following manner:
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(1) Share Options Batch One:

(M

(i

(i)

upon, among others, the audited revenue of
the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020 recording compound annual growth rate
of not less than 25% from the revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2019, up to 40% of
the share options granted shall be exercisable
during the period from 1 April 2021 to 31
December 2021 (both days inclusive);

upon, among others, the revenue for the
year ending 31 December 2021 recording
compound annual growth rate of not less
than 25% from the revenue for the year ended
31 December 2019, up to 30% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable during the
period from 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022
(both days inclusive); and

upon, among others, the revenue for the
year ending 31 December 2022 recording
compound annual growth rate of not less
than 25% from the revenue for the year ended
31 December 2019, up to 30% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable during the
period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive).

Egﬁiﬁ”:
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(if)

(i)
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In addition, the performance evaluation result of the

grantee in the fiscal year prior to each exercise period
shall not be Grade D, otherwise the Company may
cancel all the share options exercisable during the

exercise period. The Company may partially cancel the
share options exercisable during the exercise period
if the grantee’s performance evaluation result in the

previous fiscal year is Grade B or C.

(2) Share Options Batch Two:

(M

(i)

upon, among others, the revenue of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2021 recording compound annual growth rate
of not less than 20% from the revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2020, up to 40% of
the share options granted shall be exercisable
during the period from 1 April 2022 to 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive);

upon, among others, the revenue for the
year ending 31 December 2022 recording
compound annual growth rate of not less
than 20% from the revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020, up to 30% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable during the
period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive); and
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(i) upon, among others, the revenue for the
year ending 31 December 2023 recording
compound annual growth rate of not less
than 20% from the revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020, up to 30% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable during the
period from 1 April 2024 to 31 December 2024
(both days inclusive).

In addition, the performance evaluation result of the
grantee in the fiscal year prior to each exercise period
shall not be Grade D, otherwise the Company may
cancel all the share options exercisable during the
exercise period. The Company may partially cancel the
share options exercisable during the exercise period
if the grantee’s performance evaluation result in the
previous fiscal year is Grade B or C.

. Share Options 2024:

(@) The total number of the Share Options 2024:

On 5 June 2024, the Company granted a total of
10,280,000 share options (representing approximately
0.87% of the total number of 1,184,538,475 issued
Shares on the date of grant of the relevant share options
(i.e. on 5 June 2024) and approximately 0.86% of the
total number of 1,189,631,475 issued Shares as at
the date of this report (i.e. on 14 April 2025)) under
the Share Option Scheme to 506 Eligible Participants
(including two executive Directors, Mr. Hu Sanmu and
Mr. Fan Fugiang). During the Year, none of the Share
Options 2024 were exercised. A total of 159,000
Share Options 2024 were lapsed during the Year due
to the resignation of 12 grantees. As at 31 December
2024, a total of 10,121,000 Share Options 2024 were
outstanding.
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(b)

Repor

The period within which the Share Options 2024 must be
exercised to subscribe for Shares and the performance
targets:

The options granted are exercisable within the period as
notified by the Board to each grantee and in accordance
with the following manner:

()  conditional upon the Group’s audited profit before
taxation for the year ending 31 December 2024
after excluding the profits/(losses) of associates
attributable to the Group and government subsidies
is not less than RMB200 million, 5,140,000 share
options granted will become fully exercisable during
the period from 1 April 2025 to 31 December 2025
(both days inclusive); and

(i)  conditional upon the Group’s audited profit before
taxation for the year ending 31 December 2025
after excluding the profits/(losses) of associates
attributable to the Group and government subsidies
is not less than RMB300 million, 5,140,000 share
options granted will become fully exercisable during
the period from 1 April 2026 to 31 December 2026
(both days inclusive).

During each of the above exercise periods, if the
grantee’s performance appraisal result for the financial
year preceding the exercise period is Grade D, the Board
may cancel all the share options exercisable by the
grantee during such exercise period; if the performance
appraisal result of the grantee for the financial year
preceding the exercise period is Grade C, the Board
may cancel part of the share options exercisable by the
grantee during the exercise period.
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12. Details of changes during the Year in share options granted

under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of underlying Shares involving share options

12. RBBREST EIFT R B BERENRF
RZEFFBUWT -

BRESRZEMRAUE
Closing
price Fair value
of the of share
Company options
immediately granted
before during
the date of Options Options  the Year
Exercise grant of outstanding Lapsed/  outstanding at the
price per share asat1 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled  Forfeited asat 31 date of
Vesting share options January during during during during  December  grant"¢?
Category Date of grant  period Exercise period (HKS) (HKS) 2024 the Year the Year the Year  the Year 2024 (HKS)
REERN
B HBRE
ERFR I3 ZEmE REHAH
ZEBRE —T-mE +ZR HAT
BLA®E —-A-AH =t+-8  BE~
BRITEE MUHE HERTEN ERRY/  WEOE &K
ER BHAH FEHH s (#7) (%) BRE EREY  EAf R BE WERE 7
Directors
and their
associates
BEREREA
Hu Sanmu 5 June 2024 From the date of Please refer to the 3518 340 - 175,000 - - - 175,000 %0 197,050
grant to 31 paragraph under “The
March 2026 period within which the
Share Options 2024
must be exercised to
subscribe for Share”
on page 70
VN ZTImE RHBSECT #EEE0EC3IR 3518 340 - 175,000 - - - 1750007 197,050
7~AIH NEZR EERENIERH
=+-H 16 %
Fan Fugiang 5 June 2024 From the date ~ Please refer to the 3518 340 - 175,000 - - - 175,000 %7 197,050
of grant to paragraph under “The
31 March period within which the
2026 Share Options 2024
must be exercised to
subscribe for Share”
on page 70
BER ZEIME RHAHECT HEEE0EC3CW 3518 340 - 175000 - - - 17500079 197,050
pyzE= ZAEZR FERENIERG
=+-A IRHRRIRE
Wang Jiangjiang 5 June 2024 Fromthe date  Please refer to the 3518 3.40 - 180,000 - - - 180,000 %7 202,680
of grant to paragraph under “The
31 March period within which the
2026 Share Options 2024
must be exercised to
subscribe for Share”
on page 70
TR% “EopuE BHBHECT #2H%08/ 230 3518 340 - 180,000 - - - 180,0007% 202,680
~ALA REZR EBERENIERH
=+-H fAfBRIEE
Directors and N/A N/A - 530,000 - - - 530,000 596,780
their associates
(in total)
ﬁ%()z%)ﬂi‘ﬁ%%)\ TER TER = 530,000 - - - 530,000 596,780
[=)"]
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Number of underlying Shares involving share options

BRESRZBRRNEE
Closing
price Fair value
of the of share
Company options
immediately granted
before during
the date of Options Options the Year
Exercise grant of outstanding Lapsed/  outstanding at the
price per share asat1 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled  Forfeited asat 31 date of
Vesting share options January during during during during  December  grant'®?
Category Date of grant  period Exercise period (HKS) (HKS) 2024 the Year the Year the Year  the Year 2024 (HKS)
REERH
® WERE
FAFR ® ZEIoME RELRH
ZEBRE —I-mE +ZR HAT
BLA®E —-B-AH =t-8 ™
SROEE  HWUHE HRTEN ERKY/  HEOE &K
ekl RHAH FEHHE e (#7m) (%) BRE FREY  ERGE EhEl BY WERE 7
Employees 16 September  From the date of Please refer to the 9.22 9.24 805,800 - - (805,800)%¢ - - N/A
(Share Options 2020 grant to 31 paragraph under “The
Batch Two) March 2024 period within which the
Share Options 2020
must be exercised to
subscribe for Shares:
(2) Share Options
Batch Two” on
pages 68 to 69
B8 (BlRED) —32%& RHHBEE  F2HF682608/CF 922 924 805800 = - (805,800)7 - - TER
hA+7A Z2TME CEEERENDE
=R RATTRER QER
=1+-A BZIBE
Employees 5 June 2024 Fromthe date ~ Please refer to the 3518 340 - 9,750,000 - - (159,000) 9,591,000"=5 10,891,181
(Share of grant to paragraph under “The
Options 31 March period within which the
2024) 2026 Share Options 2024
must be exercised to
subscribe for Share”
on page 70
&8 ZICRmE REHBE  #A2ME0E(CECM 3518 340 - 9,750,000 - - (159,000) 9,591,007 10,891,181
(CB-mE  /~BA TBIRE FERENIERH
k@ =R fIBRIRE
=+-A
Employees N/A N/A 805,800 9,750,000 - (805,800) (159,0000 9,591,000 10,891,181
(in total)
{8 (Ait) TEE TEE 805,800 9,750,000 - (805,800) (1590000 9,591,000 10,891,181
Total N/A N/A 805,800 10,280,000 - (805,800) (159,000) 10,121,000 11,487,961
@t ESiki TEE 805,800 10,280,000 - (805,800) (159,000) 10,121,000 11,487,961
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13.

Notes:

1. A total of 805,800 Share Options Batch Two of the Share
Options 2020 granted to the employees were cancelled in the
Year as the applicable performance conditions related to certain
revenue growth targets of the year 2023 were not met.

2. The fair value was determined using the binomial option pricing
model. The measure date is the date on which the share
options were granted.

3. On 1 April 2025, Mr. Hu Sanmu, Mr. Fan Fugiang, Mr. Wang
Jiangiang and employees exercised 87,500, 87,500, 90,000
and 4,728,000 Share Options 2024 granted to each of them
respectively.

Outstanding share options granted as of 31 December 2024:

As of 31 December 2024, the aggregate number of
outstanding share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme was 10,121,000, representing approximately 0.85%
of the total number of shares in issue of the Company as
of 31 December 2024. The number of Shares that may be
issued in respect of share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year (i.e. 10,280,000 shares)
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) during the Year (i.e. 1,184,538,000
shares) was approximately 0.87%.

Share Scheme

On 28 June 2024, the Shareholders of the Company adopted
the Share Scheme. A summary of the main terms of the Share
Scheme is set out below:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the Share Scheme is to provide incentive
to the Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph 2
below) in order to promote the development and success
of the business of the Group. The Share Scheme will
give the Eligible Participants an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company and will help motivate the
Eligible Participants in optimising their performance and
efficiency and attract and retain the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are important to the long-term

growth of the Group.

13.
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Eligible Participants and the basis of eligibility:

The Eligible Participants are the directors and employees
(whether full-time, part-time or other employment
arrangement) of any member of the Group (including
persons who are granted Awards under the Share
Scheme as inducement to enter into employment
contracts with any member of the Group) (the “Employee
Participants”).

In determining the basis of eligibility for Employee
Participants, the factors in assessing whether any person
is eligible to participate in the Share Scheme include:
(1) the performance of the Employee Participant; (2)
the skill, knowledge, experience, expertise and other
personal qualities of the Employee Participant; (3) time
commitment, responsibilities or employment conditions
of the Employee Participant according to the prevailing
market practice and industry standard; (4) the length of
employment with the Group; and (5) the contribution or
potential contribution of the Employee Participant to the
development and growth of the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Scheme and percentage of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of this report:

The total number of Shares which may be issued
(including any transfer of treasury shares of the
Company) in respect of all share options and share
awards (collectively, the “Awards”) which may be granted
at any time under the Share Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under any
other schemes of the Company shall not exceed such
number of Shares as equals 10% of the Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) as at the adoption date
(i.e., 28 June 2024), being 118,453,847 Shares (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit"), representing approximately
9.96% of total number of 1,189,631,475 Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) on the date of this report
(i.e., 14 April 2025). Awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Scheme (and other schemes of
the Company) will not be regarded as utilised for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. For
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the avoidance of doubt, Awards granted in accordance
with the terms of the Share Scheme (and other similar
schemes of the Company) the underlying Shares of
which are existing Shares purchased by the trustee of
the Trust (or any other party(ies) authorised by the Board)
in the open market upon the instruction of the Board
from time to time will not be regarded as utilised for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of Shares
in respect of the Awards available for grant by the
Company under the scheme mandate was 118,453,847
Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant:

Where any grant of an Award to an Eligible Participant
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
(including any transfer of treasury shares of the
Company) in respect of all options and awards granted
to such Eligible Participant (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
relevant schemes) in the twelve (12)-month period up
to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares), such grant must be
separately approved by the Shareholders in a general
meeting of the Company with such Eligible Participant
and the person’s close associates (or associates if the
Eligible Participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting.

Vesting period:

Save for the circumstances prescribed below, an
Award must be held by the grantee for a period that
is not shorter than the minimum period (i.e., the
period commencing on the date of Offer (as defined in
paragraph 6 below) made by the Company and ending
on the day immediately prior to the expiry of the twelve
(12)-month period thereof) before the Award can be
exercised.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion grant Awards
to Employee Participants only with a vesting period
shorter than the minimum period in the following specific
circumstances:

(1) grants of “make-whole” Awards to new joiners
to replace the award shares they forfeited when
leaving the previous employers;

(2) grants to an Employee Participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or disability
or occurrence of any out of control event;

(8) grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons (such as to
save administrative time and compliance costs, to
coincide with the regular or scheduled meetings
of the Board and/or the remuneration committee
of the Company, etc.), which include Awards that
should have been granted earlier if not for such
administrative or compliance reasons but had to
wait for a subsequent batch;

(4) grants of Awards with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such as where the Awards may
vest evenly over a period of twelve (12) months; or

(5) grants with performance-based vesting conditions
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria,

each of which are considered appropriate to provide
flexibility to grant Awards (a) as part of competitive terms
and conditions to induce valuable talent to join the Group
(subparagraphs (1) and (4)); (b) reward past contribution
which may otherwise be neglected due to administrative
or technical reasons (sub-paragraphs (2) and (3));
(c) reward exceptional performers with accelerated
vesting (sub-paragraph (4)); (d) to motivate exceptional
performers based on performance metrics rather
than time (sub-paragraph (5)); and (e) in exceptional
circumstances where justified (subparagraphs (1) to
(5)), which is consistent with the purpose of the Share
Scheme.
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Offer and acceptance:

An offer (the “Offer”) shall be made to an Eligible
Participant in writing (and unless so made shall be
invalid) in such form as the Board may from time to time
determine specifying the terms of the Award which may
include number of award shares, the purchase price or
exercise price (as applicable), the vesting criteria and
conditions, the exercise period, and if any, minimum
performance targets that must be achieved and, if
applicable, the clawback mechanism for the Company to
recover or withhold any share options or share awards
granted to any Eligible Participants, and any such
other details as the Company may consider necessary,
and requiring the grantee to undertake to hold the
Award on the terms of the offer letter and be bound
by the provisions of the Share Scheme. An Offer shall
remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Participant
concerned (and by no other person, including the Eligible
Participant’s personal representative) for a period of
twenty-one (21) days from the date of the offer. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Board may at its discretion
specify any condition in the offer letter at the grant of the
relevant Award, including conditions and/or performance
target(s) that must be achieved before any of the Awards
can be exercised, as well the clawback mechanism for
the Company to recover or withhold any share options or
share awards granted to any Eligible Participants.

An Offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an
Eligible Participant concerned in respect of all the award
shares which are offered to such Eligible Participant
when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant, together with
a payment in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 or such
other amount (if any) as may be determined by the Board
as consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the
Company.
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Any Offer may be accepted by an Eligible Participant in

respect of less than the number of award shares which
are offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a
board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange

or an integral multiple thereof. The relevant award shares
offered but not accepted shall lapse.

7. Exercise price and purchase price:

(@)

The exercise price of share options shall, subject to
any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the
Share Scheme, be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, provided that it shall be not less
than the highest of:

(1) the closing price of the Shares as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date, which must be a business
day;

(2) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five (5) consecutive
days on which the Shares are traded on the
Stock Exchange immediately preceding the
offer date; and

(8) the nominal value of the Share on the offer
date.

The purchase price of share awards shall be such
price determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to the grantee in the offer
letter. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board
may determine the purchase price to be nil. The
Company will disclose the purchase price for
share awards in the announcement on grant of
the relevant Awards and in its annual and interim
reports to the extent required under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.
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10.

Time of exercise of Awards:

Subject to the terms of the Share Scheme, an Award
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during
the period stipulated in the offer, provided that such
period shall not go beyond the day immediately prior to
the tenth (10th) anniversary of the Offer date with respect
of the relevant Award.

Performance target(s) and clawback mechanism:

The Board may at its discretion determine and provide
in the offer letter at the grant of the relevant Award any
performance target(s) as the Board may then specify
which must be achieved by the grantee before any of
the Awards can be exercised, as well as the clawback
mechanism for the Company to recover or withhold any
Awards granted to any Eligible Participants.

The remaining life of the Share Scheme:

The Share Scheme shall be valid and effective until the
termination date (i.e., close of business of the Company
on the date which falls on the date immediately prior
to the tenth (10th) anniversary of the adoption date of
the Share Scheme, or such earlier date as the Share
Scheme is terminated in accordance of the terms
thereunder), after which period no further Awards will be
granted but the provisions of the Share Scheme shall
remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any Awards granted on or prior to the
termination date or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Share Scheme.
The Awards granted prior to such termination shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the Share Scheme.

Subject to early termination, the remaining life of the
Share Scheme is approximately 9 years and 2 months as
of the date of this annual report.
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11. Outstanding Awards granted as of 31 December 2024

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had not granted
any Awards under the Share Scheme. Therefore, the
number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
outstanding Awards granted under the Share Scheme
during the Year was nil.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, saved as disclosed in the section Management
Discussion and Analysis, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares). The Company
did not hold any treasury shares as at 31 December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee in accordance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The annual results of the
Group for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee
which comprises all the three INEDs, namely Ms. Hui Hiu Ching,
being the chairlady, Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, certain related party transactions as set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
for the Company under the Listing Rules, and are required to be
disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a continuing connected transaction
or connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules. The
disclosure of those certain related party transactions has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group has certain connected transactions
which were exempted from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements, but subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The details of those transactions are set
out below:

Property lease agreements entered into by QT Biological
Recognition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and Van Telecom Limited (“Van Telecom PRC”)

QT Biological Recognition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a property lease agreement (the
“Van Telecom PRC Property Lease Agreement”) with Van Telecom
PRC on 8 November 2022, pursuant to which, Van Telecom PRC
agreed to lease certain factory buildings and worker’s dormitories
situated at No. 1999 Hanpu Road and Building No. 3, 1999
Hanpu Road, Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC (FREIST #F&
B L2 A B8 10005k B 8 SR B8 199998 2 35 /2) to QT Biologica
Recognition for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. On 24 April 2023, QT Biological Recognition entered into
a supplemental agreement with Van Telecom PRC to revise the
rent and the area of the leased property under the aforesaid lease
agreement. Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 8 November 2022 and 24 April 2023 for detalils.

The property leased by Van Telecom PRC to QT Biological
Recognition is its own property, the rent under the Van Telecom
PRC Property Lease Agreement and the supplemental agreement
paid by QT Biological Recognition to Van Telecom PRC was
determined with reference to the market rent for similar premises
in the vicinity and on normal commercial terms, and such prices
offered by Van Telecom PRC shall be no less favourable to QT
Biological Recognition than is available from independent third
parties.

Van Telecom PRC is wholly-owned by CK Telecom, which is in
turn wholly-owned by Mr. He. As such, Van Telecom PRC is a
connected person of the Company for the purpose of the Listing
Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount of
rent and management fees in aggregate paid or payable under
the transactions of the Van Telecom PRC Property Lease
Agreement and its supplemental agreement was approximately
RMB5,350,000, which was within the cap amount for the Year of
RMB5,899,200.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group conducted certain continuing
connected transactions which were exempted from the circular
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements, but subject
to the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The details of those
transactions are set out below:

Supply agreement in respect of the supply of camera modules
and fingerprint recognition modules to CK Telecom Limited
(“Heyuan CK”)

On 18 December 2023, the Company and Heyuan CK entered
into a supply agreement (the “Heyuan CK Supply Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply camera modules
and fingerprint recognition modules to Heyuan CK for the
production of its products for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 31 May 2021
and 18 December 2023.

The price for the camera modules and fingerprint recognition
modules supplied by the Group under the Heyuan CK Supply
Agreement was determined by reference to the raw material costs
and production costs to be incurred by and the profit margin of the
Group, which is expected to be comparable with the level of profits
derived from the Group’s sales to independent customers, subject
to adjustments arising from the expected quantity, quality, delivery
schedule, specifications and market competition.

Heyuan CK is wholly owned by CK Telecom which is in turn wholly
owned by Mr. He. As such, Heyuan CK is a connected person of
the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total transaction
amount under the Heyuan CK Supply Agreement was
approximately RMB71,000, which was within the annual cap
amount for the Year of RMB5,000,000.

Purchase agreement in respect of the purchase of open-
loop motors, closed-loop motors, bi-directional voice coil
motors, motors for periscope camera modules, optical image
stabilisation motors, variable aperture motors and other
electronic components (collectively, the “VCM Components”)
from Heyuan Youhua Micro Electronic Technology Company
Limited (“Heyuan Youhua”)

On 18 December 2023, the Company and Heyuan Youhua
entered into a purchase agreement (the “Heyuan Youhua Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which Heyuan Youhua agreed to
supply VCM Components to the Group for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. On 20
May 2024, both parties entered into a supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement”)
to revise the respective annual caps for the transactions
contemplated under the Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement for
the three years ending 31 December 2026. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18 December
2023 and 20 May 2024.

The price for the VCM Components supplied by Heyuan
Youhua under the Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement and
the Supplemental Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement was
determined with reference to the price at which comparable
types of VCM Components are sold to the Group by independent
suppliers under normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of
business, and such price shall be no less favourable to the Group
than that available from independent suppliers. In considering
whether to purchase from Heyuan Youhua, the Group sought
quotations from at least two independent third parties offering the
same or comparable products. The Group purchased the VCM
Components from Heyuan Youhua if the price and quality of the
products offered was comparable to or more favourable to the
Group than those offered by such independent third parties for the
same or comparable products.
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Heyuan Youhua is owned as to (i) approximately 0.25% and
approximately 0.99% by Mr. Hu Sanmu and Mr. Fan Fugiang
respectively, both are executive Directors of the Company; (i)
approximately 66.11% by Westalgo (Great China) Inc. (“Westalgo
Great China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of QT Investment, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, which in turn is wholly-
owned by Mr. He; and (i) approximately 18.01% by Shenzhen
Handi Venture Capital Co. Ltd. CRIITEEEIEKERRAR)
(“Shenzhen Handi”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen CK,
which in turn is 90% owned by Mr. He. As such, Heyuan Youhua is
a connected person of the Company for the purpose of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total transaction
amount under the Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement and
Supplemental Heyuan Youhua Purchase Agreement was
approximately RMB276,009,000, which was within the annual cap
amount for the Year of RMB280,000,000.

Purchase agreement in respect of the purchase of flexible
printed circuit board and rigid-flex printed circuit boards (the
“PCBs”) from C-Flex Electronic (Huangshi) Ltd. (“Huangshi
C-Flex Electronic”)

On 18 December 2023, the Company and Huangshi C-Flex
Electronic entered into a purchase agreement (the “Huangshi
C-Flex Electronic Purchase Agreement”),
Huangshi C-Flex Electronic agreed to supply the PCBs to the
Group for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2026. On 20 May 2024, both parties entered into
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Huangshi C-Flex

pursuant to which

Electronic Purchase Agreement”) to revise the respective annual
caps for the transactions contemplated under the Huangshi C-Flex
Electronic Purchase Agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2026. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 18 December 2023 and 20 May 2024.
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The price for the PCBs supplied by Huangshi C-Flex Electronic
under the Huangshi C-Flex Electronic Purchase Agreement and
Supplemental Huangshi C-Flex Electronic Purchase Agreement
was determined with reference to the price at which comparable
types of PCBs are sold to the Group by independent suppliers
under normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of business,
and such price shall be no less favourable to the Group than that
available from independent suppliers.
purchase from Huangshi C-Flex Electronic, the Group sought
quotations from at least two independent third parties offering the

In considering whether to

same or comparable products. The Group purchased the PCBs
from Huangshi C-Flex Electronic if the price and quality of the
products offered was comparable to or more favourable to the
Group than those offered by such independent third parties for the
same or comparable products.

Huangshi C-Flex Electronic is wholly owned by Shenzhen Handi, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen CK which is in turn owned
as to 90.0% by Mr. He. As such, Huangshi C-Flex Electronic is a
connected person of the Company for the purpose of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total transaction
amount under the Huangshi C-Flex Electronic Purchase Agreement
and Supplemental Huangshi C-Flex Electronic Purchase
Agreement was approximately RMB173,163,000, which was within
the annual cap amount for the Year of RMB200,000,000.
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Supply agreement in respect of the supply of semi-automated
and automated equipment and its software, algorithms and
after-sales services for its own production and operations
(collectively, the “Automated Equipment and Software”)
from Xiamen Zhonghui Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen
Zhonghui”)

On 18 December 2023, the Company and Xiamen Zhonghui
entered into a supply agreement (the “Xiamen Zhonghui Supply
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to supply
Automated Equipment and Software to Xiamen Zhonghui, for a
term commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. On
20 May 2024, both parties entered into a supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Xiamen Zhonghui Supply Agreement”) to revise
the respective annual caps for the transactions contemplated
under the Xiamen Zhonghui Supply Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2026. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2023 and 20
May 2024.

The price of the Automation Equipment and Software to be
supplied by the Group to Xiamen Zhonghui will be determined
with reference to the Group’s raw material costs, production
costs, development costs as well as the profit margin for the
design, development and manufacturing of such Automated
Equipment and Software, while the profit margin is expected to
be comparable to the level of profit derived from the sales to
the customers, who are independent third parties, subject to
adjustments based on the expected quantity, quality, delivery
schedule, specifications and market competition. It is envisaged
that from time to time and as required, the Group will provide
quotation and estimated delivery time of the specific products to
Xiamen Zhonghui according to factors such as the specification
and delivery schedule of the Automation Equipment and Software
required to be purchased by Xiamen Zhonghui by comprehensively
considering the factors such as cost of raw materials, production
time, development time, the comparable price of the same or
similar products selling to two or more independent third parties,
the expected gross profit margin of the same or similar products
selling to independent third parties, settlement period, scale of
order of specific products. After acceptance of the quotation
and estimated delivery time, Xiamen Zhonghui will place order(s)
to the Group or sign specific contract(s) for the purchase of the
Automated Equipment and Software, and then the Group will fulfill
the order and the contract. For orders with no comparable price
from an independent third party, the Group will provide quotations
by considering the average gross profit margin of the Group
comprehensively.
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Xiamen Zhonghui is owned as to 86.65% by CK Telecom
(Hangzhou) Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by CK Telecom
Asia Pacific Ltd., and CK Telecom Asia Pacific Ltd.
owned by Mr. He. Accordingly, Xiamen Zhonghui is a connected

is wholly-

person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total transaction
amount under the Xiamen Zhonghui Supply Agreement and
Supplemental Xiamen Zhonghui Supply Agreement was
approximately RMB60,021,000, which was within the annual cap
amount for the Year of RMB80,000,000.

The INEDs have reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions of the Company and confirmed that such transactions
have been:

(i)  entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) entered into on normal commercial terms or better terms;

(i) entered into in accordance with the agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable for the interests of
Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv) the total annual transaction amount of the Year has not
exceeded the annual cap.

The independent auditor of the Company was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and by reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor
of the Company has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this section in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon
procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group. The auditor has reported their factual findings on these
procedures to the Board that:

(@ nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(b) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions involving the provision
of goods or services by the Group were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate transaction amount of each
of the continuing connected transactions set out as above,
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the relevant annual caps.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company, and so far as the Directors are aware of, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float as required by the Listing
Rules during the Year and up to the latest practicable date prior to
the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ COMPETING BUSINESS

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) was
entered into by Mr. He Ningning, the Chairman and an executive
Director and QT Investment (a company wholly-owned by Mr. He
Ningning) (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) in favour of
the Company on 13 November 2014, pursuant to which each of
the Controlling Shareholders will not, and will procure its/his close
associates (other than members of the Group) not to directly or
indirectly be involved in or undertake any business (other than
the Group’s business) that directly or indirectly competes, or may
compete, with the Group’s business or undertaking, or hold shares
or interest in any companies or business that compete directly or
indirectly with the business engaged by the Group from time to
time except where the Controlling Shareholders hold less than 5%
of the total issued share capital of any company (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange) which
is engaged in any business that is or may be in competition with
any business engaged by any member of the Group and they do
not control 10% or more of the composition of the Board.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation from
the Controlling Shareholders in respect of the compliance and
enforcement of the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition by the
Controlling Shareholders during the Year.

The INEDs have reviewed the Deed of Non-Competition entered
into by the Controlling Shareholders as to whether the Controlling
Shareholders had abided by the Deed of Non-Competition. The
INEDs confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders had not been in
breach of the Deed of Non-Competition during the Year.

Apart from the business of the Group, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in
any business which competed or might compete with the business
of the Group during the Year.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE
RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares of the Company,
they are advised to consult a professional adviser.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14
April 2025, KPMG will retire as the auditor of the Company at the
conclusion of the AGM upon expiration of its term of office, and
will not be re-appointed.

Upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Board has
resolved that a resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
to appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants
as the independent auditor of the Company with a term from
the date of conclusion of the AGM until the date of conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the Company. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu is a Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in
accordance with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council
Ordinance (Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

On behalf of the Board
He Ningning

Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 April 2025
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The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to
the Company’s Shareholders and protecting and enhancing
Shareholders’ value through good corporate governance.

The Directors of the Company recognise the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the
management structures and internal control procedures of the
Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the
Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors.
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company on the
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising
the management of the business affairs and the overall
performance of the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values
and standards and ensures that the requisite financial and
human resources support are in place for the Group to achieve
its objectives. The functions performed by the Board include but
are not limited to formulating the Group’s business plans and
strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major capital
expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance and all other
functions reserved to the Board under the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles of Association”). The Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference which are published on the respective websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board may from
time to time delegate certain functions to management of the
Group if and when considered appropriate. The management
is mainly responsible for the execution of the business plans,
strategies and policies adopted by the Board and assigned to it
from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive and independent
non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgment.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Ningning (Chairman)
Mr. Hu Sanmu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Fugiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ko Ping Keung
Mr. Ng Sui Yin
(resigned from his position as an INED on 25 March 2024)

Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang
Ms. Hui Hiu Ching
(appointed as an INED on 25 March 2024)

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. Ms. Hui Hiu Ching was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 25 March
2024 and has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
and she confirms she understood her obligations as a director of
the Company.

The INEDs have brought a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgment to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year, there were three INEDs on the Board,
representing half of the Board members, and the Company has
met the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of INEDs
must represent at least one-third of the Board members, and
has also met the requirement that at least one of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation in writing from
each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
14 April 2025), QT Investment,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, indirectly held
2,289,141 shares in issue of Smartsens (stock code: 688213.
SH),
representing approximately 0.57% of the total issued shares of

As at the date of this report (i.e.,

a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,

Smartsens as at the date of this report through Q Technology
Investment (Hong Kong) Limited, its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary. Smartsens is a company engaging in development
of semiconductor solutions, which was founded on 13 April
2017 and registered in PRC, and was listed on the Science and
Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange
on 20 May 2022. Mr. Ko Ping Keung, an INED of the Company,
owns approximately 4% shareholding interests in Smartsens
through a company under his management. In addition, a venture
capital company, where an INED, Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang, currently
works as a director, held directly and indirectly approximately
0.56% shareholding interests in Smartsens. Mr. Ko Ping Keung
and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang also serve as directors of Smartsens,
but do not participate in daily operations of Smartsens. As at
the date of this report, the Group has no significant business
dealings or major commercial transactions with Smartsens. The
Company considers that: (i) the controlling shareholder of the
Company holds a very low proportion of shares in Smartsens and
does not have any significant business dealings with Smartsens;
(i) the aggregate of shareholdings in Smartsens held by Mr. Ko
Ping Keung and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang personally or through their
companies is less than 5% and the aggregate of voting rights of
the board of directors of Smartsens is less than one-half, they
do not participate in and cannot determine the daily operation
management of Smartsens; and (i) Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Mr.
Chu Chia-Hsiang do not rely on the investment in Smartsens as
their major source of income. Therefore, the Company believes
that the investment of QT Investment (the controlling shareholder
of the Company) in Smartsens does not affect the independence
of Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang as INEDs of
the Company. Based on the above circumstances and the
confirmations submitted by each of the INEDs, the Company
considers that all the INEDs are independent and have met the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
during the Year and up to the date of this report.
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As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Ko Ping Keung held 200,000 Shares
of the Company, representing approximately 0.02% of the issued
Shares of the Company. During the Year, none of the INEDs held
more than 1% of the number of issued Shares of the Company.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang serves as a
director of Googol Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 301510.SH),
a listed company controlled by Mr. Ko Ping Keung.

Mr. Fan Fugiang, an executive director of the Company, was
a director of Hangzhou Raying Technology Limited (“Raying
Technology”), a private company which was owned as to
approximately 18.52% by Shenzhen Handi, which was indirectly
owned as to 90% by Mr. He Ningning, but Mr. Fan does not
participate in the daily operation and management of Raying
Technology.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, (i) there was
no Director who held directorships in each other’s companies nor
had significant relationships with other directors by participating
in other companies or groups; and (i) there was no financial,
business, family or other material relationship among the Directors.

Each of the INEDs has been appointed for a term of three years,
which is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with
the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the Company and
the applicable laws in the Cayman Islands. As at 31 December
2024, Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang, being an INED, have served on the
Board for more than nine years. After considering the factors set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company is of view that
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang is still independent.

Corporate Governance Report
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During the Year, the Chairman has held one meeting with INEDs
without the presence of the executive Directors.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against the Directors’ liability has been arranged by the Company.

Directors’ Time and Directorship Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that they have devoted sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company during the Year
and have disclosed to the Company at least twice a year the
number, identity and nature of their positions in listed public
companies or institutions are listed in Hong Kong or overseas, as
well as other significant commitments.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Ko Ping Keung, an INED, had
held directorships in four public companies listed in Hong Kong,
including the Company, and four public companies listed in
Mainland China. In January 2025, Mr. Ko Ping Keung resigned
from the directorship of one of the public companies listed in
Mainland China. Therefore, as of the date of this report, Mr.
Ko Ping Keung holds directorships in seven public companies.
As Mr. Ko Ping Keung was principally served as non-executive

director and will not engage in the daily operation of the relevant
companies, the Company is of the view that he is able to allocate
sufficient time to fulfill his duty as an independent director of the
Company.
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Directors’ Continuing Professional Development

During the Year, each of the Directors (namely Mr. He Ningning, Mr.
Hu Sanmu, Mr. Fan Fugiang, Mr. Ko Ping Keung, Mr. Chu Chia-
Hsiang, Mr. Ng Sui Yin and Ms. Hui Hiu Ching) have complied
with the requirements of the Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code, have participated in relevant continuing professional
development and training, including special training on directors’
duties and obligations and the updated requirements on corporate
governance at the Company’s expense, and all Directors have
been requested to provide the Company with their training
records.

In addition, the Company has from time to time provided
briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh their duties and
responsibilities.

Meetings of the Board and Directors’ Attendance
Records

During the Year, the Board held 13 meetings in total (i.e. 23
January 2024, 25 March 2024, 12 April 2024, 20 May 2024, 5
June 2024, 8 July 2024, 10 July 2024, 8 August 2024, 12 August
2024, 18 October 2024, 22 November 2024, 18 December
2024 and 30 December 2024 respectively) with notice given to
the Directors at least 14 days in advance (excluding the interim
meetings). Before each Board meeting, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers have been sent to all Directors at
least three days before the intended date of the Board meeting or
such other period as agreed in advance. The company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is responsible for keeping
all Board meeting’s minutes. The draft and final versions of the
minutes have been circulated to the Directors for comments and
record within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company during the Year is as follows:

N

BEENEAFELELARATNEFTER

EHEBAT :

Meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

HERY BESRLURE
General
Board Meeting
Name of Directors EEUS 55g BRERAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. He Ningning (Chairman) AIEEEE (F/E) 13/13 2/2
Mr. Hu Sanmu (Chief Executive Officer) = ARIE (FTEAEE) 13/13 2/2
Mr. Fan Fugiang SEERMTE 13/13 2/2
INEDs BIUFRTES
Mr. Ko Ping Keung ER\AEE 13/13 2/2
Mr. Ng Sui Yin SRIRBERE
(resigned on 25 March 2024) RZE_MEFE=F_-+5xH N/A
4D 2/2 B
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang TIRERE 13/13 2/2
Ms. Hui Hiu Ching FrEEL L
(appointed on 25 March 2024) MRZEZWEE=BZ=+AH
EZI) 11/11 2/2

During the Year, as part of the commitment to best practices, all
Directors have participated in the discussions in respect of certain
business development of the Group through electronic means of
communication, such as E-mail and instant messaging software.
Such arrangement ensured fast and timely provision of information
to Directors, to supplement the formal Board meetings.

In addition, to meet the requirement of keeping up with the
Group’s business performance by the Directors, a monthly
management report, which contained the financial performance
and key business issues of the Group, was provided to the
Directors by the management of the Company on a monthly basis
throughout the Year. Directors can contact the management of the
Company individually and independently to get more information of
the Group.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) with all measurable objectives set for
implementing the same.

Summary of Board Diversity Policy
A. Purpose

To ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

B. Nomination and appointment

The Nomination Committee will identify eligible candidates
on merit basis based on the Company’s daily business
needs while taking into account the benefit of diversity of the
members of the Board.

C. Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a
number of diversity factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional experience.

D. Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of
the Board in the Company’s Corporate Governance Report
each year and monitor the implementation of this policy.

E. Reviewing this policy

The Nomination Committee will review this policy in due
course to ensure that this policy is effective. The Nomination
Committee will review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually, or as appropriate, to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.
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Board Member Diversity EEEMEZTEIE

The Nomination Committee comprehensively considered the RRHLEZEEGHLREZTE T EFTITMEN
gender, age, region, cultural background, industry experience 15!~ F e ~ &~ IEH R 1TEE R
and professional experience of the Board members. The detailed KREXLBRERNER  EEEFARE
analysis of the relevant factors for Directors is as follows: EOMWEMABIOT

Person-time/the number of

Factors Categories the Board members
FSEA Rl AR/ EEEREAH™
Gender Male 5/6
il B4
Female 1/6
pegis
Age group 30-45 years old 1/6
Fhe a7 30-45/8 5%
46-60 years old 4/6
46-60/8 5%
61-75 years old 1/6
61-758 5%
Region Mainland China 2/6
& FRE K RE
Hong Kong, China 3/6
REEH
Taiwan, China 1/6
FEGE
Identity Executive Director 3/6
515 WITES
Independent Non-executive Director 3/6
BIIFHITES
Profession (Note) Engineering/Technology 2/6
5 (Kat) T /i
Accounting 1/6
EL
Management 3/6
I=$=E
Expertise (Note) Electrical and electronics related industry experience 3/6
2R (W) BR&EFHEEBITTELSR
Science and technology 4/6
B
Other industry experience (banking/finance/energy) 3/6
HAaniT488 (R17 €/ 5ER)
Corporate administration 6/6
BZEITIN
Board members of other listed companies 2/6
HM FHABIEEEME

Note: Directors can have various professional backgrounds and expertise /37 - EE 0 U IEE LA EESSREE
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Measurable Objectives of Board Member Diversity

The Nomination Committee has comprehensively reviewed the
gender, age, region, cultural background, industry experience and
professional experience of the Board members as of the end of the
Year. It considered that the Board has achieved board members
diversity in many aspects, but is relatively homogeneous in terms
of gender. On 25 March 2024, the Company has appointed a
female member as an INED, namely, Ms. Hui Hiu Ching, to achieve
the objective of gender diversity. The Company will also ensure
that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior
level of the Group so that it will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board in the future.

Gender Diversity of Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of 10,609
employees (including non-contractual staff such as staff under
labour service agreements and internship agreements), and the
ratio of male to female employees is approximately 75:25 (As
at 31 December 2023: 73:27). Considering that the Group is
mainly engaged in the research and development, production
and sales business of intelligent vision products, the employees
mainly consist of research and development personnel, technical
personnel and general workers, most of them are generally male,
as a result, the Nomination Committee considered that the current
ratio of male and female employees is relatively balanced.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has developed and adopted a nomination policy
for directors (the “Nomination Policy”), under which appointment
of new Directors or re-election of Directors have been carefully
considered as required by the Nomination Policy and based on
formal procedures. A summary of the Nomination Policy of the
Company is set out below:

A. Purpose

The Nomination Policy is aimed to set out the procedures and
criteria for nominating director candidates of the Company
to ensure that all nominations for the Board members are fair
and transparent, thereby facilitating the efficient and balanced
development of the Board.
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B. Nomination procedures

The Secretary of the Nominating Committee collects
and analyses the necessary personal data submitted by
candidates.

The Chairman of the Nomination Committee will convene
a meeting of the Nomination Committee or circulate a
resolution in writing to the members of the Nomination
Committee to consider matters in accordance with its
terms of reference.

For filling a casual vacancy to the Board or as an
addition to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
conduct the relevant selection process (coupled with
the relevant selection criteria) against the nominated
candidate and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration, and the Board will then make a decision
as to whether the nominated candidate shall be eligible
to be appointed as a director of the Company.

For re-appointing a director of the Company, the
Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant
selection process (coupled with the relevant selection
criteria) against the Director proposed to be re-
appointed and make recommendations to the Board
for consideration, and the Board will then make a
decision as to whether the Director shall be eligible to
be re-appointed as a Director of the Company. if the
Director proposed to be re-elected is an INED who has
served the Board for more than 9 years, the Nomination
Committee shall also assess whether the INED has
remained independent in the context of the Listing Rules
and should be re-elected at the next annual general
meeting of the Company and make recommendations to

the Board for consideration.
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Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be considered by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity

e professional knowledge and industry experience which
may be relevant to the Company

e commitment in respect of available time

e  Board member diversity, including not limited to the
gender, age, ethnicity, language, cultural and educational
background, industry experience and professional
experience

o In case of a candidate for an INED of the Company, the
independence of such candidate will be assessed

Board'’s decision

The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection
and appointment or recommendation (as the case may be) of
candidates for the Company’s directorship, and accordingly,
shall consider the recommendations from the Nomination
Committee and make a decision as to:

1. In relation to new appointment, whether the nominated
candidate shall be eligible to be appointed as a director
of the Company to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board, or (as the case may be) to be nominated
and recommended to the Company’s shareholders for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company; and
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2. In relation to re-appointment, whether the director
shall be eligible to be reappointed as a director of
the Company, and (if such director is an INED of the
Company who has served the Board for more than 9
years and whose re-appointment shall be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by the Company’s
shareholders under the Listing Rules) whether such
INED has remained independent in the context of the
Listing Rules and should be re-elected at the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting, and
among other things, reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of members of the Board, assessed the independence of
the INEDs and recommended to the Board for consideration the
re-appointment of all the retiring Directors and the appointment of
an INED to fill a casual vacancy as Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2024 (the “2024 AGM”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a
balance of power and authority so that power is not concentrated
in any one individual. Mr. He Ningning, Chairman, is responsible
for the management of the Board while Mr. Hu Sanmu, Chief
Executive Officer, is responsible for managing the Group’s business
and overall operations. There is a clear division of responsibilities
between Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee, to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference for the Board committees are
posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

1 04 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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Audit Committee EZZEZEY

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of BWZEZEZTEEEZEBEZERT S
reference in compliance with the CG Code. It comprises three 1TESTH -BIZEE T BOIIE=2BLIF
HMOTES BB (RRELLE
ER-_E_MNE=B-+HBHME -
BRBAERVRFLE FEBL L
EEBZEEGEF-

INEDs, namely Ms. Hui Hiu Ching (Mr. Ng Sui Yin has resigned on
25 March 2024), Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang. Ms.
Hui Hiu Ching is the chairlady of the Audit Committee.

BEZZEENTEZACKRBAESEE
ABRES

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include,
but are not limited to:

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor, and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and handling any questions regarding its
resignation or dismissal;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with
the external auditor on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

developing and implementing a policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services and reporting to
the Board, identifying and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports,
and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems;

discussing the internal control system with the management
to ensure that the management has performed its duty and
have an effective internal control system in place;
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e considering major investigation findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

e ensuring coordination between the internal and external
auditors, ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness;

e reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

° reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

e reviewing the pricing rules of continuing connected
transactions and implementation of transaction caps, etc.;

e ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter; and

e considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings in
total (i.e. on 25 March 2024 and 12 August 2024 respectively)
(the “Audit Committee Meetings”) and reviewed the audited
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the unaudited consolidated results for the six months ended 30
June 2024 of the Company, respectively, including the accounting
principles and practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s
compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code and
disclosure thereof in the relevant annual and interim reports, the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and recommended to
the Board for consideration the same and the re-appointment of
KPMG, Certified Public Accountant, as the Company’s external
auditor at the 2024 AGM.

1 06 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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The attendance of each Director at the Audit Committee Meetings
during the Year is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
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BEENEEELRES
SCERINE

ZEEg

8

No. of Attendance (Note)/
Eligible to attend

HERE Wat)
Name of Directors EEUR FERLEEERY
Mr. Ng Sui Yin (Chairman) RILBLE (F/F) 11
(resigned on 25 March 2024) R_E_NE=F_+EHHEMT
Ms. Hui Hiu Ching (Chairladly) FEBEL T (F/E) 11
(appointed on 25 March 2024) R-E_NE=B_+HHESTE)
Mr. Ko Ping Keung ERMBIzcE 2/2
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang VIRESE 2/2
Note: The Audit Committee Meeting was attended by all the Directorsin ~ ffat " FFiEE SN H B EERETES S

person, not by an alternate.

The Audit Committee held three meetings on 7 January 2025, 17
March 2025 and 8 April 2025, to discuss the plan of audit, and to
review the Company’s draft audited consolidated results for the
Year, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by
the Group, the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
of the CG Code and disclosure in this report, as well as the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and recommended to
the Board for consideration the same and the proposed retirement
of KPMG and the proposed appointment of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountant, as the Company's external
auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Chu
Chia-Hsiang, Ms. Hui Hiu Ching (Mr. Ng Sui Yin has resigned on
25 March 2024) and Mr. Ko Ping Keung. Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

e considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
reasonable and not excessive;

e reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with the contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration;

ompany Limited Annual Report 2024
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e reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

e considering and implementing other matters, as defined or
assigned by the Board or otherwise required by the Listing
Rules from time to time.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
on 25 March 2024 and 5 June 2024, and among other things,
reviewed and recommended to the Board for consideration
certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and senior
management, determined the policy for the remuneration of
executive Directors, assessed performance of executive Directors,
approved the terms of the newly appointed Director and re-
appointed Directors’ remuneration, reviewed and approved the
new Share Scheme, and reviewed and approved the grant of
share options to employees. In respect of grant of options to
grantees on 5 June 2024, having considered that (i) the first
tranche of share options will vest only if the corporate performance
target and the individual performance target are met during the
performance period commencing on 1 January 2024 and ending
on 31 December 2024, which is not less than 12 months, and (ii)
both tranches of share options will vest and be held for a period of
more than 12 months in aggregate, the Remuneration Committee
was of the view that the granting of share options with shorter
vesting periods aligns the interests of the grantees with those of
the Company and the Shareholders, rewards and motivates the
grantees to contribute to the success of the Group and reinforces
their long-term commitment to serve the Group, which are in line
with the objectives of the Share Option Scheme.
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For determining the remuneration packages of each Director,
market rates and factors such as each Director’s workload and
required commitment were taken into account. In addition,
factors comprising economic and market situations, individual
contributions to the Group’s results and development as well
as individual’s potential were considered when determining the
remuneration packages of Executive Directors.

The attendance of each Director at the Remuneration Committee
Meetings during the Year is as follows:

HREERESFZHHFE TBMHS
KFPEREBRAZ MEFZTIFEKRF
AEZEE LN EBERITEE
MEBREBZAREE  KEKRTS
BR-HEAEREERERZER XU
FRBEANZ BERESE o

=3
E27

h=111d

BEERNEAFELHEFNZES S
SCERINE

No. of Attendance (Note)/
Eligible to attend

HERE (H:2)
Name of Directors EEHS EERUETERH
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang (Chairman) NRELRE (F/F) 2/2
Mr. Ng Sui Yin RInESE 11
(resigned on 25 March 2024) RZE_NE=ZBZ+HBHD
Mr. Ko Ping Keung ERBITE 2/2
Ms. Hui Hiu Ching rEET L 1/1
(appointed on 25 March 2024) RIEZNFE=B=+HHEZMD

Note: The Remuneration Committee Meeting was attended by all the

Directors in person, not by an alternate.

Limited Annual Report 2024

M FEEFEHURBEHREHFHNEZESS
& JFRAEALRE-



The Remuneration Committee also held one meeting on 17
March 2025, and reviewed and recommended to the Board for
consideration certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors
and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. It comprises
two INEDs, namely Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang
and an executive Director, namely Mr. He Ningning. Mr. He
Ningning is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include, but are not limited to:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

e assessing the independence of the INEDs;

e developing and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and
reviewing the measurable objectives for implementing such
Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional experience,
and the progress on achieving the objectives; and making
disclosure of its progress and its review results in the annual
report annually; and

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning
for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

Corporate Governance Report
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting on
25 March 2024, and among other things, reviewed the structure,
size, composition and diversity of members of the Board,
assessed the independence of the INEDs and recommended to
the Board for consideration the re-appointment of all the retiring
Directors and the appointment of an INED to fill a casual vacancy
as Directors at the 2024 AGM.

The attendance of each Director at the Nomination Committee
Meetings during the Year is as follows:
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No. of Attendance (Note)/
Eligible to attend

HERE Wat)
Name of Directors EEs EERUETERY
Mr. He Ningning (Chairman) AIEELEE (F/E) 11
Mr. Ko Ping Keung EXR‘BALE 11
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang IERES 1/1

Note: The Nomination Committee Meeting was attended by all the

Directors in person, not by an alternate.

The Nomination Committee also held one meeting on 17 March
2025, and among other things, reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
INEDs and recommended to the Board for considering the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors, namely Mr. He Ningning and
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang at the forthcoming AGM, as well as reviewed
the implementation of the Nomination Policy and the Board’s
Diversity Policy.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee has been established with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Risk Management Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Ko Ping Keung and Ms. Hui Hiu Ching (Mr. Ng Sui Yin has
resigned on 25 March 2024), both INEDs and Mr. Fan Fugiang, an
executive Director. Mr. Ko Ping Keung is the chairman of the Risk
Management Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Risk Management
Committee include, but are not limited to:

e reviewing and assessing the Group’s investment in wealth
management products in terms of whether such investment
complies with its treasury and investment policies, the fund
safety of and the risks associated with such investment;

e reviewing the remedial actions in respect of policy breaches, if
any;

e reviewing the risks associated with, and approving,
the purchase of wealth management products with the
transaction amount exceeding RMB50 million (RMB50 million
exclusive) as requested from time to time;

e reviewing and assessing the expected return of the wealth
management products with similar principal amount, and
the track record of relevant issuers and similar wealth
management products previously sold in the market; and

e considering, reviewing and approving the amendments to the
Group’s policies and requirements in respect of the operation
and risk control of the Group’s wealth management products.

During the Year, the Risk Management Committee held two
meetings in total (i.e. on 25 March 2024 and 12 August 2024) (the
“Risk Management Committee Meetings”). At the above meetings,
the Risk Management Committee reviewed and assessed the
Group’s wealth management product investment in terms of
whether such investment have complied with the Group’s treasury
and investment policies, the fund safety of and risks associated
with such investment, reviewed the status such as debt asset
ratio, operating cash flow and gearing ratio of the Company,
reviewed the legal system compliance management, reviewed
the tax dispute of the Group in India, and reviewed the Group’s

treasury policy.
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The attendance of each member of the Risk Management
Committee Meetings during the Year is as follows:

BERERAFELFEEREEZE S
GEICHAT

No. of Attendance (Note)/
Eligible to attend

HERE H1:2)

Name of Directors EEH4A FEREEEERY

Mr. Ko Ping Keung (Chairman) SERBLE (FF) 2/2

Mr. Ng Sui Yin RIRESLE 11
(resigned on 25 March 2024) MRZE-_NE=ZB=+H BT

Mr. Fan Fugiang MERiE 2/2

Ms. Hui Hiu Ching HEET T 1/1

(appointed on 25 March 2024)

Note: The Risk Management Committee Meeting was attended by all the

Directors in person, not by an alternate.

The Risk Management Committee also held a meeting on 17
March 2025, and reviewed and assessed the Group’s wealth
management product investment in terms of whether such
investment has complied with the Group’s treasury and investment
policies, the fund safety of and risks associated with such
investment, reviewed the status such as debt asset ratio, operating
cash flow, gearing ratio and contingent liabilities of the Company,
assessed whether the operating cash of the Group is sufficient
and the control policies of liquidity risks, reviewed the tax dispute
of the Group in India, and also reviewed the treasury policy of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors though having delegated
the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include, but are not limited to:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors
management;

and senior
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e reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Directors has entered into a service contract or
appointment letter with our Company for a term of three years
upon his or her appointment. A renewed service contract or
appointment letter for a further term of three years has been or will
be entered into between each Director and our Company upon
expiry of the then current term.

None of the Directors has a service contract/letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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All the Directors,
by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Article 84 of Articles of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is less than three or

including the INEDs, are subject to retirement

a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director will be subject to retirement at the AGM at least once
every three years. A retiring Director will be eligible for re-election
and will continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at
which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation will include (so
far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by
rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to Article
83(3) of Articles of Association shall not be taken into account in
determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. He Ningning and
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being
eligible will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the
Group (other than the Directors) whose particulars are contained
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the Year by band is set out
below:
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Number of individuals

Remuneration band (in RMB) HENAER (AR AT &HE
Nil to 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 2
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,0017c & 1,500,0007¢ 1
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, KPMG was engaged as the independent auditor of
the Company and certain subsidiaries.

The remuneration paid/payable to KPMG, the auditor, for the
services provided during the Year is set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Bt EEER
RMB’000
Services AR 7% AR¥F
Audit service: *‘Eﬂﬂﬁk 5
Annual audit service for 2024 “ETYFEFEETRE 2,076
A share IPO audit service* ARB R RBEEFT R 13,573
Non-audit service: JEFEFARTS -
Review of 2024 interim results ER S _WEREAEE 660
Total 4ESt 16,309

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14
April 2025, KPMG will retire as the auditor of the Company
at the conclusion of the AGM upon expiration of its term of
office, and will not be re-appointed. While the Board, with the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, proposed to appoint
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the new auditor of the Company with
a term from the date of conclusion of the AGM until the date of
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Kunshan QT China, which is one of the Company’s subsidiaries,
submitted the listing application for the proposed initial public
offering of its A shares to be listed in ChiNext of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (the “A Share IPO”) in June 2021, and withdrew
the relevant application in October 2024. Please refer to relevant
Company’s announcements and note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this report for details.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, KPMG has stated in the independent auditor’s report
its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at all times.
The Company has adopted a series of internal control policies
and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance for
achieving objectives including effective and efficient operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Company has established internal
control measures led by the Board whereby the management
is responsible for assisting the Board of Directors in completing
the identification and evaluation of risk factors of the business
systems, implementing the Company’s policies and procedures
and participating in the design and operation of such measures
that meet the Company’s management requirements, which
provides reliable assurance for the Company to carry out its
business to prevent the occurrence of significant operational
risks and losses. The Group also has an internal audit and
risk control function which primarily carries out analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of its
risk management and internal control systems, and reports their
findings to the Board on, at least, an annual basis. The systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and provide only reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Highlights of our internal control system include the following:
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e  Code of conduct — The Company’s code of conduct explicitly
communicates to each employee its values, acceptable
criteria for decision-making and its ground rules for behaviour.

° Management of related party transactions — The Group will
continue to enhance its internal control and only enter into
transactions with related parties that are carried out in the
ordinary course of its business and on normal commercial
terms and are in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

° Internal audit — The Group’s internal audit function regularly
monitors key controls and procedures in order to assure its
management and the Board that the internal control system is
functioning as intended. The Audit Committee is responsible
for supervising the internal audit function.

e Compliance with the Listing Rules and relevant laws
and regulations — The Group will continue to monitor
its compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
its senior management team will work closely with the
Group’s employees to implement actions required to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The Company
will also continue to arrange for various trainings to be
provided by its Hong Kong legal advisers or other professional
parties to the Directors and senior management on the
Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects related to
corporate governance and connected transactions, and by its
legal advisers in PRC on PRC laws and regulations.

The Audit Committee and the Board have conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. The Directors (including the INEDs) consider that the
internal control measures of the Company are adequate and
effective.

The Board has resolved to adopt a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism, to ensure independent view and input
are available to the Board. The Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism includes various measures to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board.
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The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent
non-executive Directors that represent at least one-third of the
Board, such that there is always a strong element of independence
on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment.
Each independent non-executive Director is required to provide
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company
and the nomination committee of the Company is responsible
to assess the independence of each independent non-executive
Director at least annually.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. All Directors have full
and timely access to all the information of the Company and may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their
duties to the Company.

The chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent
non-executive Directors without the involvement of other Directors
at least once annually to discuss any issues and concerns. Any
Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such
Director will be required to declare his/her interests before the
meeting and abstain from voting and not counted towards the
quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose associates, have no interest in the
matter should attend the Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism is effective in ensuring that

independent views and input are provided to the Board during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Dissemination of inside information

The Group has in place a framework for the disclosure of
inside information by reference to the Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information issued by the SFC. The framework sets
out the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in an appropriate and timely
manner, such as steps to ascertain sufficient details, conduct
internal assessment of the matter and its likely impact on the
Company, seek professional advice where required and verification
of the facts. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public,
any persons who possess the knowledge of such information
must ensure strict confidentiality and must not deal in any of the
Company’s securities.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has formulated internal policies including the “Integrity,
Self-discipline and Anti-fraud Management System”, and
established an effective whistle-blowing system. On the one hand,
the establishment of whistle-blowing policies and systems aims to
strengthen internal integrity management and ensure a healthy and
sustainable development for the Group; on the other hand, those
who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) can raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee
about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.

In order to effectively prevent fraud, the Group has set up a
special whistle-blowing mailbox to encourage employees and
others who deal with the Group to report disciplinary violations
through e-mail and other means. The Group also sets up special
auditors to regularly inspect whether the whistle-blowing channel
is effective, investigate and report the reported matters, and assist
the management in carrying out remedial measures.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company appointed Mr. Cheng Zhihua (“Mr. Cheng”) as the
Company Secretary of the Company on 21 November 2017

Mr. Cheng is an external service provider to the Company and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(in compliance with Note 1 to Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules). The
primary contact person between the Company and Mr. Cheng is
Mr. Fan Fugiang, an executive Director.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and/or the Chief
Executive Officer. All members of the Board have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. The appointment
and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s
approval.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals
or make a motion at the annual general meetings under the
memorandum of association of the Company and the Articles
of Association (the “M&A”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands.
Shareholders who wish to make proposals or make a motion may,
however, convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than ten percent of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to require an EGM to be called by
the Board or the Company Secretary for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, including making proposals
or making a motion at the EGM.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the
purpose of making proposals or making a motion at the EGM
must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong (Room 828, 8/F, Topsalil
Plaza, 11 On Sum Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong) for
the attention of the Company Secretary and/or Directors of the
Company.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the
Company, the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed
agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s) made
or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the
EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order, the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails
to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as
a result of the failure of the Board to convene an EGM shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquires to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board of the Company by addressing
them to the principal place of business of the Company,
at Room 828, 8/F, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong by post or by email
to Mr. Cheng Zhihua at tonycheng128@yahoo.com.hk
or investor relations department of the Company at
Qtech1478@qtechsmartvision.com, for the attention of the
Company Secretary and/or the investor relations department.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary and/or the
investor relations department will forward the communications
relating to:

1.  matters within the Directors’ purview to the executive
Directors of the Company;

2. matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to
the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and customer complaints to the appropriate management of
the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Group had been disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 20 November 2014.

The payment and the amount of any dividends, if paid, will depend
on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividends by the Company, future prospects and other factors
that the Board may consider relevant. Holders of the Shares
will be entitled to receive such dividends pro rata according to
the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the Shares. The
declaration, payment and amount of dividends will be subject to
discretion by the Board of the Company.
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Dividends may be paid only out of the Company’s distributable
profits and/or reserves (including share premium account) as
permitted under the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company and the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands.
To the extent profits are distributed as dividends, such portion of
profits will not be available to be reinvested in operations of the
Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount set out in
any plan of the Board or at all. The dividend distribution record in
the past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the
level of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
the future.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted and amended the Shareholders’
communication policy on 6 December 2022 with the aim of
providing Shareholders and investors (including potential investors)
with equal and timely access to information about the Company,
in order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and to allow them to actively participate in the
affairs of the Company, where appropriate, and to facilitate the
effective communication between Shareholders and investors and
the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders mainly
through the Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other general
meetings that may be convened as well as all the disclosures
submitted to the Stock Exchange. The Company has set up its
website, http://www.gtechsmartvision.com. Information disclosed
by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange will also
be published on the Company’s website immediately. For further
details of the Shareholders’ communication policy, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 6 December 2022. Having
reviewed the implementation of above measures, the Company is
of the view the shareholders’ communication policy is effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 25 March 2024, the Company amended its articles of
association (the “Articles”) to (i) reflect and align with the new
requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime
and the electronic dissemination of corporate communications
by listed issuers under the amendments on the Listing Rules
with effect from 31 December 2023;
requirements of the Listing Rules and company law of the
Cayman Islands; and (i) make other consequential,
and housekeeping amendments (Collectively, the “Proposed

(ii) reflect other relevant
tidy-up
Amendments”).

Company proposed to adopt a new set of amended and restated
articles of association (the “Amended and Restated Articles”) in

In light of the Proposed Amendments, the

substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing Articles. The
Proposed Amendments and the adoption of the Amended and
Restated Articles had been approved by the Shareholders at the
2024 AGM and become effective upon such approval. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 25
March 2024 and the circular of the 2024 AGM.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company during the Year.
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About this Report

This report is the ninth Environmental, Social and Governance
Report publicly released by Q Technology (Group) Company
Limited, which aims to disclose the relevant performance and
impact of the Group on environmental, social and governance
issues (‘ESG”). For corporate governance, please refer to pages
91 to 126 of this annual report.

The Board understands its responsibility of ensuring the integrity
of this report. This report discloses the performance and impact
of all material topics related to the Group and fairly illustrates
the performance of the Group on each topic. The Board has
reviewed this report and confirmed the accuracy, truthfulness and
completeness of its contents.

Reporting Guideline and Principles

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Appendix
C2 “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code” to
the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and based
on the actual conditions of the Group. This report adheres to the
reporting principle of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”, “Balance” and
“Consistency” in presenting the changes in data in a way that
allows year-on-year comparison, which truly reflects the ESG
performance of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Reporting Boundary

The data collection of this report covers the production base
and the headquarters located in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province,
China, and the production base in India, where the Group’s major
business activities occur. After considering that the Group’s offices
located in other places such as Hong Kong, Korea, Shenzhen,
Huizhou and Taiwan, which are of supporting nature or with
revenue accounting for less than ten percent of the Group, their
economic activities do not have significant social or environmental
impacts and are therefore not included in the reporting scope.
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Reporting Period

The reporting period (the "Reporting Period") is the financial year
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

Feedbacks

We are committed to disclosing comprehensive and accurate ESG
information to our stakeholders and you are welcome to provide
opinions and advice on this report through the following contact
methods:

Q Technology (Group) Company Limited

Address: Room 828, 8/F, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street,
Sha Tin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Email: gtech1478@qtechsmartvision.com

Website: http://www.gtechsmartvision.com

Annual Report 2024
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Chairman’s Message
Dear stakeholders,

Looking back to 2024, the global economic landscape continues
to be turbulent, the aftermath of geopolitical conflicts has not
yet subsided, the barriers of trade protectionism continue to be
raised, and the monetary policies of major economies continue to
be tightened, which are a series of factors intertwined and have
made the global macroeconomic situation even more complex
and unpredictable. Under such an environment, as a key player
in the field of intelligent vision hardware solutions, we are facing
unprecedented challenges. However, with in-depth communication
and close cooperation with various stakeholders, we successfully
broke through the situation and achieved remarkable results
in technological innovation, customer expansion and product
optimization. While pursuing corporate economic benefits and
enhancing shareholder returns, we have actively responded to
the national call to accelerate innovation, optimize the energy
structure, and help the country achieve the goal of carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality. In addition, we also continue to
improve our policies and measures on issues such as climate
change, employee rights protection, and anti-corruption, in order
to promote the sustainable development of the enterprise and
society.

“Regarding environmental protection as our due
responsibilities”

Electricity is the most consumed energy category in the production
of intelligent vision products, and is also the main source of
carbon emissions in the industry. With excellent performance in
green manufacturing, the Company was honored to be listed on
the national “Green Factory” list, and the level of green and low-
carbon development of the enterprise has been continuously
upgraded and re-recognized. The Company has always been
adhering to the environmental protection policy of “Prevention first,
Awareness first, Energy saving and consumption reduction, Taking
responsibility, Compliance with laws and regulations, Sustainable
development”, and is committed to sharing health with society and
sharing a better life with customers. The awarding of the national
“Green Factory” is a high recognition of our green manufacturing
practice by the national authority, and a high affirmation of our
commitment to green and low-carbon, continuous innovative
development.
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“Upholding striver spirit”

Employees are the core driving force of the Company's
development. In 2024, we continued to deepen our employee
training system, not only increasing the training budget, but also
further enriching the content and forms of training. We introduced
more cutting-edge technology courses and real-world case studies
into our Eaglet Class training program to help new employees to
integrate into the Company and master core skills more quickly.
At the same time, we expanded the breadth and depth of our
grassroots cadre training program and launched the “Learning to
Strengthen Our Force”, a project-centered learning organization
and talent pipeline. In addition, our environmental safety
department has further strengthened the occupational safety and
health management system, organized regular special training
and emergency drills, and improved safety protection facilities in
the workplace, so as to minimize the risk of occupational hazards
faced by our employees, and to create a safe and healthy working
environment for them.

“Centring on customer experience”

During the Year, we insisted on implementing the development
blueprint as set out in the “Five-Year (2021-2025) Business
Development Strategic Plan of Q Technology (Group) Company
Limited”. We will continue to grasp the opportunities of the Al era,
practicing Lead to Cash (LTC) change, pilot and implement several
projects effectively, move forward in the field of smartphone, smart
vehicle and the |oT, proactively enhance our ability building in three
areas, namely optical designs, computational imaging and system
integration, make continuous progress in three aspects, namely
product function, performance and size, provide quality services
to our customers, and strive to realize our vision “to illuminate
machines”.

High-quality suppliers were the key to ensuring the quality of
the products we provide. As always, we attached significant
importance to supplier management. In addition to the basic
qualifications and production capacity of suppliers, we also paid
attention to their performance at the ESG level, and strived to
maintain a stable and sustainable supply chain. On the other
hand, as our products emphasize innovation in structural design,
production process and material usage, we will continue to pay
more attention to the protection of intellectual property rights
to regulate patent application and management work, so as to
protect our employees' achievements in R&D and innovation on
the one hand, and prevent infringement and plagiarism on the
other.
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We would like to express our sincere gratitude to all stakeholders
for their lasting affirmation and support. While developing our
business, we will strengthen our governance in the field of
sustainable development, and strive to create greater value for our
partners, customers, investors and other stakeholders.

He Ningning
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
14 April 2025
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Sustainable Development Management

ESG Strategy

The Group adopts the sustainable development goals advocated
by the United Nations and formulated a sustainable development
strategy based on its own operating conditions, in order to make
contribution to facilitate the achievement of global sustainable
development goals. We identified three sustainable development
goals with significant connection to the Group’s operation, namely
Goal 8 Decent Work and Economic Growth, Goal 12 Responsible
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Consumption and Production and Goal 16 Peace, Justice
and Strong Institutions. We will incorporate these sustainable
development goals into our sustainable development strategy.
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To establish a smooth communication
channel, provide a safe and decent
working environment and offer good
welfare package in order to achieve
mutual development with the staff
members
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To persist in the requirement of integrity
in the course of cooperation with
customers and suppliers, and ensure
the product and service quality and
stable supplier management to achieve
a win-win situation
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To implement green procurement, ensure
the source of raw materials meeting
environmental protection requirements,
minimise the generation of hazardous
waste and ensure compliant treatment
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The connection between the sustainable development strategy of the Company and
the sustainable development goals of United Nations
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ESG Governance Structure

The Board is responsible for the supervision of the Group’s ESG
work and assumes full responsibilities for the ESG reporting
work. The Group has established a cross-department ESG task
force which is responsible for reporting the Group’s relevant ESG
work performance to the Board on a regular basis and assisting
the Board in formulating the Group’s sustainable development
strategy, regularly reviewing ESG goals and monitoring significant

risks and opportunities.

The ESG task force members from various departments, including
the process department, the office of the board of directors,
the administrative management department, the general affairs
department, the human resources department, the procurement BE&
centre, the technology centre, the marketing centre and quality
assurance centre, are responsible for monitoring the ESG
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indicators in relation to their roles and setting relevant goals.

The highest authority for ESG affairs

that is responsible for the overall
supervision and allocation of resources for
implementation of the work required
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The overall coordinating organisation for
ESG work which shall report the ESG
work performance to the Board and assist
the Board in formulating sustainable
development strategy and reviewing goals
ESGIERE HRME  NESGER
ESGIERIR > MBESGHIE B
BB R iRt BAR

The departments of the ESG
task force members which are

ESG task force
ESGT fE/\4

)

responsible for implementing
the work requirements of the
Board on ESG affairs
ESGI{E/NMEMESFY &8
ﬂg%?@iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@ﬂ’ﬁ
s

The ESG work responsibility of
each department
H AR PIMESGITIEBE

Office of the
board of
directors

BEEENMAE

Organizing
the ESG
information
collection and
reporting
HEESGE B
ERER

Procurement
Administration ?57)?%1'5;%\
def_—fgyn;[? nt Human resources Teoh}nio/rllgg IE?”tre Process
Al
General affairs %%agpegt Marketing centre CE:
department RED SE N TRAZE
g s Quality assurance
centre
@EFL
Responsible Responsible Responsible Responsible
for environmental for‘talent recruitment, for supply chain for jointly establishing
management training development, management, a process system that
work and community product responsibility ~ meets international
reporting participation and affairs and the or national
SBIBEET jointly managing establishment of standards with
ERER occupational health integrity business other departments

and safety with
the administration

model with partners

and supervising the

department BEHREESENE implementation
B \AiER .y @mAEEEC MRS SERAZBAMPL
FERMEL AT (FBHRBIRZIEX REUNSERNE
T BT RS B KIRENRZHE
CERERREZS W BB EMITER

20245 5% Bk (@) BRAT {133



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR B RERHRS

Under the coordination by the office of the board of directors,
the ESG task force collects and consolidates the information that
requires to be disclosed on a yearly basis and reports to the Board
in form of reports. The Board will constantly review the Group’s
relevant ESG performance and the reports periodically submitted
by the ESG task force, supervise the effective implementation of
sustainable development strategies, and ensure the alignment of
the ESG strategy with the Company’s operation strategy.

Establishment and Review of ESG Goals

Each department of the ESG task force shall set up monitoring
indicators and goals addressing the issues they are in charge
of. The process department and the relevant departments will
regularly review the achievement of goals. The ESG task force of
the Group has been regularly reviewing the goals concerning the
environment, safety, supply chain and product, and periodically
reporting to the Board the progress and achievement of goals.

Environmental indicator
RIBIEE

Safety indicator
Z 2151

Number of chemical
leakage incidents
E2mBREEHRE

Electricity
consumption per
product
SHEmRAES

Number of fire
incidents

KRR

Water consumption
per productE
BHERABKE

Paper consumption
per product
SHERRARSE

Wastewater
discharge
er month

L e

Passing rate of
the Three Wastes
inspection
ZERAGRE

Emission goal of
_greenhouse gas
BERBHHRER

Supply chain indicator
HAESR IR

Reasonable allocation
of procurement
proportion
BIED IR R

Number of on-site
inspections
RSB ZRE

HEFEWAEEEMRE ESGIIE/N
MEFWEREGMBERERGS X
BREWANEFEFLER - EFTH
BERAEEESGHERE LIFRIKEKRESG
TRNEERRRNERS  BEREE
LERBBENAIEE  UIKBRESGE
BREA N B S EBBE — B o

ESGE & E M igsd

ESGIE/NEA X R AEBF PI8t B HL PRy
EENZERUGRERMBR - RE
MERFEB ST EHEIBEERNE
iR e REBESGIE/NVEBRIEE
HERRRE - 22 HEEUREREB
BT ERRNEFSEREFEREE
R Bl R

Product indicator

EmisiR

= Product production
yield
EmEERE

\ Patents

The ESG performance monitoring indicators of Q Technology
AR FIIRESGHRIBE FI51Z
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ESG Risk Management

The Group regards ESG as an important part of facilitating the
implementation of corporate development strategy and it is
committed to creating value for all stakeholders. The ESG task
force organises communication with stakeholders regularly,
including employees, customers, investors and suppliers, to sum
up their opinions on ESG issues which have significant impact on
the Group, and identifies relevant ESG risks based on the relevant
ESG risk evaluation results from all departments.

In accordance with the requirements of the relevant ESG issue
management system, all departments regularly carry out work
evaluation, including supply risk management, talent appraisal
and environment target assessment. In consolidation of internal
assessment results and external communication feedbacks, the
Group endeavours to lower the ESG risks and capture relevant

opportunities.

Through a 4-step procedure, namely identification, prioritisation,
verification and review, the Group identifies important issues which
are closely related to the daily operation of the Group and highly
concerned by the stakeholders, and thereby prioritising actions to
meet the needs of all parties.

nvirohiheritai, Social_ ahd Govefnance Report |

IRIR HERERHRS
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Review e Review the processes of assessing the material topics and identify areas for improvement
R R EE M RETGHIERE  #E ST E

Materiality assessment process

BE ML BE

We sequenced the potential material topics according to the
scores given by the stakeholders and the management of the
Group. The 7 topics at level 1 were the material topics of the
Group which had substantial impact on both or either the Group
or the stakeholders. The materiality assessment results were
reviewed and approved by the management of the Group.

ited Annual Report 2024
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IRIR (L ERERRS

Level 1 8—ER
e Ensure product and service

% quality
g BRRERRREEE
£ e Anti-corruption
s REE
S e Customer satisfaction
=4 ERREE
© B e Customer privacy protection
£ Level 1 R E{RE
2w EFE—EBNX e Supply chain management
£ B e e
g ﬂ Level 2 e Intellectual property
[Gjan E_EBRX protection
- = - .
S R 58 EE R (R 5
g A e Occupational safety and
§%’I health
D BEZERER
5 W
(0]
2
S
.:;')’ Impact on stakeholders’ assessment and decision making
HH) mAB R G S ENRER N R 2
Level 2 E_B%x Level 3 =R Level 4 EME R
e Customer/user health and e Green procurement e Exhaust gas management and
safety RERE emission reduction
ER/BEREREZR e Hazardous waste BEREE KR
e Employee communication management and e \Wastewater discharge and
channels emission reduction reduction
BIEBRE 1& b B 2= W) B 1B R R Bk 75 IK BET R Rk
e Staff retention and benefits e Packaging material e Ecology protection
BT B RER consumption EREfREE
e Community investment BEEYRFE B e Water resources management
HERE e Energy management and and conservation
e Staff training and promotion conservation IKEREBRELN
BT EIIRE A SR B IEREA e General waste management
e Employee diversity e Human rights and emission reduction
BI%it N —REEYEIE KRB
e Child labour and forced e Anti-discrimination
labour prevention measures &I 58
BT KsRiblss TR B i e Social investment
HERE
e Response to climate change
FEH RIZEE

Materiality matrix
EHTAEE
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Response to the Material Topics

Governance Report.

[ClfEEE 1t %E

Material Topics

BEHMEE

The Group’s Major Actions in 2024
SEER-_SNENTETH

Corresponding
Sections

HESHE

Ensuring product
and service
quality

M AR fo R AR 75
H2E

Analysing the technical capability of satisfying contracts and
orders

71w & B 3R] B B B AT BE

Carrying out product quality inspection on raw materials,
production process, product finishing process and shipment

process
HEMN - HEAE - HaeE HERRETEREENR

Performing static prevention at anti-static areas and
inspecting the workplace regularly
R EIFeMFFENEEG I THRRIFR

Updating 1ISO9001:2015 quality management system
certificate
BHIFAISO001:. 2015 HEEERAEE

Holding ANSI/ESD S20.20:2021 electrostatic discharge
control program certificate
FFBANSI/ESD S20.20:2021FF B ERBRFE

Quality Assurance
B ERE

Anti-corruption

REBE

Prohibiting direct or indirect solicitation or maintenance of
business relationships by way of bribery or rebate

BEMUBR DNFTAERABRERREBHFHR

Prohibiting employees from abusing their job positions to
obtain or illegally accepting properties
BRETINABB ZERNEIFENZTY

Eliminating the undesirable phenomenon of appointment by
favouritism

HEEABERNTRER

Encouraging the report of corruption

SERBBETR
Regularly organising training and promotion of business ethics

for all employees
EHR2RETHEREBETIEIIREEEE

Building Integrity
BRREER

Customer
satisfaction

BERMEE

Promptly negotiating with clients and implementing measures
such as product exchange or repair, if defective product is
found after product delivery

RNERBERAGED KERZRHE  REAE - EE
L8

Promptly making confirmation and carrying out counter
measures after receiving complaints from customers

BRERZPRHFERR  REFREDIREEHER

Addressing client complaints and formulating short-term and
long-term improvement measures to fundamentally improve
customer service

HHEZRARFEM FIEEBPRRANEEK  EREALNE
= R AR

Quality Assurance
B 2R
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IRIR HERERHRS

Material Topics

HEMZE

The Group’s Major Actions in 2024
AEBMPBR_TMNENETET

Corresponding
Sections

HESH

Customer privacy
protection
EE M ER#E

Holding the information security management system ISO/
IEC27001:2013 certification
RHAEEEZE2EERAISO/IEC27001:2013R:F

Evaluating information risk and determining responsible
department, method and time for risk handling
EEERE BERRBIESERM S HIERERE

Providing employees with information security training
HETETERZE2EI

Arranging security inspections, installing surveillance
equipment and access control permissions for the entrances
and exits of the production area

FERELANRREZR ZREZT EHPIRFIREE

Information
Security
E=$:%2

Supply chain
management

HEEEEE

Carrying out information collection and on-site investigation
on new suppliers and requiring suppliers to perform self-
assessment

HMHEEBETENRERREE R UERERBET BN

Performing quarterly and annual review on qualified suppliers,
as well as unscheduled unannounced audits
HERERBETZEERFESZ LETATEHRERZ

Signing contract terms in relation to “Corporate Social
Responsibility” and “Supplier Environmental Substance
Management” with suppliers
BEHEEEE(REMEEE)R(HERRFRYESENERN

G EMRR

All suppliers are required to conduct annual self-inspection

ERFAEHEBEBFEEEER

Supplier
Management
HEEEIE

Intellectual
property
protection

A E R IR 5E

Updating the GB/T 29490-2013 Intellectual Property
Management System Certificate
EMFAGB/T 29490- 2013 MIH EREERBRFS

Engaging patent firms to assist in screening to ensure no
infringement risk

SNEBFHPRE RN REERR

A total of 183 applications for intellectual property registration
were filed during the Year
FAEHIERI18IBMH AT MEPFE

Offering invention rewards to patent inventors

HEFERARHEERAREDS

R&D Innovation
off 22 Bl
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Material Topics The Group’s Major Actions in 2024
BEMEE FEAR_S_NENEETH

Corresponding
Sections

HESH

e  Updating the ISO45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety
Management Systems Certificate

BHEFEISO45001: 2018 X EELZEEERARSE

e  Carrying out potential hazard inspection and performing
rectification on the potential hazard identified

REHE HHEA LR By

e  Carrying out stringent management over procurement, storage
and stock-out process of chemicals

HEEmMRBE AR HEFBREETHRRER

e  Emergency drills are conducted several times throughout
the Year, including fire evacuation drills, chemical leakage
emergency drills, construction safety emergency drills, and
hazardous waste leakage emergency drills, etc.

Occupational EEEETEZREZEE @FEHBFRIEE L2 RREE
safety and health 2EE HMILZEREERCERIREZEESE
B olfEE

° Displaying safety risk notice and sign at places where risk
exists

A REAM S RE 22 ERES IR

e  For chemicals, formulate “Education and Training on Key
Controlled Chemicals”, “Specifications for the Storage and
Use of Hazardous Chemicals” and “Specifications for the Use

» o«

of Precursor and Explosive Chemicals” and other education
and training materials
HERNE2RHE(EREZCE2RBEZI (ERIEE2R
FREBAERRHB) R(ZFEIFRC2RERR[E) FH
Bl

e  Providing health checkups to new employees or existing
employees facing occupational hazard

METHEHBECENERE TETHERERR

Occupational
Safety and Health
BELPERERE

ympany Limited Annual Report 2024




Environmental Management

The Group endeavours to minimise the impact of its operation
on the environment through measures including optimised
emission management, risk sources monitoring and resources
conservation. The Group is certified with Environmental
Management System 1SO14001, Energy Management
System [ISO50001, Greenhouse Gas Management System
ISO14064 and Standard on Requirements and Guidelines
for Quantifying the Carbon Footprint of Products 1ISO14067,
and the Group has formulated a “Management Manual”
according to international standards which specified the
responsibilities of each department. The general manager
guides the organisation of environmental, safety management,
energy and carbon peak and neutrality system and allocates
manpower, equipment, technology and other resources from
each department to implement the internal environmental and
energy approach and goals. At the same time, the Group
has adopted a series of environmental risk source monitoring
measures, mainly including setting up monitoring systems in
major production sections and key risk sources, setting up
flammable gas alarms in chemical warehouses, establishing
a plant-wide inspection system for major risk sources,
and placing signs of emergency response measures in the
workshops and key positions of each section.

— -

nvironmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR HERERHRS

— IRIREE

AEBRONBBESHREE
R REZERGBAEREENK B
BEEHRENFE AEEDE
BIRIBEEERE A1S014001  fER
EIRFERISO50001  BREREEIE
B8 21S01406458 58 LU K21SO14067
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BEHPFBE-IRE - Z28E 5
FEREARABRAKIESAE
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Environmental, Social and

The Group actively responded to the national call to further
accelerate innovation, optimize the energy structure, and
assist the country in striving to reach its carbon emissions
peak by 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. With
excellent performance in green manufacturing, the Company
was honored to be listed on the national “Green Factory”
list, and the level of green and low-carbon development
of the enterprise has been continuously upgraded and re-
recognized. The Company has always been adhering to
the environmental protection policy of “Prevention first,
Awareness first, Energy saving and consumption reduction,
Taking responsibility, Compliance with laws and regulations,
Sustainable development”, and is committed to sharing health
with society and sharing a better life with customers. The
awarding of the national “Green Factory” is a high recognition
of our green manufacturing practice by the national authority,
and a high affirmation of our commitment to green and low-
carbon, continuous innovative development. Meanwhile, we
have been tracking the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions
for years, and have gradually set reduction targets of
greenhouse gas emission, in a bid to reduce our carbon
footprint by saving electricity. As a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the Group has calculated and
monitored the total annual greenhouse gas emissions and
product-based intensity in accordance with the reporting
guidelines for environmental key performance indicators in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” since 2020,
and formulated the Group's emission reduction target: using
2021 as the base year and 2030 as the target year, to reduce
carbon emissions per unit of sales volume by 10% relative
to the base year. This will be achieved mainly through the
reduction of electricity consumption.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to exhaust and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous or non-hazardous waste.

Resources Consumption

Energy

During the Year, the Group's total energy consumption was
approximately 649,015 GJ with an energy consumption
intensity of approximately 1.09 GJ per thousand of
product sales, representing a year-on-year decrease of
19.83%. Electricity is the main energy consumption of the
Group's operations, used for production facilities and office
equipment. The overall electricity consumption during the
Year was approximately 179,930,111 kWh, a decrease of
approximately 0.7% compared to the Previous Year. We
also consumed approximately 39,730 litres of gasoline
and 12,688 litres of diesel fuel for vehicle transportation,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 22.8%
and an increase of approximately 50.5%, respectively, and
approximately 3,745 litres of diesel fuel for the temporary
power supply during the suspension of high voltage power
distribution room for maintenance, representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 5 times.

The manufacturing of precision components has a relatively
high requirement on the production site, such as powerful
air-conditioning and ventilation system in the clean rooms.
As such, the Group proactively adopts various energy-
saving measures to enhance energy efficiency and reduce
the energy consumption in its operation. In 2024, the Group
continued to achieve energy saving and emission reduction,
strengthened the comprehensive utilization of resources,
continued to promote the transformation of frequency
conversion motors, automatically switch on and off the
machines in the clean rooms according to the season, and
changed the conventional lightings in the plant to energy-
saving LED lightings, and integrated air-compressed cooling
water systems, etc. to reduce waste of electricity through
management means, in order to increase the proportion of
renewable energy use.

IRIR HERERHRS
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The use of fuel for the Group’s vehicles, as well as the use
of liquefied petroleum gas and diesel in factories, produced
Scope 1 (direct emissions) greenhouse gas emission, which
during the Year was approximately 106 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent. The source of Scope 2 (indirect emissions)
was purchased electricity, which emitted approximately
109,775 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. The total
emissions during the Year were approximately 109,881
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, and the emission
intensity was approximately 0.18 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent per thousand of products sales, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 19.3%.

Water resources

The major usages of water resources of the Group were water
for production, domestic water, greening and replenishment
of cooling tower, water screens and water for spray tower.
The data collection boundary during the Year incorporated
India Q Tech due to the increase in the proportion of India Q
Tech in the Group's revenue. During the Year, we consumed
approximately 1,826,438 m® of municipal water, representing
an increase of 14.7% as compared to that of last year, while
the total water consumption intensity was approximately 3.07
m? per thousand of products sales, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 6.8%. There were no issues in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose during the Year.

The general affairs department recorded and analysed the
production and domestic water consumption and regularly
inspected the water pipe equipment to prevent water leakage.
We reused the wastewater generated from production in
the flushing system in toilets in replace of fresh water. The
Group is committed to reusing waste water to preserve water
resources, and at the same time, minimising the harm of
waste water to the ecological environment, in order to ensure
the appropriate balance of economic development, social
responsibility and ecological conservation.
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Ill. Emission Monitoring and Control

The Group strictly monitors and controls the emission of the
wastewater, exhaust gas and waste (the “Three Wastes”)
and generation of noise and ensures that the emission is in
compliance with the requirement of statutory standards. We
have set up emission targets for wastewater, exhaust gas and
noise and commissioned professional third-party institutions
for environmental inspection, achieving 100% complied
emission during the Year and 100% passing rate of the Three
Wastes inspection.

Waste

During the daily production, the Group established
the Management Regulation for Waste Chemicals and
Materials which stipulated the classification, collection and
treatment procedure of hazardous wastes of all production
departments. Hazardous waste was required to be stored
in specific containers and shall be processed by third-
party institutions recognised by the government, which
shall be engaged by the administration department. The
relevant records shall be regularly reported on the official
website of the local environmental authority of the place
where the production base was located. During the Year, the
Group transferred approximately 232 tonnes of hazardous
waste to qualified third-party institutions, with an intensity
of approximately 0.39 kg per thousand of products sales,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 46.1%. As India
Q Tech does not manufacture fingerprint recognition
module products involving spray coating process, there
is no hazardous waste generated that requires third party
treatment.

During the Year, the Group generated approximately 2,371
tonnes of non-hazardous waste in aggregate, with an intensity
of approximately 3.98 kg per thousand of products sales,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.8%. Among
which approximately 1,270 tonnes of the non-hazardous
waste was domestic waste, and the rest was industrial
waste (construction waste and packaging materials). Before
executing contracts with contractors, we required them to
provide documents such as Treatment of Waste Regulations
(EEEYIRRIEIEENE)) and Environmental Guidelines
((3®E /5 $t)), to ensure that they duly processed
construction waste. Non-hazardous waste including domestic
waste and packaging materials shall be classified and stored
and shall then be handled by professional institutions.

IRIR HERERHRS
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Wastewater

The Group formulated a wastewater management procedure
and handled industrial wastewater from factory area and
domestic wastewater in staff dormitory separately, in order
to ensure the wastewater discharge was in compliance with
the relevant standards. There are respective wastewater
pipes and rain water pipes in the factories. The domestic
wastewater shall be discharged to municipal wastewater pipe
network after processing in septic tanks. Factory workers
inspected the wastewater treatment system every day and
recorded the data of wastewater discharge and reported
it to the local work safety and environmental protection
department for filing on a monthly basis. During the Year,
the Group discharged a total of approximately 327,887
cubic metres of wastewater, representing a decrease of
approximately 17.3% from 396,599 cubic metres in the
previous year.

We established an industrial wastewater recycle system
pursuant to the Wastewater Recycling System Management
Regulation ((BEKEIMAFLEIEP L)), which filtered the
wastewater used for cleaning camera module products
and it would be recycled for the use in production line
in order to reduce consumption of water resources. We
continuously used the system of water reclamation and water
conservation. The remaining wastewater reached the Class |
Standard of Integrated Wastewater Discharge Standard ({J5
KRB HERIZEE)) (GB8978-1996), it would be discharged
to the wastewater treatment plant for treatment together with
domestic wastewater through the municipal sewage pipe

network.
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Exhaust gas

During the Year, in order to strengthen the monitoring of
emissions from the plant and to verify the data in real time,
the Group set up testing points at exhaust pipes in the plant
to monitor the emissions around the clock. According to the
monitoring results, a total of approximately 1,850 kg of total
non-methane hydrocarbons and 377 kg of particulate matter
(PM) were emitted during the Year as a result of industrial
production and combustion of gasoline, representing a
year-on-year increase of 8.6% and 4.5%, respectively. We
encouraged employees to use public transports or ride on
bikes and regularly inspected company vehicles to ensure the
exhaust gas emission was in compliance with the standards.
With regard to the exhaust gas generated in the production
process, we controlled the emission through a series of
corresponding measures in order to reduce the impact on the
environment.

Exhaust gas emission procedure

BERARIRF

Tin-containing exhaust gas in welding process

IRHBREEEN S HEER

Organic exhaust gas generated in the course of
spray-painting, drying, washing spray guns

Environmental, Social and Govern
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Treatment method

BRI X

Emission through 15m-tall emission pipes after filtering
with activated charcoal filter pads

DUEMRIBRIRERE 15K HRE TR

RIER M BAEREEREENAKRER

Exhaust gas generated from the combustion of
liquefied petroleum gas in regenerative thermal oxidiser
REBARCERERCAEERELRER

Emission through the chimney of the oxidiser

BB ACIEBYIE R BER

Exhaust gas not collected in the course of wiping,
spray-painting and washing spray guns

RIEE S BERVBABREBRERERENER

Exhaust gas treatment measures
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Noise

Noise pollution would be generated when the equipment of
the Group is in operation. In order to minimise the impact on
the employees and nearby residents, the Noise Management
Regulation ((IEEIEH L)) was formulated and a special
department was established by the Group to manage the
relevant matters. We introduced advanced noise prevention
and control technologies and used low-noise equipment
whenever possible. Indoor noise elimination treatment was
conducted in factories with loud noise generation and the
greening in factory area was enhanced to augment the sound
absorbing effect. These measures could effectively lower the

noise by about 15-30 decibel.
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IV.

Response to Environmental Emergency
Incident

In order to ensure that the Group can maintain normal
operation in the event of material natural disaster, post-
disaster emergency team shall commence recovery work
in accordance with the Post-disaster Recovery Work
Regulation (($BEBREIE==FRE)) under the guidance of
the General Manager's office. The general affairs department
is responsible for the procurement of power facilities and
special equipment within three months to allow the factory to
resume production, while the administration department shall
arrange employees to work at other subsidiaries temporarily
and approach construction engineering department in order
to minimise the impact of the disaster. Apart from emergency
incidents caused by natural disaster, we also formulated
emergency plans to tackle the leakage accidents in the
storage and use of dangerous chemicals for production.

Emergency plan

FHE =512
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Post-accident handling

EHERERE

Scene clean-up and
equipment repair

BERGNEERE

Investigation in cause of
accident
HAEFHRE
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V. Talent Management

Adhering to the recruitment principle of “open recruitment,
fair competition, just assessment, merit-based recruitment”,
the Group recruits talents from various channels such as on-
campus recruitment, labour market recruitment and factory
recruitment. We believe that “people are the goal”, and
that only by respecting and developing each individual and
maximizing their value, can we achieve a win-win situation
for both the individuals and the company. The Group's
development of human resources has always focused on two
goals: maximizing personal value and maximizing corporate
value. We applied different recruitment methods in a flexible
manner, including on-campus recruitment, internal referral,
open recruitment and other means as well as internal talent
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transferring, etc., to meet the talent needs of different

positions.
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High caring

% Vision fE= B1%
To build the best employer brand and work with \

outstanding individuals

TEREREIME  BEFHARM

Offer employees the best material rewards in the industry

FETESTERFNYEMR

Select outstanding individuals and put them in the right positions

EWREFHALBESENEMUL

Build a platform for everyone to achieve their best performance
B TraEs—EAEISHREER

Build a talent development path and allow outstanding
individuals get promoted quickly

BEANTERERE BEFHARREE

Treat staff sincerely and pay attention to their needs
EINTREE BOHBTH
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 10,609
employees (including staff under labour service agreements
and internship agreements). The male and female employees
proportion was approximately 75:25 and the management
accounted for approximately 7.6% of the total number of
employees. With regard to the age profile, employees aged
below 30 accounted for approximately 73.4% whereas
employees aged 30 and above accounted for approximately
26.6%. In terms of education background, employees holding
university degrees or above accounted for approximately
18.3%.

The Group prohibits the involvement of any discrimination
based on race, social status, religion, gender, etc. in respect
of recruitment, remuneration and promotion and strictly
complies with the relevant laws and regulations. The Group
has formulated and continuously used relevant labour
policies, including the Freedom of Association and Collective
Bargaining Management Procedure ({45t B R EREs8H)
EIERF)), the Employee Complaint Management System
(BIHRFREEH|E)), etc. to further protect employee’s
freedom and rights and clarify the channels for complaints
in case of incidents. During the Year, the Company held
the employee representatives meeting, and the employee
representatives voted on the contents of the Employee
Handbook to encourage employees to participate in more
company affairs and enhance their sense of engagement.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
holidays, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare.
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VI.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group safeguards the employees’ reasonable level of
salary and various benefits pursuant to the requirements.
We provided employees with a salary level which shall not
be lower than the minimum wage standards as required
by the local labour authority and shall cover or exceed the
basic needs of an employee. We encourage employees to
enhance work-hour utilisation rate and impose strict control
over overtime work and provide overtime reimbursement
in form of compensation leave or overtime fees. In addition
to basic salary, we also provide performance bonus, year-
end bonus, cash rewards and other rewards and benefits
for employees. The Group currently continuously uses the
Qualification Management System (({EEEREEFIE)),
the Management Measures for the Qualification Certification
Committee ((EBERIIBZEGEEM L)), the
Personnel Change Management System ((AS=EEHEIEH!
FE)), the Cadre Management System ({(EBEIRHIE)) and
the Salary Management Regulation ((3t&&BH#%)), etc.,
so as to ensure that employees are offered the best material
rewards in the industry based on their abilities and efforts.

Child and Forced Labour Management

The Group forbids the employment of child labour under
the age of 16 and forced labour and the Administration
Measures on Child Labor and Underage Labor ((ZET &k
A TEEYE%)) and other institutional documents were
formulated. By performing face recognition on candidates,
we verify consistency of their identity cards and themselves
and confirm whether they are of suitable employment age.
In the event of discovery of child labour, we would stop
the work immediately, and the department where the child
labour occurred would be directly responsible for ensuring
the safety of the employee, and ensuring that the child would
not be threatened or retaliated until the child is escorted
home or picked up by the guardian. The Group would
provide the child with physical or mental health support,
including psychological counselling, health check-ups, etc.,
based on the actual situation, and would bear all medical
and living expenses during the treatment period. When the
child reaches the legal age for employment, the Group would
consider prioritizing his/her employment, arrange jobs of the
original positions or better, and carry out related retrospective
management. Through a series of measures, his/her safety,
health and educational development would be ensured.
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In order to ensure that the employees can work in a peaceful
and willing environment, we prohibited forced labour and
checked in every internal inspection whether there was
forced labour. If an employee experiences forced labour, he/
she can report such event verbally or in written form to the
representative of labour union or through the opinion box
pursuant to the Employee Complaint Management System
(EIHRFEEFIE)). Once it is verified, the labour union
representative and the forced labour can report to the public
security bureau.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to prevention of child
and forced labour and there was no case related to child and
forced labour.

Employee Communication

The Group attaches high importance to the opinions of
employees and strived to establish a comprehensive
employee communication platform. Employees can
give feedbacks and consult advices through various
communication channels such as opinion box, WeChat,
“Sunshine Station”, complaint hotline and mailbox, talks, etc.
Among which, by virtue of the face-to-face communication
feature, “Sunshine Station” has become the first-choice
channel of the employees to give feedbacks and suggestions.
By visiting “Sunshine Station” directly, employees can
provide opinions of improvement in respect of canteen,
catered meals, accommodation, etc., or have mental health
consultation.

We also provided employees with large staff activity
centres and held diversified cultural and sports events,
such as company trip, team activity, birthday party, sports
competition, etc., in order to provide employees with internal
communication opportunities and help them achieve better
work-life balance, thereby allowing them to also obtain
industry-leading rewards on a spiritual level.
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VIl. Training and Development
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Adhering to the core value of “upholding striver spirit”,
the Group is committed to providing employees with skKill
enhancement and career development opportunities in order
to augment the work satisfaction of the employees and
actualise their personal values. During the Year, the Group
implemented the Cadre Management System ((# 28 & 2
FE)), which provides measurable standards and basis for
management processes such as the selection, appointment,
evaluation, assessment, motivation, development, rotation,
and reserve of cadres, to ensure the fairness and impartiality
of the process and results. The system helps the cadres
identify the career development channel and leads them to
learn things actively under qualification standard requirements
and achieve self-growth, thereby improving the quality of the
Company's talents, expanding the Company's talent pool and
promoting the optimisation of the Company's talent structure.

Talent Cultivation

The Group established a comprehensive pre-employment and
on-the-job training system to facilitate the learning and growth
of the employees and the establishment of talent team. For
new recruits, we provide induction training and provide work
licence training or mentorship training based on the features
of the positions. The eligibility of induction is subject to the
assessment of training.

Work licence training
L rEsE

Induction training
ABEEN

Trainings are provided to the
employees in respect of the
corporate system, culture,
occupational safety, etc.

and there are corresponding
assessments

REEBE X - BEZEE
FEHBTETE LREHE
&= 1%

The production line workers shall
have work licence training and
those who pass the assessment
can obtain a work licence
FEHFBTRET CEEEI
BREZNE TS EEE

Pre-employment training
i G 15 &
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Mentorship training
ZEmH5E 3

Office worker on probation

shall have mentorship training
and can only become a regular
employee after passing various
assessments including regular
staff Q&A, assessment by
relevant department and mentor
assessment
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In order to enhance the professional capability of the
employees and help them accumulate experience, we
established company-level and department-level training
programmes, and the human resources department is
responsible for the supervision over the implementation of
trainings at department level. We understand the employee
training demand and the talent weakness faced by the
Group by conducting research, and assist the departments
to provide targeted trainings. During the Year, the Group
provided a number of key training programs for its employees,
including: 1) Eaglet Class training program, offering
induction training, in-workshop training, mentor-led training,
professional quality improvement training, employment
confirmation test, and exceptional promotion for new
employees, a total of 113 trainees completed the training and
assessment and graduated successfully; 2) launch of Kick-
start - Turnaround of Grassroots & Newly Promoted Cadres,
with a total of 112 cadres participated in the training for a
period of 3 months, which included 7 management courses
and 1 “Keep Improve Stop Start (KISS)” Action Report; with a
cumulative total of 158 participants.

With the continuous development of the Company, it is
necessary to promote internal leading talents to “internal
trainers” to impart important work-related knowledge
internally and share their experience. Experts from different
departments with different professional backgrounds brought
wonderful sharing in different fields to employees.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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During the Year, the Group continuously used “Pass On Tech-
-Knowledge Management Platform (SA#8E—X0:# &2
&)” and “Cloud School-EHR Online Learning Platform (&
By EHR4 E2BEEA)”, which are online platforms
for internal knowledge sharing, to train all business-related
employees. The platform allows 3,000 students to study
online at the same time. The main features of the platform are
as follows:

Diverse learning application scenarios. The students can
experience a variety of learning forms, including online
learning, online examinations, O20 hybrid training mode,
On-the-Job Training (OJT) tutoring, job skills knowledge
control model, etc;

There are a total of more than 3,000 online courses, the
content of which covers management, sales, service,
human resources, finance, workplace literacy and other
content. The employees of the Group are also allowed to
freely upload and share knowledge;

Management are able to instantly understand the
learning status of the students through the big data
of the platform, and master the real-time and dynamic
growth profiles of students.

mited Annual Report 2024
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Basic
Knowledge
and Skills

FEXNFE &

Experience
Sharing

BRD=E

On-the-job training
TE B =

By establishing a closed-loop procedure of “Talent Appraisal
— Performance and Effectiveness Verification — Assessment
and Training”, the Group identified internal talents with high
potentials and provided them with development opportunities.

To satisfy business development needs, the Group
established dual-path career development, providing the
employees with two major career development paths, i.e.
management type and professional or technical type. We
respect the employees’ decision of career development and
the employees can choose their own career development
direction and decide to pursue promotion vertically in the
same path or switch to another based on their own strengths,
professional interests and the development plan of the Group.
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Senior Manager

Deputy Manager/ Manager
RS

jor Specialist

Specialist

Chief Engineer/ Chief Specialist
FEIRHM FEEE

Supervisor Experienced Senior Engineer/ Experienced Senior Specialist

EE

Management path
BIEEE Senior Engineer/ Senior Specialist

Engineer/ Specialist T 42 ffi 1’?5

Assistant Engineer/ Junior Specialist 8132 T 12

Dual-path career development

CYh B E R EEE

VIll. Occupational Safety and Health

The Group cares about occupational safety and health of
employees and has strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has established a comprehensive
occupational health and safety system to prevent accident
and strived for providing a safe and healthy working
environment for employees. Currently, we have received the
ISO45001 certification, the certificate on ll-grade enterprise
of work safety standardisation and the compliance certificate
in terms of work safety. During the Year, the Group was
not aware of any violation of relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group on providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Limited Annual Report 2024
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Create Safe Production Environment

During production, employees face two major safety risks
of flammable and explosive as well as mechanical injury. To
create a safe and healthy production environment, the Group
has established a series of policies on safe production, which
focused on identified significant sources of risks, determined
control procedures such as target setting, management plan,
contingency plan and response. Through comprehensive
corporate safety risk assessment on factories including
production areas, employees living areas and public areas, we
have formed a “List of Company Safety Risks” to analyse all
kinds of risks. We used the information from the assessment
to further improve safe production standards and system and
optimise management and control measures. In addition,
adhering to the safety work policy of “Safety and Prevention
First”, we inspect daily production and system operation
regularly to eliminate existing or potential safety risks. The
number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past
three years (including the Year) is zero. During the Year, the
Group established and achieved the goal of zero fire and zero
chemical leakage.
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Chemicals management

fEBmER

Fully consider storage space
during procurement, understand
conditions of safe storage,
production period and storage
period
RERTDZRERER T
MEERENIEH-EERK
B REHAR

Sealed storage, separate
storage, clear labelling
BHEMH DHEER - RHER

Safety risk signs
Z2EE S MR

Fully consider storage space
during procurement, understand
conditions of safe storage,
production period and storage
period
RERZDEREHEBE T
RZ2RENIRG -EERK
BEHAR

Sealed storage, separate
storage, clear labelling
BHEMH DRER - RHBFE

Keep outbound records and use
them correctly
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Safety check for equipment

REZEZBE

e The general affairs department
conducts monthly safety
inspection for workshop,
identifies issues and follows up
rectification results
MEHEANERETESE
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e Carry out safety performance
inspections on specific
equipment according to their
inspection cycles
BB ESEREET
Z2 4 sEin ke

Contingency plan

EF=SEES

e FEstablish comprehensive
contingency plans and specific
contingency plans for various
potential safety incidents
HESEUEELENLZ LS
HHEREBRSREREE
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e | aunch the response procedures
and carry out remedy in
occurrence of incidents
EWMBLETREREFHE
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e Analyse process of incidents
and improve contingency
plans
ERNNEHIBRE CERR
=i

Management measures for safe production
R EEEERE

1 60 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024



e gl

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Create Safety Culture

In the operation process of carrying out environmental
safety and safety production, the Group has established
management systems for chemical management, safety
risk and potential risk investigation, emergency drills on fire
prevention and environmental protection emergency drill,
and has formulated education and training materials such as
Education and Training on Key Controlled Chemicals (& 24
B2 R EEII)), Specifications for Storage and Use
of Hazardous Chemicals (ER1E2RFHEHELERERR
&5 )) and Specifications for the Use of Precursor Chemicals
and Explosive Chemicals ((Z%|5E 2 1B 12 REBR
&3 )) for chemicals. We set up 12 special emergency drills
annually, including fire evacuation drills, chemical leakage
emergency drills, construction safety emergency drills and
hazardous waste leakage emergency drills, etc., and stipulate
the frequency, rules and organizational structure in the
management system to continuously and orderly carry out
closed-loop procedures.

Meanwhile, the environmental safety department under the
general affairs department is responsible for providing a
health and safety training scheme. After training, employees
are required to pass an assessment before they take up their
roles. During the Year, we carried out occupational health
knowledge trainings in three major directions: identification of
occupational hazards, personal protective equipment (PPE)
and occupational health management through occupational
health signboards, TV promotional videos on occupational
health guarding, and occupational health publicity
brochures. During the Year, the Group provided occupational
safety training to a total of 21,989 people and a total of
approximately 23,424 hours of training.
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Prevention of Occupational Diseases

The Group has developed the Management Measures on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({882
JRTERL BT EEIRE)) to prevent, control and eliminate
occupational diseases and protect employees’ physical and
mental health. We fulfill disclosure obligations on occupational
disease risks in compliance with the laws, clearly inform
employees risk factors and consequences exposing at work
and provide them with correspondence PPE precautions.
In addition, occupational health checks are required before
new employees start working, and health checkups for
current employees exposing to occupational risks have
been arranged to monitor staff health. Health checks will be
provided when employees exposing to occupational risks
request to resign. If occupational risk factors in working
environment are found inconsistent with health standards,
the competent department shall carry out rectifications
immediately. The environmental safety department shall
follow up and reassess the rectifications continuously until in
conformity with national health standards. During the Year, the
Group even passed the final assessment of Suzhou Health
Commission and was awarded the Excellent Demonstration
Enterprise of Occupational Disease Prevention and Control.

Response to Emergency Safety Incident

To control the impact of loss and casualties from risks on
the Group, we have established a “Contingency Plan” to
effectively respond to emergency safety incidents such
as earthquake and explosion. In case of significant risk
anomalies, we shall initiate the emergency response team
at once and assign responsibilities in regard of department
functions and professional characteristics in an endeavour to
minimise impact of emergencies.
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IX. R&D Innovation

The Group has continuously promoted R&D of new products
and new processes, with an emphasis on the R&D of module
technologies such as miniaturization, ultra-high pixel cameras,
and new optical image stabilization to strive for satisfying
customers’ product innovation needs and to provide
consumers with better products and experience. As of 31
December 2024, the Group had 202 authorised and valid
inventions patents, 525 utility model patents and a total of
440 inventions and utility model patents under application and
review process.

Intellectual property protection

The Group has formulated the Intellectual Property
Management Practices ((HI#ERETEEERIE)) to
regulate patent application and management work. Upon
filing of a project, the patent engineer will keep in touch
with the R&D engineer in charge of the project to learn
comprehensively the technology solution for project design
and carry out patent layout specifically. The Group also
screens existing technology through third-party searching
tools to prevent infringement. We have also submitted
relevant information to the patent firm for secondary screening
to ensure no risk of infringement. Based on the patent rating
results, we will determine the type of patent application and
award the patent inventor with invention bonus according to
patent rating. During the Year, the Group strictly complied
with relevant laws and regulations in all material respects,
and was not involved in any significant litigation related to
intellectual property rights infringement.

Technical disclosure

Project filing materials

Patent mining

Patent rating
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Qualified and responsible suppliers are essential to the
quality of the products provided by us. Through enhancing
development and regular assessment and management
on suppliers, we ensured stable supply of qualified and
reasonably-priced materials and services by suppliers in
long run. To timely identify procurement risks, the Group has
analysed suppliers’ resource pool, material supply risks and
procurement price regularly. If risks are found, procurement
strategies will be adjusted immediately. During the Year, the
Group had 580 qualified suppliers in total, most of which were
located in China.

Social Responsibility of Suppliers

With global social responsibility as objective, we have
implemented socially responsible procurement. Through
signing the Corporate Social Responsibility Agreements ({7
¥ S EEHER)) (the “CSR Agreements”), we set out social
responsibility requirements to be followed by suppliers when
they provide products or services to facilitate sustainable
development of the industry value chain.

The Group’s qualified supplies are required to obtain the
ISO45001 Occupational Safety Management Systems
certificate and the ISO14001 Environment Management
Systems certificate and enhance CSR system establishment
and implementation in respect of human rights, health
and safety, environment protection, business ethics, social
responsibility and management system according to the
signed CSR Agreements. We also require qualified suppliers
to list CSR as requisite conditions or threshold criteria for
the selection of new suppliers so as to extend sustainable
development to second-tier suppliers.

We evaluate suppliers’ CSR performance regularly and carry
out on-site review from time to time. If suppliers are found
to fail in fulfilling requirements under the agreements, we
will require timely improvements by them; if suppliers are
found to have serious CSR issues or fail to make timely
improvements, we will reduce orders gradually or even
terminate cooperation.

1 64 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024

EREEEENHEFHINRME
HNEREEZTHEZ BBEMR
HEEENEERERETEE
BEREEEFRITRE REMEHR
LESK BRAENYHRIRS
FET) o 2 e By B Bl SR BB LB > AN
B T HR ¥ 1 FE B BN ML AR
B -REER=FEETON
FRRAR RUMNABRBR
BR-FER  AEBHAEGRMHER
580% > KEP (HFE R AL i R

HEFHZHEEE

EAREXECHEEEFER/ER
ENTEEERE BRRHES
HE(EEHHEEEWHE) (CSRi%
1) FIRMEEENREERIR
HRBERHIEEEER REE
ERNIFEZER-

AEBNERERERS R ERS
ISO45001 B (L2 EERBAES
FKISO14001 R EEEEAEE
I 2 BEHETHICSRHZ » Mg H A
-BEMZE - RIERE -BHXEE
BE-HEEX -EEERSEF AN
CSREERZEXZMAEM HMITEX
R MHIER ERCSRY A HEENR
HEFHNVEREIPIERE K
M FEEREBIEMRE R

M ERTLHHEEHAICSRER
MAEMETRGES SR RM
BEREHZRER EXHBERX
. ERRMEREFERENCSR
RIS B R B o & i B OH R L
STE BEERUNGE-



Substance Control

To enhance environmental and toxic and hazardous
substance control from the source, the Group has obtained
the IEC/QC080000 Hazardous Substances Process
Management System since 2013. We have also signed the
Supplier Management on Environmental Material Agreement
(HEBIRFEYEEERZ)) with suppliers to specify our
expectations on the fulfilment of green and environmental
responsibilities by the suppliers. At the same time, the Group
has included responsible mineral procurement clauses in the
procurement contracts of suppliers, requiring suppliers to
formulate policies to reasonably ensure that they and their
suppliers do not support the use of minerals from conflict
areas.
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If the material batches provided by suppliers are not environmentally friendly, the Group is entitled to
request for compensation and investigate legal liability of suppliers as the case may be

EHERRUNYERLETIRF 2EEAREZREETRBERBAMEHIERER

Toxic and hazardous substance control requirements for suppliers
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XI.

Supplier Communication

The Group is committed to maintaining sound and effective
communication with suppliers and ensure consistent
information and objective of both parties through interactions
with suppliers in respect of core value and procurement
vision. In addition, we also provide integrity training for
suppliers and explained specific contents and violation under
the signed Incorruptible Procurement Agreements ({f5 3¢ % &
#5%)) and/or related contract terms to the suppliers in order
to achieve the goals of cooperating in good faith and realising
win-win situations. During the Year, we required all suppliers
to conduct self-inspection and provide the Incorruptible
Procurement Self-Inspection Report ({fY¢IREE B ERE))
to ensure the effective implementation of relevant policies.

Quality Assurance

The Group’s quality policy is “Standardised management,
technology innovation, continuous improvement, customer
satisfaction”. Through combining industry characteristics,
we have carried out quality management work orderly and
pursued continuous enhancement of products and service
quality. We have obtained certification of the 1SO9001:2015
Quality Management System and set out quality management
roles of all departments in the Quality Manual ((E&
filt)). Among which, the technology department is required
to understand technology and parameter requirements
under contracts or orders correctly, analyse the Group’s
technology capability to meet contracts or orders and
ensure that the Group is capable to provide products that
meet customers’ requirements. The quality department is
responsible for product quality examination of raw materials,
production process, finishing process and delivery process.
All departments are responsible for their own functions and
coordinated with one another. During the Year, there was
no product recalled for safety and health reasons, with a
percentage of zero. The Group has strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations in all material respects and was
not aware of any violation of laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group regarding health and safety,
labelling, advertising and confidentiality of products and
services and remedies during the Year.

1 66 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Governance Report

HEREBE

FEBRHNEAHEFSRFREA
MEBE BBEZOEBEERKE
BREHHEAHBHETES  M*
REZERMBRE -5 &K
TR HERREHRZREN @
EEEERIN(BAREBEHZ)
&/ HEBERERHNERBRAET K
ERRNP EZIHEEHF -BRH
BOEB -FR ZMEXFMAEH
EEBEBETRHE(GIHREERR
T EAEFABERNEREE -

. BERE

EENEEFHATREEE K
MBI F@EE - BERERE B
BEETERM BFRABREEE
BT EXRERERBEENT
1B - HMBEBBISO9001:2015
BEEETHEEBAIZ UN(EEF
MYFBEBINEEEEHE
Heh FMESELREMRSRE RN
BNRMERB2HER DMER®
BERTTENRMED  BRE
EEENREMEERERNE
moHAEHMBERME - BEZBTRE
RadE HEAENEREER
BRoXIMHAZIER BHEES
rEETEREREZ2ERBEERH
MR BDtEAT - KEBKE
FIBEEAFEBREETHERBERZE
FowAAMERFERNEMER B
REESNRBNEERLZE E
EEBRNRIABEEEUARER A L
HEREARBEHAEREREAT
EWNEFo



e gl

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Protection from Electrostatics

Preventing and eliminating static electricity risks at storage
and production site play a key role in stabilising and
enhancing product yield and quality. We required class 10
clean room workshops, fingerprint workshops and working
areas involving electrostatic discharge device within the
factory to be strictly conformed with the ESD Protection and
Control Procedures ((ESDBAE#EHIFZRF)) and performed
electrostatic protection and control works comprehensively.
Receiving electrostatic knowledge training and education
was a basic requirement for employees working at the anti-
static work areas and also the fundamental method to reduce
static electricity risks. Employees must receive electrostatic
protection training and pass certification. In addition, we
carried out regular examination on anti-static work areas,
checking all equipment, major areas and whether employees
training was qualified so that we could identify issues and
adopt rectification measures in a timely manner.

Disposal of Unqualified Products

We have rigidly controlled and disposed of unqualified
products (including doubtful products) arising from
procurement, production and processing and after delivery. In
compliance with the Unqualified Products Control Procedures
(FERERZEHIEFE)), we have adopted different
disposal methods for unqualified products discovered from
different processes in order to prevent unqualified products
from unexpected use or delivery.

Handling Customers’ Complaints

We have accepted customers’ feedback and complaints
sincerely, strived for handling customers’ complaints properly
in shortest time and satisfied other requests from customers
as far as we could to maintain customers’ satisfactory.
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Formulate and

Record customers’
complaints

BiRILE

Confirm customers’

complaints

iR (s S HESTD

implement
preventions and
interventions

Analyse and put
forward solutions

DT REHREHE

il R Bz B It By 3 HE e

if the events complained
by customer is true,
record such events and
notify all internal units
within 1 hour

e after receiving
customers’
complaints, confirm
severity and specific
circumstances of the

events complained by BB FEHBE
customers by way of on- VN EIT I B
site and email within 3 AN BB AERA B AL

focus on the quality
issues reflected by
customers’ complaints,
carry out inspections
on the same batch of
products within 1 hour
and confirm disposal
method for doubt

e carry out in-depth
analysis on events
reflected by customers’
complaints and
formulate short term and
long term remedies
HEREERBRHNES
ETRED N SIE G H

hours products RERANNESHEE
BEZHFEB®E  H3N %%ﬁ‘@%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ’\]éﬁ%ﬁﬁ

FEEBIRIG BIES > 1NBE P X R

ABRAERBENERS %?Lﬁuﬂﬁﬂtﬁﬁm;ﬁ

EERERER BREER

Customer Complaint Handling Procedure

B B2
Information Security
“Meeting customers’ requirements, ensuring information
security, complying with laws and regulations as well as

is the Group’s policy
direction on the information security management. We

improving management continuously”

understand that information security is of utmost importance
to the corporate management. The Group’s information
security management system was certified with the
ISO/IEC27001:2013 standard.

By analysing the conditions of each information asset and
other factors, we identify the threats faced by all information
assets and assess the risk level and possible degree of loss.
The “Risk Management Plans” is formulated based on the
assessment result to clearly state the responsible department
for risk management, approach and time frame. Moreover, we
attach great importance to the information security training for
our employees to improve their awareness and capabilities of
information security.

chnology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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We strengthened the implementation of measures related
to internal security and customer privacy. In addition to
daily propaganda, all employees were required to sign a
confidentiality agreement and were not allowed to bring
mobile phones when entering the production area. The Group
also established a dedicated customer area where entry of
irrelevant personnel and competitors was prohibited, and
arranged for employees in key positions to use computers
without access to the internet and USB ports.

In order to test the operating effectiveness of the information
security management system and its compatibility with
the Group’s operations, we organise an internal review for
the information security scope and direction as well as the
effectiveness of control measures at least once a year, so as
to continuously improve the information security management
system.

Xlll. Building Integrity

The Group is committed to operating its business with
fairness, honesty, integrity and transparency, and opposes
obtaining commercial or personal benefits through, whether
directly or indirectly, bribery. In addition to complying with
relevant laws and regulations, we have formulated internal
policies including the “Management System of Anti-Unfair
Competition and Prevention of Insider Trading” and the
“Honesty and Self-discipline and Anti-Fraud Management
System” to strengthen internal integrity management and
ensure a healthy and sustainable development for the Group.

We require all employees, including managers and directors,
to adhere to business ethics management, and always strive
to maintain a fair relationship with customers, suppliers,
competitors and the public. It is prohibited to obtain or
maintain business relationships by bribery, kickbacks or
offering money to other person in any direct or indirect
way. Employees shall not take or illegally receive properties
by taking advantage of their positions. Moreover, we have
extended the integrity works to the employment mechanism
to prevent nepotism. For personnel promotion, salary
adjustment, rewards and appraisal, employees with higher
rank and having intimate relationship with the appraisee
should be avoided.
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Whistle-blowing Policy

The audit specialist and internal audit department of the
subsidiary are the Group’s anti-fraud reporting centre,
which is responsible for accepting reports and complaints
of fraudulent practice as well as recording, reporting,
investigating and following up on disciplinary violations. In
order to effectively prevent fraudulent practice, we encourage
our employees to report disciplinary violations by phone,
email, etc. The audit specialist and internal audit department
of the subsidiary regularly check whether the reporting
channels are functional or not. After receiving a report, the
audit specialist and internal audit department of the subsidiary
will conduct an investigation and report the investigation
result to the management with suggestions for rectification
and treatment, so as to assist the management in carrying
out remedial measures. During the Year, the Group was not
aware of any violation of laws and regulations related to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
which had a significant impact on the Group, nor did it involve
any corruption cases.
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Whistle-blower protection measures:

o Reporting information and record is confidential

e  Whistle-blower can choose to report anonymously

e  Those who violate the rules to disclose the information
of whistle-blower or take revenge on the whistleblower

will be punished accordingly or even transferred to law
enforcement authorities for handling
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Integrity Education

We pay great attention to integrity education. Trainings and
communication activities for professional code of ethics are
organised on a regular basis. The anti-fraud policies and
whistle-blowing procedures are promoted by the Group
through employee manuals, rules and systems and internal
networks to ensure our employees understand the full
content of anti-fraud policies and clarify their responsibilities
in complying with anti-fraud policies. We also conduct
integrity trainings and sign integrity agreements with relevant
employees.
be universal, we will notify all employees and make it as a

If a material fraudulent event is discovered to

warning.

XIV. Community Engagement

As a group with a commitment to community responsibility,
we are actively engaged in the construction and development
of local communities and work together with the new Xinxi
community and neighbourhood centres around the enterprise
to build and create a community service team, and actively
participate in the construction of community facilities, take
care of widows and orphans, environmental protection and
other activities. The Group has a “Red Titanium Sun (AL %k
[%)” volunteer team, which has been successfully registered
in the “Volunteer Kunshan (558 ELL)” in the current year, and
the volunteers who are in good health with basic qualities
suitable for the volunteer service projects and activities
they participate in. The Company has a total of 230 people
participated in our volunteer activities.

vironmental, Social and Governance Report
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Laws and Regulations ERRER
For different ESG Report aspects, the Group strictly complies in all HHEAARE HEREARSE
material respects with the applicable national laws and regulations M| > Kﬁ L Eﬁﬁﬁikﬁ E@{%%
listed in the following table: TERBERIARER WHRT
E

Corresponding
Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Sections
[EmE BRANERRZER HEEEEN
Emissions e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Emission
23 €7] Control of Atmospheric Pollution Monitoring and

o (PREAREMBEKRTSHEREAEE) Control
P EE 1

e Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s

Republic of China
o (HPEARIEMBEKTERBEED

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and

Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes
e (FEARHANBEBEZYSRIREREE)

e Soil Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s

Republic of China
o (PEARILMEITIEBSERAEE)

e  Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of

China
o (PEAREMEBREEREL)

Directory of National Hazardous Wastes

(BAREREY L)

Integrated Emission Standards of Air Pollutants

(RRBRDEZEHBIRE)

Integrated Wastewater Discharge Standards

O KR GHBIRE)

e  Standards on Storage and Pollution Control of Hazardous

Wastes

o (ERENITESRENRE)

e  Emission standard of air pollutants for coal-burning oil-burning

gas-fired boiler

o (HBEARSREVBHERE)

e Occupational exposure limits for hazardous agents in the

workplace Part 1: Chemical hazardous agents

s (IFGAASHERERERERIND (EEEZAXR)

e  QOccupational exposure limits for hazardous agents in the

workplace Part 2: Physical agents

s (IFGAASRERERBRES2HD : WERR)
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e

Corresponding

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Sections
[EmE BRANERRZER HESH
Resources e  Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China  Resources
Consumption o (HEARHMBEESLERL) Consumption
BiEER , | . BRER

e  Circular Economy Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of

China

o (FEARHMBEBERLEREZE)
Environmental and ° Environmental Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of Environmental
natural resources China \ Management
RIBRRXAEIR o (FEARHMBIRRZRZEZL) RIEE

Response To
Environmental

Emergency
Incident
FEH B IRIBEM
Employment e Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China Talent Management
=2 1% o (PREARHEMBEHZEE) AT EIE
e Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
e (PEARHMBESZEFHERZE)
e  Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
o BBE(RERSG)
Health and safety o Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China Occupational
BEEZZR o (PEARHMEAZEZEEZL) Safety and Health
HEZTHREE

e  Regulations of Jiangsu Province on Work Safety

o (IHAZZEERSG)

o Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China

o (PEARKEMBUHRZE)

° Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases

o (PEARKMBEBERG LX)
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IRIR HERERHRS

Corresponding

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Sections
[EmE BRANERRZER HESH
Labour standards e  Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour Talent

BT AR

(BRIEEREIRE)

o Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors

o (PEARHKEMBIRMEAFREE)

Management-Child
and Forced Labour
Management
ATEE-EIR
WEE TEIR

Product
responsibilities
EmEE

Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PFEARHANMBERESEE)

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests

o (PEARHAMBUSEERZFREL)

Intellectual Property Law of the People’s Republic of China

(PEARAMBANEERZE)

Tort Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PFEARHANMBEESEE)

Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARHEMBEEFE)

Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

FE(EAER LR 156

R&D Innovation

BT 8% B

Quality Assurance
B ER5E

Information
Security
BEEZ2

Anti-corruption

REE

e  Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
(]

(PEARHKMBENED

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China

(PEARZNMBERAEERF )

Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

&7 (B LERRRR ARG )

Building Integrity
BZER

ny Limited Annual Report 2024



Performance Data Summary

HIERREE

Environmental
IRIR

Exhaust Gas Emissions
Non-methane hydrocarbons (kg)
Particulate matter (PM) (kg)
Total wastewater discharge (m?)

COD discharge (kg)

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg)

Waste

Non-hazardous waste
Industrial waste (tonne)
Domestic waste (tonne)

Hazardous waste

Hydrocarbons and water
mixtures for ultrasonic

cleaning (tonne)

Industrial glue and hose (tonne)
Waste alcohol soaked wiping

cloth (tonne)

Waste ethyl acetate for
cleaning lances (tonne)
Waste paint empty bucket

(tonne)

Waste paint residue (tonne)

Waste tooling (tonne)
Waste filter material

Liquid waste from the water

screens (tonne)
Sludge (tonne)

Waste activated carbon (tonne)

Waste grease (tonne)

Waste cutting fluid (tonne)
Packaging container (tonne)

Waste tin paste box

BE R E
FER AR (B FT)
feF FERL(PM) (R FT)

BEkHE B E (L73K)

CODHFE (AFT)

[AHRE (2 f)

Fé?ﬁ%

BEBEEY

TNk (RHE)

HIENIR (RHE)

BEEEEY

ﬁﬁﬁj\ﬁglﬁlﬁ FEHY I S
KRS (ANE)

TERKBE (2N
BEBBEES ()

A RERR
BE 2Bk 2 Bs (RTR)
BEHR TR (R0E)

BEHMZE (RH)
AR (A

B IE

KERER (RN

5 (ATH)
BEEMR (RH)
BEEBME (RH)
BEIEIR (R )
BEAE (RH)
BEHER

1,703
360
396,599
50,811
10,037

893
865

176.3
9.7

14.7

33.6

4.7
3.1

75.3
10.4
17.3
0.3
0.5
3.9
0.09

2024 5% E#EHE (@) BRA7 175H

1,850
377
327,887
64,853
5,676

651
1,270

107.9
121

18.3

43.0

0.04



IS B R ARE

Environmental
IRIR

Greenhouse Gas

Total emissions
(tonnes of CO2e)

Direct emissions (Scope 1)
(tonnes of CO2e)

Indirect emissions (Scope 2)
(tonnes of CO:ze)

Emission intensity (tonnes/
'000 pcs sales volume)

Total resource consumption

Direct energy

Gasoline (litre)

Diesel (litre)

Indirect energy

Electricity consumption (kWh)

Tap water (m?)

Packaging material
consumption

Carton (tonne)

Tray (tonne)

'I$ Annual Report 2024

BERE
WHEE
(A _EEiREE
BHiEHR EE-)
(AMEZF16m
BEHEN E@E D)
(AL E 2)
R E
(AW FHERHES)
BRHERES
BHiZAER
ol (AF)
5m (A F)
EEEEEE
EEE (TRF)
Bk (LK)
BEMEEEE

IS

g)

W ONUE)
g JON )

110,681

137

110,645

0.23

51432

8429

181,191,403

1,593,021

235
980

2024
—EoE

95,377

106

95,271

0.18

39,730

12,688

179,930,111

1,826,438

239
1122



Employees
BT

Total headcount (Note)
By gender

Male

Female

By professional profile
Managerial personnel
Non-managerial personnel
By age

<30

30-50

>50

By educational background

University degree or above

Below university degree

Total staff turnover rate

By gender

Male

Female

By age

<30

30-50

>50

By geographical region

PRC

Overseas

Occupational safety and
health training

Total number of trainees

Total training hours

Occupational safety and
health performance

Number of work accidents

Number of workers injured

Lost working days due to
work-related injury

Work-related fatalities

48 N8 (P E)
45 53 5
2R

g
HAED
[SEE PN =]
JEEEBHAE
FW
<30

30-50

>50

BESH
REBFUFEE
KEBLUTERE
BITHREKE
b gk 3l

B

geq i

HEFH

<30

30-50

>50

it g

FE

B
M2 BRI

BINBAR
1311 4B B 21
BEREEBEENY

IHEEHRHE
HAIZBEAH
EITEEATFE#

ATIETAH

T

7 HERERRS

9,629

6,993
2,636

605
9,024

6,948
2,651
30

1,476
8,153
11.9%

13.4%
7.8%

14.3%
4.3%
0%
12.2%
8.8%

19,995
21,300

11
11

121
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2024

ot 1 -
10,609

7,978
2,631

807
9,802

7,788
2,782
39

1,942
8,667
12.5%

11.9%
14.2%

14.2%
7.4%
9.4%

12.06%
17.66%

21,989
23,424

10
10

364



Suppliers
R

Community
e

Total number of suppliers

Supplier profile - by type

Material supplier

Consumables supplier

Equipment suppliers

Supplier profile - by
geographical region

Mainland

Hong Kong

Other regions

Investment in public welfare
(RMB’0,000)

Voluntary work (hours)

ti Annual Report 2024

AR R e (18)
AR M —RER
MRHEHAER (@)
EMEMRER (7
RFBEMER (E)
HEFDfH-EHE

it (18)

&% (@)

Hiti& (f8)
AEBA (BTARE)

5 TIF UNE)

483

288

128

67

441

33

30
800

—EME

580

339
90
151

538
24
18

30
800



CONTENT INDEX

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERERS

AFEAL]

KPIs
PR AR5 1R

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
EBRGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX

A Environmental 818

Section/Remarks

- ) F i

Aspect A1:
BEAT:

Emissions

2135 €]

General Disclosure

— i &

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into

water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.

ERBRMRERBHB PRI HNHES FERESEEY

HNESLERN

Emission Monitoring
and Control, Laws and
Regulations

I BRI AR ROER

(a) BZR ; & i

o) BFHBTABEAFENEREZEREFANER

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Performance Data

RASRAEN data. Summary
FEIEA1 A BE ) RE LR S B R HE T B R © HERBAEE

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Performance Data

RS & greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where [Summary
FE1ZA1.2 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production |HiEXRIRHE

volume, per facility).

Bk (FE1) REREE (FHE2) RA=ERBHNRE
(UMt H) Fe (WER) BE WMUSESB U
FIERME) °

KPI A1.3
RASRAE N
F51EA1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FTEEEESEEYRE (UEE) kK (WER) &
EWMNESESEAN SEZHEAE) -

Performance Data
Summary

FERRBE

KPI A1.4
RASR4E %K
IE1ZA1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FRESREEEYEE UEE) K (NER) &
EMUSESE N BERKMH) -

Performance Data
Summary

HERRBE

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps Emission Monitoring
R AR taken to achieve them. and Control
E1ZA1.5 AP I EE R R AEINSLEERME  |(HIKRERE
YRy 2 B o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Emission Monitoring
RASRAEN wastes are handled, and a description of and Control
I51ZA1.6 reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve |HEmBL%

them.
BRI EREEEEYN G L RIBMFERET
U BEEERAEZEDNESLEBZMEIRNT e
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR - HHEMERERS

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
FA R ENIEE EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX -0 F
Aspect A2: General Disclosure Resources
[EmEA2: — R E Consumption
Use of Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water ERER
Resources and other raw materials.
BiRER BENERER (BIEER  KREMERME) BB -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Performance Data
RABEAE X type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh Summary
IE1ZA2.1 in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production |EIEFRIRHE
volume, per facility).
BB SN EREK HEEER (WNE- RS
) S UTETRESSR RBE WUASE
BB -BERIRMH) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per |Performance Data
RASBLAEN unit of production volume, per facility). Summary
151EA2.2 g)ﬁm%&%ﬁrg (MU EESEN SEKME BHIERIEWE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Resources
RASR A& and steps taken to achieve them. Consumption
151EA2.3 #HitPAE] LN REANEE R RAETELEE |ERER
PR ERER B9 4 BR o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Resources
RABEE N sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Consumption
F51EA2.4 efficiency initiatives and results achieved. BIRFER
FCSKRECE A ACOR Rl B AR EE > URIEA A
K3 % 5T B R PRIS R SR ©
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Performance Data
RASRAEN products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with Summary
151Z2A2.5 reference to per unit produced. HIRRIFEE
L mPrABREMENES (UESE) & (WN#E
B S4+ESfEE-
Aspect A3: General Disclosure Environmental
[EHEAS: — RN E Management
Environmental | Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the RIEEE
and natural environment and natural resources.
resources BEZBTABRIERAREFRERERNEZENEE-
i;:;éﬁ KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities |Environmental
R 4E on the environment and natural resources and Management,
FE1EA3.1 the actions taken to manage them. Response to
Rl EREHHIRIERRABRENEATLERE  |Environmental
KNEEAREEZNTH- Emergency Incident
IRIFEE -EHEEIR
IREH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERERS

Employment

& 1%

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R AR R EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX 0P F
Aspect A4: General Disclosure Environmental
[EEA4: — MR E Management
Climate Identification and Mitigation RIEEE
Change Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
mIREML related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer.
% Il e &
HAREHERAKAEEHETAELERENEARMEENSEE
BT ER ©
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Environmental
RAEEAE RN issues which have impacted, and those which Management
IE1ZA4A may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to  |IE1Z &1
manage them.
EAERRAIEGHETAELELZENEARRE
ST REHTH
Aspect B1: General Disclosure Talent Management,
[EmEB1: — A% B Laws and Regulations

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BRAFNREE - BEASH TEFS RE -FEET 2T

B RERUKRHEMGEREBRB :

() BUR ; &
FENERERRRANER

AT EENERRER

o) BFHEITARE
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
RSB & example, full-time or part-time), age group and
$51EB1.1 geographical region.
ZMHR - EBEEL 2B EE) « Fae R ki
BEI DN EREMEE -

Performance Data
Summary

HERRBE

KPI B1.2
RAEN
E1ZB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

BMUR - FiERN R EE DN EBRKLLR

Performance Data
Summary

FHEREBE

20245 5% EsRE (@) ARA5 181



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR - HHEMERERS

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R A MIER EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX -0 F
Aspect B2: General Disclosure Occupational Safety
[BEB2: —RIRE and Health, Laws and
Health and Information on: Regulations
Safety (a) the policies; and BxZ2blEE EE
BEHAZR (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a KB
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BRRRMZ2TFRERGEEEFRHEMELCERN
(a) B3R ; &
(o) BFHETABEAZENEREZERRANER o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Occupational Safety
RAREN occurred in each of the past three years including |and Health
}512B2.1 the reporting year. BxZ20EE
BE=F (BIEERFE) SFRAITHNA#K
T
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Performance Data
RSB RIEERLXIIEEH - Summary
f51¥B2.2 BBEREEE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Occupational Safety
RARAEN safety measures adopted, and how they are and Health
}51Z2B2.3 implemented and monitored. BEZ20EE
2t P ER 40 B BB 2 1 R Bl 22 2 48 Tl > LU AERA L
TREE S % o
Aspect B3: General Disclosure Training And
[BmBa3: — RN E Development
Development |Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Eil R
and Training |discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
B R R EN ERRARBEITILEBENAH R AEREER - f EIEE -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Performance Data
RASRAEN and employee category (e.g. senior management, |[Summary
}512B3.1 middle management). HFIERREE
R REESERN NEREEE - PREERE)
BlomzilMEEER D
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Performance Data
RAR A employee by gender and employee category. Summary
$51€B3.2 i%'l&é%&ﬁféiﬁ%d%ﬂﬁ ' BREBTMEIINF HEREWE
Sl
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERERS

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R AR R EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX 0P F
Aspect B4: General Disclosure Talent Management,
[EEB4: — MR E Laws and Regulations
Labour Information on: AT BB ERRER
Standards (a) the policies; and
% T #A| (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRAIEE T3R5 ThHY ©

(a) BIR ;5 &

(o) BFHETABEAXENERZERRAINER o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Talent Management

RASAEN practices to avoid child and forced labour. AAEIE

151EB4.1 g ST R R IB G AV IS HE LUB S & T R 1 25
To
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Talent Management
RASRAEN practices when discovered. AT ERE
{51EB4.2 ?LT‘%EE%@'I‘%?R%% FRA BB R AT EREN Y &
Er o

Aspect B5: General Disclosure Supplier
[E EB5: — R % Management
Supply Chain [Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply |fftfE & 1E
Management cham
HAEHEEE EIRHEEAVIRIE Rt & B PR o

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Performance Data
RASREK EE e DR HEREE - Summary
$512B5.1 HEREWE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supplier Management
RASRAERN suppliers, number of suppliers where the HEmEIE
}§1EB5.2 practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
HEEERAHEENIEN mERITHERAESG
NHEEEE - UKRBREBANRITRERSG %o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supplier Management
RRREN environment and social risks along the supply HERSE
}§1ZB5.3 chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
A REHNHERESEIRANIRE T SRR
BIEG > U AERITRE R F &
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supplier Management
RABEE K environmentally preferable products and services |ftfErG EIE

}51ZB5.4 when selecting suppliers, and how they are

implemented and monitored.
HAEREHMEERREMES PIRRE®RMIRBTH
TBH U ERAITRER G &
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR - HHEMERERS

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

FA R ENIEE EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX -0 F

Aspect B6: General Disclosure R&D Innovation,

[ EB6: —RINE Quality Assurance,
Product Information on: Information Security,
Responsibilities | (a) the policies; and Laws and Regulations
EmEE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a RERIFT - B E2MRE

significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress.
BRAREERNRBNERELZE - ES - RERMESEUR
B HEEN

EREE ERRER

(@) Bk & _

o) EBTHETABEAXENEREZERRANER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Quality Assurance
RABEE subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. BE2RE

$51%B6.1 EENEEZXERBBTELERRREAMEA

EWBIBE DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Quality Assurance
RARAEN complaints received and how they are dealt with. |HE 217
f51%B6.2 RERNRERERRBENRFBEUREHFZE-
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and |R&D Innovation
RASR A& protecting intellectual property rights. B 22 Bl AT
}51ZB6.3 F 0 B 4 5B K (R PR AN G A HE B RA RV IB ]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and Quality Assurance
RASRIAEN recall procedures. BERE
}51ZB6.4 HMEERTIERE MEmLBWRERT -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Information Security
RABEE K privacy policies, how they are implemented and BEELZE
}51EB6.5 monitored.
T B E B RHMRIE R A BEEE U NIT
BT E
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERERS

KPls HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R AR EEXSGA(RIR-HEREBHRIESINEX 0P F
Aspect B7: General Disclosure Building Integrity,
[EEBT: — MR E Laws and Regulations
Anti- Information on: BROREH EREOAR
corruption (a) the policies; and
a9 (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRABH IEBERE ~ 1R~ MR At AR 88 AT ¢
(a) B ; &
(o) BFHETABEAXENERZERRAINER o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No legal Proceedings
RARAE N corrupt practices brought against the issuer or Regarding Corruption
}51EB7.1 its employees during the reporting period and the |Occurred During the
outcomes of the cases. Year
RERAAHETANEHEERITEEENE |FRRLBEESHALE
SRRV B KRR E R © (63
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Building Integrity
RAR AN blowing procedures, how they are implemented RRER
}51EB7.2 and monitored.
AP IR R RER  URERANITRER
Vabe
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to | Building Integrity
R SR &3 directors and staff. FRIREH
1512B7.3 HhmEERE TIRHENRESE
Aspect B8: General Disclosure Community
[E EBS: — R % Engagement
Community Policies on community engagement to understand the needs &2
Investment of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
HERE activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
B2 R THREEMTHERENRRAER EHEE
At &R 2R AV BUER o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community
RAR AR environment concerns, labour needs, health, Engagement
51ZB8.1 culture, sport). HEsn
ETEREHE (WHE BEEE B TEX #
R X1t -BA) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to Community
RARR AR the focus area. Engagement
{51¥B8.2 AEITHEMBAER (NS BEER) o Can g o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR e S Gl

kPG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Q Technology (Group) Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Q
Technology (Group) Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 197 to 328, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

1 86 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group

Our responsibilities

in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the

in our professional

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

B RHENERS

ERHIVER

EMERBESAEGHMAg (A
fAg)) BN (EEETER) (TS
BEETER])) ETE MM EEFE
BB TFTRENSECERRS M
MBS EHM BRI BARENSE —
B o BRI B G A G EMN
(BXFtanEEFR) (T5P8)) K5
EEREFEMNEAZMBHFEHTHER
REFNBEEXR EMBILN &E
B> BB EZEBEBEERETRFAN
HthSEEEST - HMEE > HMF
EENBEAERERAENBEZEHARM
HNERIEHER

FRETFE

HRBFFRZERBERMANEEH
i B AN EAPESHB B RERNEBS R
HEENFR -ZEFREERMES
EECHMBBRERAEARRKET
BREN -AM A EHZEFRRHEER
NER

20245 5% Bk (@) ARAT {87



Independent Auditor’s Report
VR e S Gl

Revenue recognition
Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on pages 232 to 235.

U 7 FE SR
RS W KN L3R FL232F 235
=0:00=0158-

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EH TE

SRR ERIR 5 K

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from the sales of  Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of

camera modules and fingerprint recognition modules. revenue included the following:

EEENNETEELEERGERAKREMGENEENE RAFGRERENEFEFEEUTIE

o

The Group enters into a framework sales agreement with
each major customer and sells its products in accordance
with terms of separate sales orders.
EEEEZFTEZRRIIUERBEE RS LRBEHES o
BEIHE = HERe
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obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of management’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;
TR MG EEE AR ST R R N AR 4T
FIRER St - MITREIT BRI ;

inspecting customers contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify performance obligations and
terms and conditions relating to transfer of
control of the goods and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition accounting policies with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

HEBRERR SN UHBINENSTREMRE
BEMETIRNGRRR G UK2ERTE
SFEAMNERE SEBNWAEDE T
=

obtaining external confirmation of, on a sample
basis, debtor balances as at the financial year
end directly with customers;

M UG S ERHESY - B R R S0 R
HFEEERFNEHE AL ;
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEFPNEERSZE

For the majority of the Group’s sales, when the products
are delivered to the location designated by the respective
customer and the customer take possession of and accept
the products, the control over the products is considered
to have been transferred to the respective customer and
revenue is recognised accordingly.

P EEENAOHEENS  EERXNERBAZTRAHN
EEMB BT EA L ERE QR B EROZEHIRER
RHROBBREMREEE R WABRRED -

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an inherent
risk of manipulation of the timing and amount of recognition
of revenue by management to meet specific targets or
expectations.

BB mERHA REARESEE EHRNKREEE
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comparing, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recorded during the year with
the goods delivery and acceptance notes or
customers’ statements to assess whether the
related revenue was recognised in accordance
with the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policies;
HEHFRDERNNARZBEYARIEE
FEFPRRETHEE LFHEERKGERER
B SEBEWREHES G TEHER T UM ;

comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with goods delivery and
acceptance notes or customers’ statements to
assess whether revenue had been recognised
in accordance with the terms of the sales
contracts and in the appropriate financial year;
and
HEHMBEFEARB PR BL RN AR KA
RZEEYMR RN ERE R RRIETHLER
MMt m R B ERBHESNBRARNEERE
W IFE T URER ; &

inspecting the sales ledger subsequent to the
financial reporting period and making enquiries
of management to identify if there are any
significant credit notes issued and sales returns.
We inspected, on a sample basis, credit notes
or customers’ statements to assess if the
related revenue was recognised in accordance
with the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policies.

STV ERESHABRNHEESER TR EEE
EHEH URERTAERAMNEANEFRE
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Assessment of provisions for taxation

Refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 230 to 232.

The Key Audit Matter
E R

RER L
S0 5 BB 75 2R B #6(c) R B230F
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

AEFPNEERSE

On 30 December 2023, Kunshan Q Tech Microelectronic
(India) Private Limited (“India Q Tech”), a subsidiary of
the Company, received a draft assessment order (‘2023
DAQ”) from the Office of the Assistant Commissioner of
Income Tax of the Ministry of Finance of the Government
of India (“the relevant Indian authorities”). The 2023 DAO
concerned the computation of taxable income for the
tax year ended 31 March 2021, and raised issues mainly
around the transfer pricing arrangements between India
Q Tech and certain other Group companies for purchases
and loans. In response to the 2023 DAQO, India Q Tech filed
its written objections to the Dispute Resolution Panel of
Income Tax Department in India (‘DRP”), and the dispute
resolution proceedings with the DRP were still in progress
as of 31 December 2023. When preparing the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group concluded at the time that it
was probable that India Q Tech would successfully defend
its tax treatment with higher appellate authorities, taking
into consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances
as of 31 December 2023 including the opinions from
tax advisors. Accordingly, the Group did not recognize
any provision and disclosed as contingencies as of 31
December 2023 pertaining to the matter.
RIZEZ=F+ZTHA=+H> SBXEKE2XEKunshan
Q Tech Microelectronic (India) Private Limited (TENE F84)
WEIENE BT BB SR EEEMAE ((ENEARRHEE
B1) BENTERSER (T2 =FMHESER)) °
TE T FHEESEEIREE R F=_R=1+—
BIERREENERRWASE T EE2EENE TK
B EEREETHMRAR  HMRBRERNEETEBLH
kHjEnﬁ] MEERM _T_=FTEESERZQNERR

FIREPIFEEAR/NAR (TERARNAE)) IREEER Y
ﬁi_v__¢+ A=+—H BEFZMRNENF
EBAEFNEETR - EHEE EATEE_ZC E
+ZR=+— EtifmAﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’m%Fﬁ
B2_=—F+_"_A=1+— EW%E@%%a&@R@Eﬁ
BEBzZRER) & SEEERNIR/MNEOCKMNERBE
BB LREEIETRENMRINMEERK - FIL &
EET=F+R=+—H> BEEREUEEFTAE
BRI ERNAEEE
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Our audit procedures to assess the provisions for
taxation included the following:

AT ERERENEAREFEEUTRIE !

involving our internal Indian tax specialists to
assess the Group’s provisions for potential
exposure to the tax dispute by discussing
with management to understand the dispute
and reading the correspondence between
the Group and the relevant tax authorities to
understand the associated risks;
BPAESNERBEREBEEEE U
TERBAUG UkEE SEELAERRE
P RA 2 B RV TR SRR LA T AR AR B8 R B > 1 T &
it BEEETEEHNNBAUDEE

involving our internal Indian tax specialists
to evaluate the assumptions and critical
judgements made by management which
impacted their estimations of the provisions
required, considering judgements previously
made by the taxation authorities in India and
assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias;

HRANAMNERFERS BALEERBFH

RR R AE  ZFBRRRAEG SR EM
P REBENG  TRMNERBERZA

EH R I > W T B B FEEEE RER B
E
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

TEPHERESE

On 5 November 2024, India Q Tech received the final
assessment order (the “FAQ”) from the relevant Indian
authorities. The FAO affirmed the assessment in the 2023
DAO, but imposed certain adjustments on the operating
profit margin benchmark used in the assessment.
RIZE_NE+—ALZH HNECHKBHNERREE RIS
RE&THES (TRATHEBES)) - RETHESHIZ
T=FIEESCEENTTGEERRY EH TGP ERAN
REF R REETE TR

On 22 November 2024, India Q Tech filed an appeal against
the FAO to the Income-tax Appellate Tribunal in India (the
“ITAT”). The dispute resolution proceedings with the ITAT
were still in progress as of the date of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.

A TEZNMF+—BZ+ T H NMERKMELTHES
MENEPER LR (TFRSM LeERE)) IRH Lifo &8
E BRoaHMBRRERETE B BFER LR
FEENFERBREFDTETR

On 27 January 2025, India Q Tech received a transfer
pricing order (“TPO”) concerning the computation of taxable
income for the tax year ended 31 March 2022 from transfer
pricing officer of Income Tax of the Ministry of Finance
of the Government of India. The TPO also raised issues
around the transfer pricing arrangements between India Q
Tech and certain other Group companies for purchases and
loans.

RIZEZHEFE—RB -+t B HE TS S N E BUF R
RN EEEEBEENBE S __F=A=+—HL
RMFENERRBRAGTEZLNERZEEES ((EEE
E<)) "BETESTHMOELCHRE BS£EEETHMA
BlzERERERNEEEEBLHHREES -

discussing the status and progress and
potential exposures in respect of the tax
dispute with Company’s external legal counsels
about their views on the likely outcome of the
dispute; and

55} %’-%@1E’J&%H%Eiﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁéﬁmﬁ?&f‘E%Eﬁﬂji
MAERRETERE THRREWFIFZES
RNEE &

evaluating the reasonableness of the
disclosures of the relevant tax dispute in
the financial statements with reference to
the requirements of prevailing accounting
standards.
S2RI[ITHHEANRE ST EMBRRPE
BEHEERBIFENGE S
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

RS EEPHERESE

In view of the above developments, the Group has
reassessed the probability and the extent to which that its
past tax treatments in all the relevant years would ultimately
be accepted by the relevant Indian authorities. The Group
has reflected the effect of the new information during 2024
as a change in accounting estimate of the taxation payable,
taking into consideration an estimation on the acceptable
operating profit margin in light of the latest information
available. The expected value method has been used to
estimate the taxation payable amount. As a result, deferred
tax assets of RMB64,676,000 in respecting tax loss was
de-recognised and taxation payable of RMB88,954,000
was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024. On the basis of the
management's latest assessment, it is expected that the
reasonably possible outcome of taxation payable to be
supplemented could range between RMB5,879,000 and
RMB140,095,000 in all the relevant years. However, given
that the dispute resolution proceedings with the ITAT were
still ongoing, the final outcome of taxation payable may be
different from the amount recognised and could fall outside
the above-mentioned range.

wER LR SEECEMITGHBIMBERSE
ENRBEES ZEKENEFREREMNT M
ERE-ZRIBBEEHTELE T EAKEN BENMG
5 BEEER_ZUFEMENNEERMAEN
MENGHhEtE - TRREEEZETHRA  UWEEEN
MEBETE - AL BEAVKEGENEERESTEEARE
64,676,000 7T 4% LEFE T > FE(THR TE A R #588,954,0007T
Al N ZE - MFE+_A=+—BNa M BERRER
N REEEENEHT G BHMAEEBAEEEMAN
BARENSEEERNTFARES,879,000EAR
#£140,095,0007T ° 73T » EEF PRI IR L e A RERY T % R
AREFDTETH BUYRBENRKERTESINER
FERE B sEBW DEE -

We identified the assessment of provisions for taxation as a
key audit matter because the estimates on these provisions
involve a significant degree of management judgement in
interpreting the relevant rules, regulations and practices
and in considering precedents in India, and the level of
provisions may be subject to a degree of management bias.
BRI sHEREREEY ARARESFE RARTEER
BAFRAI S ERRIBHAMUNRZ RENEN LR  ZEHBEN
EEIREEEENEEBHE MEREKFAEER
H—ERENEERRECE
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

B RHENERS

BRI HRRREZBEMERS
LUIMYIER

EFXFRANHMEEAE -HMERER R
TEHRERANEEES  BEFAEES
HYBHRERRHPIBZBENRE -

KB EHMBREFHNERLE AR
HMEHMER HMATHEMEREE
EAEANEER G o

EEeRMBEHMBRROES KA
WEETERBEMER  FILBRED:
ERHEMERRRHSHYUBRRA
HPEBFBRETHRTHRNBERFE
ERBENEUFFEERNERRIL
BB e

ERBRFAERTHIIF MREME A
HthEERFEERBERRL  RAFE
REZFE-RZENE KZMREEM
] e

EFEMEHMBRERAREN
BiE

EXREEREEKREFERNEZES
BmHNERMBRSER G 2ER R
BEEAAKRINEBEERREEEM
TENEHYBRET THHESIASRE
BHUBRERNBESEFEHINREE
WIERMENNEANERRAMFTFR
WEPIEFIE T -

EREEHMBRERE EFRE 8T
it SEEMNFELCEEN LEEA
BRTIRELAFBEERARNEIER X
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The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a
basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

B RHENERS
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

17 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
AR EM2EITER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ —Z_NF+_B=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (WA R#%17R)

2024 2023
ZETME ==
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Vi3 ARETT AR¥TT
Revenue &= ] 16,151,336 12,530,799
Cost of sales & R A (15,166,432) (12,021,943)
Gross profit EF 984,904 508,856
Other income Hhzm 4 373,188 384,067
Selling and distribution expenses $HE & 4B (20,133) (19,783)
Administrative and other THREMEERS
operating expenses (183,714) (149,254)
Research and development EERx
expenses (504,807) (435,550)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of B 5 K e RIE
impairment loss on trade (CRIEREE) RERBEE
and other receivables #E[o] (584) 702
Profit from operations REER 648,854 289,038
Finance costs B A 5(a) (152,122) (171,327)
Share of loss of an associate L EE AT EBE (36,500) (49,578)
Profit before taxation PRIR A F 5 460,232 68,133
Income tax FT8# 6(a) (181,164) 15,398
Profit for the year FERHEF 279,068 83,531
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
aHEm Ak HMEE R

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) BE _Z_NE+_F=+—HIEEE %)
(Expressed in Renminbi) U A B #717R)

2024 2023
ZETME —ET=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARET T ARETF T
Attributable to: RS

Equity shareholders of the KABRERFTEA
Company 279,068 81,917
Non-controlling interests JFIER T - 1,614
Profit for the year FEAEFH 279,068 83,531

Earnings per share (RMB Cents) SR 2 (AR ¥ %)

Basic B 9(a) 23.6 6.9

Diluted e 9(b) 23.5 6.9

The notes on pages 206 to 328 form part of these financial S5206ZE328E B MY 5T #5 Ak 3% £ B4 75 1)
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of R —ZF D o EN X AT REIZFA A
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in  FE{SE RN BZFN Z R E ZFEEH NI E
note 33(b)° 33(b) °

1 98 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
AR EM2EITER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) BZE _E_NE+_F=+—HILEE @)
(Expressed in Renminbi) (WA R#%17R)

2023
—EB-=
Note RMB’000
bzt AREF T
Profit for the year FRHEF 279,068 83,531
Other comprehensive income FREMEEILE
for the year (after tax and (PR EFh
reclassification adjustments): D iEFHER) !
ltems that will not be reclassified AEEHDEEETH
to profit or loss: BR:
— Share of other comprehensive — — &1L B & /A 5] E 1t
income of an associate ZHEE 12 (1,282) 1,003
- Equity investment at fair — B AFEFAEM
value through other SE MR E
comprehensive income ®E
— net movement in fair value — AT ERHE R
reserves (non-recycling) B EE)PEE 14 8,940 510
ltems that are or may be HERgEmoEEEEN
reclassified subsequently to EH
profit or loss:
— Share of other comprehensive — — FE(SH#E A\ B HAth
income of an associate 2HEWE 12 2,945 (660)
— Exchange differences on — A R g st DS
translation of financial EBW B IRERH
statements of operations fEREER
outside Chinese Mainland (34,482) (11,885)
Other comprehensive income  FRHEth2 &I
for the year (23,879) (11,032)
Total comprehensive income  FRAREUELEE
for the year 255,189 72,499
Attributable to: RS
Equity shareholders of the RABIRERFAEA
Company 255,189 70,885
Non-controlling interests JEERR S - 1,614
Total comprehensive income  FRAREUELEE
for the year 255,189 72,499

The notes on pages 206 to 328 form part of these financial 5206 E328E MM Z LR
statements. KN —Z 7o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMBINRER

as at 31 December 2024 R -_E_WFE+_H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) U A B #717R)

Note
et

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Interest in an associate

Intangible assets

Equity securities designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Prepayment for acquisition of
non-current assets

Other non-current assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Contract assets

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Derivative financial instruments

Pledged bank deposits

Fixed deposits with banks with
original maturity over three
months

Cash and cash equivalents

FRBEE
ENN ST L

R—EBE QTR
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IR
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BB A ENER
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TEERMIA
BIRIRIRITER
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14
20
15
16

17
32(b)

18
27(a)
19

20
15

21
22

28
24

2024 2023
—E_NF —ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFIT
2,650,512 2,845,043
233,756 279,035
19,459 22,689
56,359 5,600
151,712 =
663,038 473,976
12,369 19,876
9,550 9,550
105,119 180,292
3,901,874 3,836,061
1,975,751 1,777,515
6,840 3,637
4,987,877 4,201,289
350,040 511,242
182,228 121,589
99,414 =
555,576 1,301,776
940,857 296,557
1,447,471 2,893,084
10,546,054 11,106,689



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BIHAFEIRRAR

as at 31 December 2024 (continued) K —_ZE_ME+_A=+—H #)
(Expressed in Renminbi) (WA R#%17R)

2024 2023
—E_MF —F-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE AR¥T T AREFT
Current liabilities mEaE
Short-term bank borrowings RHAIRITE™R 25 2,352,495 4,151,506
Trade and other payables B REMENRRIE 26 6,562,764 5,437,031
Contract liabilities 5883 27(b) 11,863 5,548
Derivative financial instruments TTESmMIT A 21 56,568 52,300
Lease liabilities HEaR 28 7,165 8,389
Current tax payable FE{TENHRFRIE 32(a) 94,414 11,708
9,085,269 9,666,482
Net current assets MHEERE 1,460,785 1,440,207
Total assets less current BEERTHEE
liabilities 5,362,659 5,276,268
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE
Long-term bank borrowings REBIRITER 25 81,876 219,493
Lease liabilities HESE 28 3,493 7,484
Deferred income RIEU A 29 178,798 212,687
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 32(b) 7,126 4,853
271,293 444,517
NET ASSETS BEEFE 5,091,366 4,831,751
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMBINRER

as at 31 December 2024 (continued) R=—Z_MF+_"H=+—H #&
(Expressed in Renminbi) U A B #717R)

2024 2023
—E_WNF B =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T T AR®EFT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRKEE
Share capital fg s 33 9,486 9,486
Reserves e 33 5,081,880 4,822,265
Total equity attributable to EATIRERFE ARG
equity shareholders of the HEmAEEE
Company 5,091,366 4,831,751
Non-controlling interests JEVER S -
TOTAL EQUITY W 4A%E 5,091,366 4,831,751
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 177 R_E_RAE=A+tHAKESH ELE
March 2025. T o
He Ningning Hu Sanmu
AIZEZELE H=REE
Executive Director and Chairman Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
HITEEFRTE HITERFITHEZ

The notes on pages 206 to 328 form part of these financial 55206FE328E MIMIsTE R Z LB 7% R
statements. KE—E 7o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Afffem SR

for the year ended 31 December 2024 &%= — & — INFE+

+—HILEEE

—_RA=

o)

(Expressed in Renminbi) (XA R

oG iR —CHEMA HE A MWRI N AESCCEZ90CE
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
AHRERE

for the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —Z_MNFE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) U A B #717R)

2024 2023
“ENE 2=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR¥T T AR®EFT
Operating activities RS REY
Cash generated from/(used in) KRS, (FrA) IR
operations 24(b) 991,649 (378,783)
Income tax paid ETFTEMR (26,206) -
Net cash generated from/ KEEEARE S (FTA) B
(used in) operating activities HEFEE 965,443 (378,783)
Investing activities KREEE
Proceeds from disposal of BEEYME -BEX
property, plant and equipment AR R P 1S A 7,324 9,436
Payment for purchase of BEERHEENNGR
non-current assets (237,923) (136,314)
Proceed from maturity of financial Z2AF &5t AEFH
assets measured at fair value SREEDMERIE
through profit or loss 1,462,275 2,059,362
Investment in financial assets KRERAFEFAERN
measured at fair value through TREE
profit or loss (1,440,000) (1,355,000)
Proceed from maturity of financial 28845t EM SR E E
assets measured at amortised EHRPR 1§ FIE
cost 230,471 130,000
Investment in financial assets KREREHERATEN
measured at amortised cost TREE (463,233) (720,000)
Proceed from maturity of derivativefi7 4 & &t T B I HAFF 183018
financial instruments 54,238 68,620
Investment in derivative financial & &EfTESRIT A
instruments (71,276) (12,868)
Interest received 2UFHE 85,959 85,299

Placement of fixed deposits with  7ZH /R ZIH B8 =18 5 1Y

banks with original maturity over $R1TE#B7F X

three months (1,578,250) (279,859)
Proceed from maturity of fixed REHRA=EAN

deposits with banks with original  $R17 € Hi 777X &) HB

maturity over three months P18 ™IE 948,139 518,048
Payment for purchase of HBERAFESA

equity securities designated Hith2mk=mm

at fair value through other {5 R F TR

comprehensive income (39,709) -
Dividends received from RS SR EFT WAL B

investment in equity securities 1,605 S

Net cash (used in)/generated 13 & ;&S (FRA) FRiEW
from investing activities RERE (1,040,380) 366,724
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
aHRERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) BZE _E_NE+_F=+—HILEE @)

(Expressed in Renminbi) (WA R#%17R)

2024 2023
ZETME ==
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Viokz3 ARETT AREF T
Financing activities LB EED
Capital element of lease ENHAERENEARTER
rentals paid 24(c) (8,640) (12,307)
Interest element of lease ENEERENFETER
rentals paid 24(c) (611) (878)
Proceeds from bank borrowings  IR1T&R TS IE 24(c) 4,546,559 5,141,794
Repayment of bank borrowings — {EiERITE 24(c) (6,486,801) (3,454,201)
Placement of pledged bank G EIRIRRITER
deposits (919,899) (891,461)
Proceed from maturity of pledged B 3ER$R1T 7 =2 HA
bank deposits FriSsIE 1,663,579 906,934
Interest paid SRR 24(c) (166,670) (139,196)
Net cash (used in)/generated R E;EE) (FrA) Fr3ERE
from financing activities JRRE (1,372,483) 1,550,685
Net (decrease)/increase in cash IREKRIREZLEY
and cash equivalents (GRD) /g nnERE (1,447,420) 1,538,626
Cash and cash equivalents H—B—HBHNRER
at 1 January HEEEW 2,893,084 1,348,884
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREER L
changes 1,807 5,574
Cash and cash equivalents R+ZB=+—HMREK
at 31 December REEEY 24(a) 1,447,471 2,893,084

The notes on pages 206 to 328 form part of these financial

statements.

KB —EED o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1 Material accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting period reflected in these financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)
1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1 BEXRGHEBE @)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(b) MERMBHERNEE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise Q Technology (Group)
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s
interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

— Investment in debt and equity securities (note 1(f));

—  Derivative financial instruments (note 1(q));

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“BRMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand.
Items included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional
currency”). Most of the companies comprising the Group
are operating in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”)
and their functional currency is RMB, hence, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Group.

BE_Z_UFE+_RA=+—
BEFENGHBBRKREIE
E#AEE (&R BRAE (TR
RNE) REWB AT (KEA
TRER)) UREAEB R —E
ME TR

MRMBERRFTAFERET
FE SRR A4S B 2 > MR T SCFT 8L
ZESTHERERE UUTEE
kB EZREATFEHERERI

- EBRREZSSFKE (M
(f) 5

—

- TEE£RMIE (ME1();

BHVHBHRERUARE (AR
1) 29 WABERERN
THUH-FATERZERM
BIARIRE T EARERRKR
HESEAHEEEERRAZE
RRERBEINERE (T8
) AEBEETAZHA
BITEREARLME (TFHE)
EEARENNEEER/AR
KoEI N\ARERBFEEE

WEFNEHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application
of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 BEREGEBER (B

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

e Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (2020 amendments”) and amendments
to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

e Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in
a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
Group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(k(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Associate

(f)

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method. It is initially recognised at cost,
which includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) of those investees, until the date on
which significant influence ceases.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(K)(ii)).

Other investments in securities
The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other

than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set
out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation
of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 34(e). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 1(u)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)
BEAEHEER @)

(H MEFHNEMRE (&

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1
(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

()  Non-equity investments (continued)

() FFRERE ()

fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) - recycling,
flows of the investment comprise solely

if the contractual cash

payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss and computed in
the same manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The difference
between the fair value and the amortised cost
is recognised in OCIl. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in OCI
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Other investments in securities (continued)
(i)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
financial assets measured at FVPL, unless the
investment is not held for trading purposes and on
initial recognition the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in OCI. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If
such election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings and not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income (see note 1(u)(ii)(b)).

(g) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency risk exposures. Embedded
derivatives are separated from the host contract and
accounted for separately if the host contract is not a
financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognised in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 1(K)(ii)):

— interest in leasehold land and buildings where
the Group is the registered owner of the property
interest (see note 1(j));

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 1(j)); and

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

- Leasehold land 50-80 years
- Buildings 3-20 years
= Machinery 3-10 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years
- Office and other equipment 3-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets

Research and development costs comprise all costs that
are directly attributable to research and development
activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis
to such activities. Because of the nature of the Group’s
research and development activities, the criteria for the
recognition of such costs as an asset are generally not
met until late in the development stage of the project
when the remaining development costs are immaterial.
Hence both research costs and development costs are
generally recognised as expenses in the period in which
they are incurred.

Other intangible assets, that are acquired by the
Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 1(k(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands,
is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 BEREGEBER (B

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i)

()

Intangible assets (continued)

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit
or loss. The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:
—  Computer software 5-20 years
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

(i) As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

()

Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continueq)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of
12 months or less, and leases of low-value items.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If
not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 1(h) and 1(k)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1 BREGHEEK @)
() Leased assets (continued) () HEEE @)
(i) As a lessee (continued) () 1EBEABAN E

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable
to investments in non-equity securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 1(f)(i), 1(u)(ii)(@) and 1(k)(i)).
Any excess of the nominal value over the initial fair
value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

()

Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continueq)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there
is a lease modification, which means a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract, if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the

effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve

months after the reporting period.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL”s) on the financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, fixed deposits with banks
with original maturity over three months, negotiable
certificate of deposit, pledged bank deposits and
trade and other receivables and contract assets

(see notes 1(m)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls

between the contractual and expected amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following rates if the effect is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit
risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument)
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1 BREGHEEK @)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

k) FEGREREERE &

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

() ZEHITRELHEEER (#)

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

— the financial asset is 120 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

EEREANE_LFA (&)

rEBRREVEERDR
HBiEIOX  HEHERAKE
RIE_EFFeo

HHRUTER A%
ERESERMEELIREN:!

- EBAFTKAEES
EEEBRERINE
RIEW (WMFAH) F17
HHNBERTREEER
BEXNHEHEEER;
%

— SMEBEECD®E120
Eo

RHREEBENRSRSER
HETENMSEURKRE
BRI E BT RIS
EERREZH -AHEES
BRESENEAEHHIN
18 o B SR A% R (B W B
BeAERBAATRT
BB ERSEE
TEBHmEEERERE
ZIREEFHEREHEE -

20245 55 BB (RE) BRAT 223



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)
BEAGFHR &

k) EEGEEREERE @)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
being more than 90 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group otherwise determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories, contract assets and deferred tax
assets) to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU”s).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts
of the assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the resulting carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see note 1(k)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

U

(m)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follows:

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(u)(i)(a)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
terms in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for ECLs (see note 1(k)(i)) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional (see note 1(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(u)(i)(a)).
A contract liability is also recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable
is also recognised (see note 1(n)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

EXGHHR (2

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(n)

(o)

(o))

(a)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note 1(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL (see note 1(K)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with note 1(w).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Employee benefits

U

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payments granted to employees is measured
using the binomial lattice model. The amount
is generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the share option scheme. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the number of share options for which the related
service conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised is based on
the number of share options that meet the related
service conditions at the vesting date. The equity
amount is recognised in the equity settled share-
based payment reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued
and rest of the equity settled share-based payment
reserve is transferred to the share premium) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% HET5EEI > UARHEZ

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable
profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business
plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% HET5EEI > UARHEZ

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(t)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)
BEAGHE &
(u) WEREMEA #E)

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1
(u) Revenue and other income (continued)
()  Revenue from contracts with customers

() KEEFRSH M

(a) Sales of camera modules and fingerprint

(a) HERGERBRIGN

recognition modules

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a
gross basis. In determining whether the Group
acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct
the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties such as value added tax or other sales
taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the products
are delivered to the location designated by
the respective customer and the customer
take possession of and accept the products.
Payment terms and conditions vary by
customers and are based on the billing
schedule established in the contracts or
purchase orders with customers, but the
Group generally provides credit terms to
customers within 1-3 months upon customer
acceptance. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component as
the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)
BEAEFHBER B

(u) WEREMEA B

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1
(u) Revenue and other income (continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

() KEEFRSHHKa

(b) Other practical expedients applied

The Group has applied the following practical
expedients:

For sales contracts for camera modules and
fingerprint recognition modules that had an
original expected duration of one year or less,
the Group has not disclosed the information
related to the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations in accordance with
paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15.

(b) BEBHIARMAITEE

FE

AEEESEATIE
TRERE:

MEFEEHRAE—F
ZUTHEGEER
Ko 35 40 % B 15 4B 5 &
BHME > AEBIL R
R 5 B PR BF 75 ¥R 5 2
B551558 121 (a) R IK
EERMOoKEESHRTRE
HNEANRZERLE
R E R o

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income

(i) B R MR a R E A
KA

(a) Interest income (a) FIEKA

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. In calculating
interest income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). However, for financial assets that
have become credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the
gross basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income

(continued)

(b) Dividends

(€

Dividend income is recognised in profit on the
date on which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are recognised as deferred income
and subsequently recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the
asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

EXEEER (&)

1

Material accounting policies (continued)

(v)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of investment in
equity securities designated as at FVOCI are recognised
in OCI.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Renminbi at the exchange
rates approximately the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and

accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued) 1 BEXREEBE @)
(x) Related parties (x) FAEEA
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, @ M—RALTHFETIIE
is related to the Group if that person: o HNEIFEHRXERE
B0 £ 725 £ [ 5 R B
()  has control or joint control over the Group; i) HXxEEBFEF K

HEEHE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBBEEALE
758
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) AAREBEIARE
of the Group or the Group’s parent. NBETEEEAERK
Eo
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the b) FETIEREGHENER
following conditions applies: BD B A & & A R B -

()  The entity and the Group are members of the i) ZEBHEAXERAR
same group (which means that each parent, —&EEBMRE IR B
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to WA -WB AT K
the others). BalEBEA AT ZEA

A E) o

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of iy —EBAS—EBEMN
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture ME AT &=
of a member of a group of which the other (A —BBRFA
entity is a member). BEEBRETHRE RS

HEZE A ABHEE DR

F) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)
(x) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

2 Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 31 and 34 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of share options
granted and financial instruments. Other significant sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit losses for trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, which
are based on the Group’s past collection history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key
assumptions and inputs used, see note 34(a). Changes
in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and the Group may
be necessary to make additional loss allowances in
future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

2 Accounting judgements and estimates

(continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment at the end
of each reporting period. Property, plant and equipment
is tested for impairment when there are indicators that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the individual asset or the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable
amount of the individual asset or the cash-generating
unit is determined based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use.

Changes in facts and circumstances may result in
revisions to the conclusion of whether an indication of
impairment exists and revised estimates of recoverable
amount, which would affect profit or loss in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

2 Accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

()

Income tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
several transactions and calculations for which the
income tax treatments are uncertain. When there are
uncertainties over the income tax treatments, the Group
considered whether it is probable that the relevant
taxation authorities would accept the uncertain tax
treatments. In making this judgement, the Group has
taken into account all relevant facts and circumstances,
including the substance of the transactions, relevant
tax laws, negotiation with relevant taxation authorities
and opinions from professional advisors. The Group
will reassess the judgement or estimate if the relevant
facts and circumstances change or as a result of new
information which is expected to affect the judgement
or estimate. Any impact from a change in facts and
circumstances or of new information would be reflected
prospectively.

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses and other
deductible temporary differences carried forward are
recognised and measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. In determining the carrying amounts of deferred
tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated
which involves a number of assumptions relating to
the operating environment of the Group and require
a significant level of judgement. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% B158E5N > UAREEFIIR

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(a) Revenue (@

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and sales of camera modules and fingerprint recognition
modules for mobile phones, automobiles, Internet
of Things (loT) and other intelligent mobile terminals.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities
are disclosed in note 3(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products is as follows:

)

3 WmRkaE®E

Wi

FEENTEEXEBTREER
HEFH RERYEME(T)
FEEBRIRIENREEEREME
RIEWHBIEEH BRAEAEER
TEXEBNE—THBRME
3(b) IR EE ©

() Bz

RIZEREINERS
MU

2024 2023
—EME —ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR T
Revenue from contracts with Bt E R RS R
customers within the scope BISRHEEANET S
of IFRS 15: AR
Disaggregated by major products % F EE & E 5
- Revenue from sales of camera —HERGEEREAN
modules U &= 14,819,475 11,561,664
- Revenue from sales of fingerprint  — 84 & F5 458 Bl & 42
recognition modules By = 1,178,377 781,215
- Others* —H M 153,484 187,920
16,151,336 12,530,799

* Others mainly represent revenue from sales of other

products and waste materials.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition and
by geographical location is disclosed in notes 3(b)(i)
and 3(b)(iii), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

3 Revenue and segment reporting
(continued)

3 WmKknatdE @

(a) Revenue (continued)

(@) Wz ()

(i) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) () EBlRKz (&
The Group’s customer base is diversified and rEBREAEZTIENEER
includes three (2023: three) customers with whom ERBaiE=2((C8_=
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s F =2 XZEANERK
revenues. For the years ended 31 December 2024 MmEBBI0%NER B E
and 2023, revenue from each of these customers, TECNERE__E =
including sales to entities which are known to +ZBE=+—HILEE>
the Group to be under common control with KEZEERHWGE (B

these customers is set out below, and arose in
all geographical regions as set out in note 3(b)(iii).
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from
these three customers are set out in note 34(a).

BAREBMABREZER
FEHEREZES THEERN
HERR) HIW T MAAA
#hl& 2 BY 85 & RR & MY

H3Db)(i) Z=ZRBERELE

NEREEREFBHN

Bi5E 34(a)e
2024 2023
111 - 3 ==

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBTT

Customer A ZEA 4,500,620 3,409,573
Customer B ZFEB 3,374,493 3,818,253
Customer C ZHC 2,094,590 1,260,688
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEBEHERNERSE
paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15 to its sales contracts 15 40 Ko $5 A AR B AR 4B B £
for camera modules and fingerprint recognition ES (RFEHBRAE—F
modules that had an original expected duration U)K E R B R
of one year or less and does not disclose the SZER|FE1558F121(a) &

information related to the aggregated amount of
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations.

WRfTHRERZE B E
KREEBOEZRR NEXN
EENXZEREBRHNE
#4 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

3 Revenue and segment reporting 3 WEkhoEIRE &
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (b) DEPIRE

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

—  Camera modules: this segment engaged in design,
manufacture and sales of camera modules.

—  Fingerprint recognition modules: this segment
engaged in design, manufacture and sales of
fingerprint recognition modules.

(i) Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s most senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and direct expenses
incurred by those segments respectively. The
measure used for reporting segment result is gross
profit which is calculated based on revenue less
cost of sales for the relevant segment.

244 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024

FEEREBREERLES -
HRrEERSRATEER
/?t PTERERKREENIEZRA

HERNAA—B XEEE
2T MER 28D E6 - 8
BEENMEGS A TIHE
o7 ER o

- BERBEEREME . ZOTNE
i WS RIHEREGZE
*E“\HO

- BRI BIEAE =R
S %z R 68 € 15 AL
a8 Bl K= 4

() RDEBEE

ek o= (S
EoRERMS xEHE

BRERATEEREREU
TERERRIEZHRD
SIS

W kAP Z2EZE
o0 B P 2 A RO 8H 8RR 5%
ENWEENEEMAX
DEEFNEZHS M- AR
BEDHMEENIERERE
M) > EAR 4% 46 B8 53 86 B9 IR
mA S E R At E e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

3 Revenue and segment reporting
(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

U

Segment results (continued)

The Group’s other operating income and expenses,
such as other income, selling and distribution
expenses, administrative and other operating
expenses, research and development expenses,
impairment loss on trade and other receivables,
finance costs, share of loss of an associate,
and assets and liabilities are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly, neither
information on segment assets and liabilities nor
information concerning capital expenditure, other
operating income and expenses is presented.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as
well as information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
set out below.

3 WmKknEHmE (&

Camera modules
REEER
RMB'000
AREFR

2023

it -

(b) SEBIRE (&)

)

7 EEE (B

AEBNHEMEEWARKR
X (BIINEMUA -~ 5 &
R o3 6 B 32~ 17 BUR HoAth
KERX e 8
5 K HoAth FE R IR B E
B BMEMES  BEBER
BEE URBEELAERE)
WEZER DB E A
o MEZ2I DA EESA
BEEMNENNERELH
S HAh AR S U A B R S
BE o

HE_Z_NEE_E
=+ ZHA=+—H1
FEZWBAEBRDEGDS 2
KEEFNEOWA UK
REFTAEERS AT
EEERFEERSERSD
MRRAENAERT 2
WO ERIEHIAT o

Fingerprint recognition

R ERILE

Total
it
RMB’000

modules

RMB’000

ARBTT

2023
k-

2023

Disaggregated by timing of R ARERRE

revenue recognition - B2 - BRaE

Point in time
Revenue from external customers  RE NI RBIRA 14,819,475 11561664 1,178,377 781,215 15,997,852 12,342,879
Inter-segment revenue DEREKA 12,073 7,929 - - 12,073 7,929
Reportable segment revenue AZRABKA 14,831,548 11,569,593 1,178,377 781215 16,009,925 12,350,808
Reportable segment profit/(loss) B2 & HEF/ (58) 869,272 503,409 58,838 (54,499) 928,110 448,910

20245 55 ESBHE (RE) BRAT 245



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)
3 Revenue and segment reporting 3 WEkhoEIRE &
(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) BEHE (&)

(i) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue (ii) AT 2 #857 E6 Y i K 18 i B #1 AR

and profit or loss

2024 2023
—E_ME -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AEET T
Revenue 1§
Reportable segment revenue 7] 2 K 9 2B U &% 16,009,925 12,350,808
Elimination of inter-segment ¥ 84 &6 5 U &%
revenue (12,073) (7,929)
Other revenue H Az 153,484 187,920
Consolidated revenue &0t (BaE3(@)
(note 3(a)) 16,151,336 12,530,799
Profit gl
Reportable segment profit A2 DT 928,110 448,910
Elimination of inter-segment %854 28R 518
loss 2,442 1,591
Reportable segment profit REAEEINIELN
derived from Group’s AE2®D R
external customers 930,552 450,501
Gross profit of other revenue E U I EF] 54,352 58,355
Other income HAU A 373,188 384,067
Selling and distribution HE RDIHEMAS
expenses (20,133) (19,783)
Administrative and other THREMESEHES
operating expenses (183,714) (149,254)
Research and development 2552
expenses (504,807) (435,550)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of B 5 Kk EMEWIE
impairment loss on trade (RERR) REEE
and other receivables #[0] (584) 702
Finance costs BLE AR A (152,122) (171,327)
Share of loss of an associate FE{&5 Bt = A B k518 (36,500) (49,578)
Consolidated profit before PRI AT & BHET
taxation 460,232 68,133
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

3 Revenue and segment reporting 3 WERDIHRES &)
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) BEEHE (&)

(iij) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group'’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and interest
in an associate (“specified non-current assets”). The

(iii) HhEE (i EE

TEREHBER()FSEEK
B 8E &= P A W et e (i) 2
EEYME -BERKSER
B-EBRTEERRBER
@ (MEEFRBE

geographical location of customers is based on the El)NMEBLUEMNER -
location of operations of the contracting parties. ERNMIBMAE T IRIRE]
The geographical location of the specified non- B E L BE R E © 15
current assets is based on the physical location EFFRHEENMELE
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and DBIRBEEEBRAEMLE
equipment, the location of the operation to which HE (ERYZE MWE R
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, BRE) HOEHERM
and the location of operations, in the case of HEAKBLEE) UKKE
interest in an associate. EME (ERBE AR RE
) ©
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REBSMNBEF B BEFRBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
-l —E = el T =

RMB’000 [ERIV[=Xol RMB’000 REER(YI=Xeleo)
ARETT PGl AR ST PNSLaRT

Chinese Mainland R g 3 13,279,363 9,972,395 2,357,042 2,338,011
Hong Kong 5B 37,197 34,466 2,776 4,745
India ENE 1,891,762 1,882,304 309,768 372,322
Others Hith 943,014 641,634 234,141 431,689

16,151,336 12,530,799 2,903,727 3,146,767
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

4 Other income

4 EHugA

Government grants*
Additional deduction of input
value-added tax (“VAT”")*
Interest income
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain
Net fair value changes on financial
instruments at fair value through
profit or loss
— foreign exchange option
contracts
— forward foreign exchange
contracts
— wealth management products
and structured deposits
Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Dividend income from investment in
equity securities
Others

2024 2023
—_E_MWEF —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥FT
B i Bh 62,323 129,996
Mg ER (MEER)

IR 66,830 48,768
FEUWA 133,460 154,669
HNEE (B518) /W P58 (55,820) 7,988
BRAFEFABENSMIA

AT EEE)FEE
—INERRREE A

130,704 33,751
—=HINEED

21,703 (31,883)
— B ESAGEEENR

12,785 42,853
HEME - -BERIEREE

I8 958 (2,375) (3,709)

IRIEE ST ENREIRA
1,605 =
HAth 1,973 1,634
373,188 384,067

Government grants were received from several local
government authorities as a recognition of the Group’s
contribution towards the local economic development.

L According to Announcement [2023] No. 43 of the Ministry of
Finance and the State Taxation Administration of PRC, with
effect from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2027, advanced
manufacturing enterprises are allowed to deduct additional
5% of the current deductible input VAT from the VAT payable.
Two subsidiaries of the Company, included Kunshan Q Tech
Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (“Kunshan QT China”) and Kunshan
QTech Biological Recognition Technology Limited (“‘Kunshan
BR Subsidiary”) are qualified for such additional input VAT
deduction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Profit before taxation 5 PBxI‘EEIEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRIREDERRIAR G A) TF&
THB R .
2023
—ET=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AREFIT
(a) Finance costs (a) BEERRZS
Interest on bank borrowings IRTTERFE
(note 24(c)) (Kt5t24(c)) 151,511 170,449
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGHE
(note 24(c)) (Hta£24(c)) 611 878
152,122 171,327
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
(b) Staff cost (b) BEIRZ

Contributions to defined REMFTRARTBIMHRR
contribution retirement plan 51,757 41,933

Salaries, wages and e LTERAEMEHN
other benefits 970,600 761,414

Equity settled share-based MEREENRM TR
payment (note 31) (Ht5231) 4,426 (2,153)
1,026,783 801,194
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

5 Profit before taxation (continued)

(c) Other items (c) HhEHE
Amortisation of intangible assets \|EEMY (115213)
(note 13)
Depreciation charge* (note 10(a)) e (BYaE10(3)
— owned property, plant and —BEYE -BREXK
equipment AR
- right-of-use assets —FREEE

Impairment loss/(reversal of

B S RRIERERE,

5 FFRBENEF) (2

impairment loss) on trade CRUE RS 1R #[a])
receivables
Impairment loss on other HMEW R IB R ER B
receivables
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B4 B 77 B
- Audit services — B RTE
- Review services — B RR
— A Share IPO audit services* —ARBR N HEES
5T AR5
— Other services —H AR
Cost of inventories* (note 18) FEERA (H5£18)

Cost of inventories includes RMB1,161,399,000 (2023:
RMB965,972,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation
expenses, which amounts are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 5(b) for
each of these types of expenses.

Kunshan QT China, one of the Company's subsidiaries,
submitted the listing application for the proposed initial public
offering of its A shares to be listed in ChiNext of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (the “A share IPO”) on 23 June 2021 and
withdrew the listing application on 18 October 2024. During
the year, the audit fee for A-share IPO was amounted to
RMB13,573,000 which includes capitalized audit fee for A-share
IPO in previous years, these A-share IPO fee was charged into
administrative and other operating expenses as Kunshan QT
China withdrew the listing application (2023: RMB3,842,000).
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2024 2023
—E-mE B =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AREFT

5,233 4,007

357,412 349,689

91,800 89,946

226 (996)

358 294

2,076 2,963

660 57

13,573 3,842

- 144

15,411,639 12,231,892

FE M A8 F AR K
1,161,399,0007c (ZE =% : A
R #£965,972,0007T) » B8 T A&
RITERSZAR 2S5t A
ZESERRSTE EXEBEELY
A EE5(0) I BB A = TE AR £ 58 o

TATRBAT z—ELESKTEHR
ER_E_—FEXA-+=ZH%E
BINFRYIBSZZAERE XA
B EAR EHIRR EHEHE (TAR
BRAREE) TEN_Z M
F+B+N\BHEELEHEBEG BN
FE AREBRAHBEMNSETE
AAANR®13,573,00070° EH 6]
ERATFEAREBERN AHBERSE
TMEMBAER AR E LRSS
BE#E EHERE I ZEAR
BERAHBEERAEF ATHRE
MREEE (CEZ=F : AR
3,842,0007T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Income tax in the consolidated statement 6 JHffiESKkEMEEHKER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive P ERER
income
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) AFEZREMEEWERT
profit or loss and other comprehensive income IR IEES :
represents:
2024 2023
ol 111 - 3 B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥TFT
Current tax BENERFR IR
- PRC Corporate Income Tax ~ — B EFTER
(“CIT”) (TP 15,707 106
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNER 502 -
— Corporate tax payable in India —FRENEEN 2 2R
(note 6(c)) (M1 26(c) 88,954 =
105,163 106
Deferred tax RIEFRIE
Origination and reversal of B E R E 4 D
temporary differences (Ht5£32(b))
(note 32(b)) 76,001 (15,504)
181,164 (15,398)

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and
BVI.

(i) Kunshan Q Technology (Hong Kong) Limited (“Kunshan
QT Hong Kong”) is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at
16.5%.

() RERSEENEBREUES
(TREBRZES)) NEAK
AR AEEBEARREES
RRBREUEESHENERRMRE
A o

(i) Kunshan Q Technology (Hong
Kong) Limited (T2 E#KFE
B1) BIE16.5%N N /NS
EEFAURC T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents: (continued)

(i) According to the two-tiered profits tax rate regime
introduced under the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.3)
Ordinance 2018 (the “Ordinance”), the first HKD2 million of
assessable profits earned by a company will be taxed at
8.25% whilst the remaining assessable profits will continue
to be taxed at 16.5%. There is an anti-fragmentation
measure where each group will have to nominate only
one company in the group to benefit from the progressive
rates. The Ordinance was first effective from the year of
assessment 2018/2019.

Accordingly, the provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax
for Kunshan Q Technology International Limited (“QT
International”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax
rate regime, under which Profits Tax for the first HKD2
million of assessable profits is calculated at 8.25% while
the remaining is calculated at 16.5%. Such tax treatment
is consistent with the basis adopted for the year of
assessment 2022/23 (i.e. for the year ended 31 December
2023).

(iv)  Kunshan Q Tech Microelectronics (India) Private Limited
(“India Q Tech”), Q Technology Korea Limited (“Korea
Q Tech”) and Q Technology (Singapore) Private Limited
(“Singapore Q Tech”) are subject to the local income tax
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the

relevant countries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

SHEmkHMEERRTZR
RRIFREI (&

Income tax in the consolidated statement 6
of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income (continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents: (continued)

v)

(vi)

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
its implementation
Shenzhen Q Technology Limited (“Shenzhen QT
Subsidiary”), Kunshan BR Subsidiary and Kunshan QTech
Optoelectronic Technology Limited (“QT Optoelectronic

regulations, Kunshan QT China,

Subsidiary”) were qualified as High and New Technology
Enterprise (“HNTE”) and were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, and Huizhou DEPAM Precision
Automation Co., Ltd. ("Huizhou DEPAM") was qualified
as HNTE and was entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15% for the year ended 31 December 2024. All
of the other Chinese Mainland subsidiaries of the Group
are subject to CIT at a statutory rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

According to the relevant tax rules in Chinese Mainland,
qualified research and development expenses are allowed
for bonus deduction for income tax purpose, as a
result, an additional 100% of the qualified research and
development expenses could be deemed as deductible
expenses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

BHEZREMEZEEERSP
HIRIERS © (&

(vi)

REFEECEFRESREIRE
EHEG > B ESKPE R
T ERMEFREZERAE
(MRINEHKWB AT ~EW
EHE RN B A B &R EEk
HERFEERAT ((EHAE
MEAE) RReamkiihE
(MEMmgimdzx)) B W
REEZZ_NFER-ZF2=
F+ZRA=+—HIFE=Z
BE15% 2 BEMERE > ME
N EEEZBEEERAE
(TEMMmE) FEaEMmEm
rEER TREEZZT N
FE+ZA=+—HIEEZHE
15% 2 BEFMBRE -KAEH
Fr A E fth A P9 3t B B A B At
HE_ZNERZET =
+ZB=+—BLtFEEE
25% M EE MMM ZEFRE
o

1R P B A 3 BY AR R AR 75 R
EEBERMERXEMRSR
75 ERI R RESMOGR 0 AL - &
E_Z_MEREZ=F
+TZA=+—HLEFE I
100%8Y & B 4 B 3 i < 7J %
R PIHIRR ST ©
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6 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents: (continued)

(viij According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, dividends receivable by non-
PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises are subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 10%, unless reduced by
tax treaties or arrangements, for profits earned since
1 January 2008. In addition, under the Arrangement
between the Chinese Mainland and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect
to Taxes on Income and its relevant regulations, a qualified
Hong Kong tax resident will be liable for withholding tax at
the rate of 5% for dividend income derived from the PRC
if the Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner”
and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of the PRC

company.

The provision of the related deferred tax liabilities, if any,
are based on the expected dividends to be distributed
from these subsidiaries in the foreseeable future in respect
of the profits generated since 1 January 2008.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement 6 &fiExKkEMEEHKER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive R ER1EIR &)
income (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) HEBAREABTNRBEHZE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: ZEHEFNEER -
2024 2023
—E”_NF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETF T
Profit before taxation BRAR AT 460,232 68,133
Notional tax on profit before FRIBIAEMN R ERIE
taxation, calculated at the HHEBARBEEN
applicable rates in the BRMRETE
jurisdictions concerned 122,647 32,482
Tax effect of PRC preferential PEEERERFEN
tax treatments ﬁi‘“g/ &= (43,883) (7,487)
Tax effect of additional deduction & BE#HT 255X BURESMNOE
for qualified research and E’ﬁm‘“%ﬁ;
development expenses (59,373) (44,516)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR B 2
expenses 5,111 5,218
Tax effect of non-taxable income B EBM UL AR T L (5,954) (1,218)
Tax effect of unused tax losses ~ RERKRBBIRIBEEEN
not recognised METE 3,716 352
Tax effect of utilisation of tax SLRI RSB AIRIEREN
losses previously not MG
recognised (179) (229)
Provision for corporate tax RENER 2 BEMER
payable in India (note 6(c)) B1E (Watec) 88,954 =
Withholding tax on profit R P 3 B B A B R B e A
retained by Chinese Mainland Z RN (BFEE32())
Subsidiaries (note 32(b)) 5,449 S
Reversal of deferred tax assets  JoATHEERENE EAIRTFE 18
previously recognised for tax ZIREPR IS E E RO
losses of India Q Tech (note 6(c))  (#1:E6(c)) 64,676 -
Actual tax expense BERMERAL 181,164 (15,398)
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6

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (continued)

(c) Uncertainty over income tax treatments

On 30 December 2023, India Q Tech, a subsidiary of the
Company, received a draft assessment order ("the 2023
DAQ”) from the Office of the Assistant Commissioner of
Income Tax of the Ministry of Finance of the Government
of India ("the relevant Indian authorities”). The 2023
DAO concerned the computation of taxable income for
the tax year ended 31 March 2021, and raised issues
mainly around the transfer pricing arrangements between
India Q Tech and certain other Group companies for
purchases and loans. In response to the 2023 DAO,
India Q Tech filed its written objections to the Dispute
Resolution Panel of Income Tax Department in India (the
“DRP”), and the dispute resolution proceedings with the
DRP were still in progress as of 31 December 2023.
When preparing the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group concluded at the time that it was probable
that India Q Tech would successfully defend its tax
treatment with higher appellate authorities, taking into
consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances
as of 31 December 2023 including the opinions from
tax advisors. Accordingly, the Group did not recognize
any provision and disclosed as contingencies as of 31
December 2023 pertaining to the matter.

On 5 November 2024, India Q Tech received the
final assessment order (the “FAO”) from the relevant
Indian authorities. The FAO affirmed the assessment
in the 2023 DAO, but imposed certain adjustments
on the operating profit margin benchmark used in the
assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Income tax in the consolidated statement 6 4&H#iExmKkEME2EIIFEE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive PHER1BIR (&
income (continued)

(c) Uncertainty over income tax treatments

(c) FIRMEENTRELE (@)

(continued)

On 22 November 2024, India Q Tech filed an appeal
against the FAO to the Income-tax Appellate Tribunal in
India (the “ITAT”). The dispute resolution proceedings
with the ITAT were still in progress as of the date of
the Company’s consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue.

On 27 January 2025, India Q Tech received a transfer
pricing order (the “TPQO”) concerning the computation of
taxable income for the tax year ended 31 March 2022
from transfer pricing officer of Income Tax of the Ministry
of Finance of the Government of India. The TPO also
raised issues around the transfer pricing arrangements
between India Q Tech and certain other Group
companies for purchases and loans.

A ZTEWNE+—RBZ+Z
B ENEERMERARFEES
MENE PRI LR EE (TFRE
MESFERE)) RE EF-8E
KRR EYBRERERET
HH EBARERLFERERN
FREREFDEET

R_Z_HAFE—-RA-+tAH"
EN RS AU 2 BN RS BURT R BB
FISMEEEBEEMBE
T _HF=ZA=+—HIHR
FENERBBRAGFEZ D
WEEEERS ((BEEB
21 EEEELSTHRHNER
HEAXERETHMATZE
HBERERNVEEEEL IR
& e
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6

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (continued)

(c) Uncertainty over income tax treatments

(continued)

In view of the above developments, the Group has
reassessed the probability and the extent to which that
its past tax treatments in all the relevant years would
ultimately be accepted by the relevant Indian authorities.
The Group has reflected the effect of the new information
during 2024 as a change in accounting estimate of
the taxation payable, taking into consideration an
estimation on the acceptable operating profit margin in
light of the latest information available. The expected
value method has been used to estimate the taxation
payable amount. As a result, deferred tax assets
of RMB64,676,000 in respecting tax loss was de-
recognised and taxation payable of RMB88,954,000
was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024. On the basis of the
management's latest assessment, it is expected that the
reasonably possible outcome of taxation payable to be
supplemented could range between RMB5,879,000 and
RMB140,095,000 in all the relevant years. However, due
to the dispute resolution proceedings with the ITAT were
still ongoing, the final outcome of taxation payable may
be different from the amount recognised and could fall
outside the above-mentioned range.
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A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

SHEmkHMEERRTZR
PRIFREH (&)

Income tax in the consolidated statement 6
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (continued)

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development published the Global Anti-Base
Erosion Model Rules (the “Pillar Two model rules”) for
a new global minimum tax reform applicable to large
multinational enterprises. Certain jurisdictions in which
the Group operates have enacted the Pillar Two income
tax laws based on this framework.

The Pillar Two income tax laws have been implemented
in the Republic of Korea which introduced a domestic
minimum top-up tax effective from 1 January 2024. The
Group conducted an assessment of the Transitional
Country-by-Country Report (the “CbCR”) Safe Harbour
for its operations in the Republic of Korea and based on
the assessment, its operations passed the Transitional
CbCR Safe Harbour tests. Accordingly, the Group has
not provided any top-up tax for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Pillar Two income tax laws have been enacted in
Singapore which introduced a domestic minimum top-
up tax effective from 1 January 2025. Management
does not expect there would be material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Other jurisdictions in which the Group operates are in
the process of implementing their Pillar Two income tax
legislation. Therefore, it is possible that the Group may
be subject to additional Pillar Two income taxes in those
jurisdictions.

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar
Two income taxes and accounted for the tax as current
tax when incurred.

(d) Pillar Two income taxes (d) BZXZHFRER

N_E_—F KB FERE
RABMBRRAEBEREEE
WM ERRBRAIAEZEGE
KRERFREREFR (TFZ
ERBEREFA ) - AEERKE
FIENE TR EZREEREZ
ERFIE S ZZEREHRZE-

FE_IHAEREIEN KR
REEW BE_E_MWE—A
—BHEMESIARANRKERH
BR - AEBRMEMUNRAKEER
EMEEETREMERRRE
(TR AR E1) Z2 BTt R
BEHGH HEEXEFCEBEREN
BRREZ2BAR R I
AEFBITEMABEE S _MOF
+_B=+—HIFEEFREE
¥ R R IEHE 4 o

MNP ERIES _ 1R
OB ”_AFf—B—H4%
MESIABRNRERBER &
EBEEEAre Y AERNTS
RREMBATE

FEBESFRAENEMB AR
BIEBMAS —XHEMERL
EeoRAM  AEBABRERZ
FRAEERBNEMNIE T
SXAEFRISHR

FEBCHESRRERRS
X HEFERNIEERIRSR
& & EE K E B ER BT Rl 1 24
ROWRZRBBEERRHEA
ARZIVERDHARR IR o
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7 Directors’ emoluments 7 EEFEN
Directors’ emoluments during the years ended 31 December BHE_ZTE - NERZZEZI=F+T
2024 and 2023 are as follows: A=+—HLIEEEZEEFHMW
T

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors’ and other scheme  Discretionary payments 2024
fees benefits  contributions bonuses Sub-total Note1) Total

DS E]

AL -3 2

ESHE AR BRGHEIRR HiETEA It it
RMB000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR  ARBTm  ARETR  ARBTm  ARRTR  ARBTm  ARRTR

Executive directors ~ H{7EE

Mr. He Ningning FEES 320 328 16 - 671 - 671

M. Hu Sanmy HEAEE 60 1,154 28 - 1,242 79 1,321

Mr. Fan Fugiang EERE - 1,046 15 - 1,061 79 1,140

Independent BIERES

non-executive directors

Mr.ChuChia-Hsiang IR #LE 91 - - - 91 - 91

Mr. Ko Ping Keung BRELE 91 - - - 91 - 91

M. Ng Sui Yin SRERE

(resigned on H-E-mE=fF

25 March 2024) Z+ZAE 2 - - - 2 e 2

Ms. Hui Hiu Ching TEELT

(appointed on -y

25 March 2024) Z+EAEER) 70 - - - 70 - 70
660 2,528 59 - 3,247 158 3,405

260 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

7 Directors’ emoluments (continued) 7 EEFHM =
Salaries, Retrement Share-based
Directors’  allowances and scheme  Discretionary payments 2023
fees  other benefits  contributions bonuses Sub-total Note1) Total
LA
e ERR ERNAR  ZBIzE
EENE EER BN BETa gt (i) o

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ABETR  ARBIL  ARMTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors ~ H{7EE

Mr. He Ningning ARERE 34 34 16 - 664 5 664
M. Hu Sanmy I S 60 947 pal - 1,028 - 1,028
Mr. Fan Fugiang EERLE S 866 14 S 880 S 880
Independent BIEQES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chu Chia-Hsiang ~ MEH LA 90 - - - 90 5 90
Mr. Ko Ping Keung BRERE 90 - - - 90 - 90
Mr. Ng Sui Yin SRERE 90 - - - %0 = 90
654 2,137 51 = 2,842 = 2,842
Note 1:  These represent the estimated value of share options KizE1 ;. ZESRIERBEAERNER
granted to the directors under the Group’s share option ot nESRHNEREN
scheme. The value of these share options is measured HEBE ZEERENEE
according to the Group’s accounting policies for share- R EE1() (S AERE L
based payment transactions as set out in note 1(r)(ii) and, B AERNNRZZIZ st
in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to BEF 2 MEBRZBEK &
reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants EH OB T EERETSEN
of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting. HE S HARATAENRHE
BRI W2
The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal ZEEMENNES (BED
terms and number of options granted, are disclosed under EHERENTIZEMREHK
the paragraph “Share option scheme” in the directors’ B)REZEREERES
report and in note 31. ) —ER R M ES 1 EE o
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7 Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no amounts was paid or payable by the
Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals
set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the year.

8 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(20283: one) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7 above. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other three (2023: four) individuals are as follows:

ERFHM =

REFE AEBBERAZERTHTX
ST EMNERNRSH ATEMN R
BUEARBEFEABEBNALTESR
SRS AN 18 BY B2 BD 3L 1F A B B BY 1
B-RAEAFE TESFREETHLR
FHEXRBREEAME -

mEHAL

AEERBHATHEMLS
(B _=ZF . —%)AEFE H
FIRN EXHFE7TRE - HW =4
TET=F @A) AT
CERUTI

2024 2023
—E-_MmE — =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR#F T
Salaries and other emoluments #h 5 R ELth wr i 3,744 4,315
Contributions to defined contribution & XB{HE IR /R &2 H =
retirement plan 45 60
Equity-settled share-based payment LU# i 45 & A IG 1D 1 =X 231 =
4,020 4,375
The emoluments of the three (2023: four) individuals with the Fer=% (CE_=F . 0L m5%H
highest emoluments are within the following bands: ATHEFMAFUTEHE
2024 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A#
Nil — HKD1,000,000 221,000,000 7% - 1
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,00078 71 2 3

HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

9 Earnings per share 9 HKREY
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EREXZF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is EREXRBHNIEURANFT Z

based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB279,068,000
(2023: RMB81,917,000) and the weighted average of
1,184,538,000 (2023: 1,184,538,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the calculation
of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB279,068,000 and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,185,021,000
shares, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted)

(b)

BREFEABRGLEANAR
#279,068,00070 (Z B - =
F: AR¥81,917,0007T) &
FAEETZEROMEFS

$01,184,538,0008% (&=

£ :1,184,538,0000%) A& %
E
SREBERF

BE_ZE_N&E+_A=+—
HEFE SRESEERFT
MAEARBZERERFE AR
HEF AR®279,068,000
TREBRMNEF S H
E

1,185,021,0000% & EH %
mr:

BiBRINE FrI8 (#%)

Weighted average number of ordinary BR+ZBE=+—H8H8

shares at 31 December Zia miE e 1,184,538
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the R {EIR#E4x A 5] 85 B& 1

Company’s share option schemes SHEIEITRONEE 483
Weighted average number of ordinary BR+ZBE=+—H8H8

shares (diluted) at 31 December TER N9 E (%) 1,185,021

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and therefore, diluted
earnings per share is equivalent to basic earnings per
share for the year.

BE_E_="H+"A=+—
HEFEITREBETHEE S
R-AETFESREBERT
HEREXBMER -
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10 Property, plant and equipment 10 % R E KR35 H

264 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREEHER
Ownership
interests in
leasehold
land and Other
buildings  properties Office
held for  leased for Motor and other Construction
own use ownuse  Machinery vehicles  equipment Sub-total in progress Total
BREGLH
RETH BRHE WAR
BAREEG Ht¥g HERE AE Hih Gt TEIR ozt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2023 RZ%2Z=%-A-R 1,330,356 51,581 3,226,706 1,362 370,009 4,980,004 124,382 5,104,386
Additions wE 3,326 7,020 89,555 - 6,769 106,670 52,807 159,477
Transfer from construction in progress BB AR TR 85,058 - 1,877 - 6,378 93,313 93319) =
Disposals e @319 (842 (55366 (04 (@185  (2045%) - [04,59)
Exchange adjustments EQAE 1,732 173 1,998 - 827 4,730 787 5517
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 1,335,153 30,352 3,264,770 1,048 348,798 4,980,121 84,663 5,004,784
Additions 19,286 3,461 195,196 384 10,366 228,693 39,858 268,551
Transfer from construction in progress @#“Ef BIR 62,334 - 840 - - 63,174 (63,174) -
Disposals & = (10474 (24,567) - 7748 (2789 - (42,789)
Exchange adjustments EREE (2,017) (182) (2,159 - (926) (6,284) (808) (6,092)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME+ZA=+-H 1,414,756 23,157 3,434,080 1,432 350,490 5,223,915 60,539 5,284,454
Accumulated depreciation: ZiE:
At 1 January 2023 R_Z-ZE-E-R (324,914) (5522  (1277518) 670 (289,000  (1,917,824) - 1917824)
Charge for the year i @745 (10801 (318,707) (o) @261 (439,6%) - (439,63)
Written back on disposals HERER 70,639 22,062 39,461 274 29,387 161,723 - 161,728
Exchange adjustments EREE (26) (104) (331) - (169) (630) - (630)
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 (332,146 (14365  (1,557,005) 717 (92043 (2,196,366) - (219,366)
Charge for the year ERR (83,026) @774 (313369 (04 (43939  (449212) - (t921)
Written back on disposals HERER - 10,438 16,303 - 7,03 32,776 S 32,776
Exchange adjustments EREZ 293 143 871 - 650 1,957 - 1,957
At 31 December 2024 WZE-ME+-B=+-8 14879 (12558 (1854,290) @1 (328297  (2,610845) - (2610845)
Provision for impairment HERE
A1 January 2023 R-E-Z£-F- 20,182) - (26,561) - - (46,749 . 46,743
Written back on disposals HERRE 182 - 3,186 - - 23,368 - 23,368
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 kS = = (23,375) = = (23,375) - (23,375)
Written back on disposals HERER - - 218 - - 218 - 218
At 31 December 2024 WoE-mE+-B=+-8 = = (23,097) = . (23,097) - 23097)
Net book value: RESE:
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME+ZA=+-H 999,877 10,699 1,566,693 611 22,193 2,589,973 60,539 2,650,512
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F+ZR=1+-H 1,003,007 15,987 1,684,300 331 56,755 2,760,380 84,663 2,845,043
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 10 Y% - BRERI%2RH[E (&

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FREEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets AR EESER B D 2 FER#E
by class of underlying asset is as follows: BEEZREERFESFTAOT
2024 2023
—ETmE S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Vi3 ARET T AR¥TT
Included in “Property, STAMESHE &
plant and equipment”: HERER B -
Ownership interests in EAHE R ENEZITE
leasehold land and RASRNBBHAE

buildings held for own use, T &IEFHIHES
carried at depreciated cost 1w FIGFFEEHEA ©
in the PRC and India, with

remaining lease term of: ()

— between 27 to 75 years — 27TE754E 999,877 1,003,007
Other properties leased BITEMAYRNE B

for own use, carried at HMEHMY) %

depreciated cost (i) 10,599 15,987

1,010,476 1,018,994
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 10 Y% R E R4S E (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FEREELSE &
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases REBEZAEDERAEEZEX
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BEBESWFWOT :
2023
000
TR
Depreciation charge of BERAEEENSI 92
right-of-use assets by FREESEINTERS
class of underlying assets:
Ownership interests in leasehold A& T # KRIEFH
land and buildings EEER 83,026 77,745
Other properties leased HttBRHEEY=
for own use 8,774 10,801
Machinery MR - 1,400
91,800 89,946
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBN B (stsa)
(note 5(a)) 611 878
Expense relating to short-term  BEEEHEEZHAX
leases 867 473
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FRAEFERAEEEAAR
RMB3,461,000 (2023: RMB7,020,000). This amount #3,461,00070 (ZEZ =4 :
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments AR #7,020,0007T) % %8
payable under new tenancy agreements. TEHNHMEEGEETETE
KzEAHEENRER-C
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity EEEEasEsHEEREIESY
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 24(d) and ZIREREETEFED P E
28, respectively. FA Bt 5524 (d) K228 ©
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

U

(ii)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use

The Group holds several industrial buildings as
manufacturing facilities. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its factory, warehouse, staff dormitory
and administrative office through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 5 years. Lease payments are usually
increased every year to reflect market rentals.

10 Y%~

BB Rt eastm (&)

(b) FEREEE (&

)

(i)

HIFE BB LM RIEFHIH

FEBFEZEIEET
FEERMB -AEBB/Z
FEYERTNEMER
AN BERABLItEEK
D ARBIDEDER - B0
TRIEMEE ANEZE
MEED FEBRELX
T—REER BREL
WMEERREFFESN

EH-

ERHERMYE

FEFECZEBHEHEHREN
SEMMEZFERE F
HEBE-EE-BEIBS
RITBEBAE - HE—RK
M REBIESFEHE
MBEESFEMURRT
L
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11

Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

1 RBARNKRE

TREZIZTBRELEERXER
EENERNWBASZER k&
SEBRPIN FIFRNDENSEE

stated. B o
Proportion of ownership interest
BREELELH
Place of Group’s Held Held
incorporation Paid-up capital/ effective by the bya Principal
Name of Company and business registered capital interest company subsidiary activities
FER AR AF BHEAR

Y AMMIRE S BARES/ERES Bl R BE TEEH

Kunshan QTech Microelectronics Co., Ltd." People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) RMB2,887,588,000/ 100% - 100%  Manufacture and trading of
EULESHEFRERABRAR) PEARLAE (hE) RMB2,887,588,000 camera modules
Notafj and fi) AR 2,867,588,0007/ HERBERGERE

BUESKHEFRERNERAR AR H2,887,588,0007
Vi)

Kunshan Q Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKD10,001/HKD10,001 100% = 100%  Trading of fingerprint

5 10,001%75,/10,0018 7 recognition modules
BEENHAEA
Kunshan Q Tech Microelectronics (Indiia) India US$5,152,513/ 100% - 100% Manufacture and trading
Private Limited 0 US$5,152,613 of camera modules and
5152,513%75/ fingerprint recognition
5,152,513%7C modules
HERERRGERAR
e
Kunshan Q Technology International Limited Hong Kong US$10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Trading of camera modules

ELESHRERERAR & US$10,000,000 BB RGERE
10,000000£7,/
10,000,000%7%

Kunshan QTech Biological Recognition PRC US$72,426,000/ 100% - 100% Manufacture and trading
Technology Limited* (ELESEMERIRE  + 1S$290,000,000 of fingerprint recognition
ERAT]) Note () and (i) 72,426,000%7,/ modules

BB EEBRRERAT 290,000,000%7 HEREBENHETES
VDV

Kunshan Q Tech Smart-Forward Limited™ PRC RMB720,000,000/ 100% - 100% Manufacture and trading of
ELEHETRENKERAE) $E RMB2,150,000,000 camera modules
Note () and (i AE 720,000,000,/ HEREBRGEERE

BUEABTHENKERAT AR 2,150,000,0007
Vg

Huizhou DEPAM Precision Automation Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC RMB27,000,000/ 100% - 100% Manufacture and trading
(ENTEERZREEERAT) HE RMB27,000,000 of automated precision
Note () and i) AR #27,000,0007/ equipment

ENTEEREEBLERAT AE 27,000,007 HEREEEIRERE
W&

Notes: Mtk -
()  The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English iy ZERENERALBBABR X HEXE

translation is for identification purpose only.
(i) This entity is a foreign-invested enterprise established in
Chinese Mainland and registered as a joint stock limited

company.

(i) This entity is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in
Chinese Mainland and registered as a limited liability company.

(iv) This entity is a domestic enterprise established in Chinese
Mainland and registered as a limited liability company.
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12 Interest in an associate

12 R—ME QAT ER

Proportion of ownership interest

R RS
Form of Place of
business incorporation Group’s effective Held by the Held by a Principal
Name of Associate structure and business Paid-up capital interest company subsidiary activities
EMHLR
HEARLE EBGRTS  EBtE BHRES  FEEBREZ HERERE HNBARRE TEEH
2024 2024 2023 2024 2028
Newmax Technology Co., Ltd. Incorporated Taiwan TWD1,841,918,480 3547% 35.47% 30.95% 30.95%  4.52%  4.52% Design, research,
(‘Newmax Technology”) development,
(FENERABRAT) manufacture and
sales of optical lens
(Note)
MERRROBERAD (FERR) ST a8 HA1,841,918,4807C Ret B RERST
HRBEE ()
Note: Newmax Technology is a company incorporated under the MizE . HFHHENEA—RBRESE LZ

laws of Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.
Newmax is a strategic partner for the Group in developing
optical lens business where Newmax has extensive

experience.

As at 31 December 2024, 26,160,850 (2023: 26,160,850)
shares of Newmax held by the Group were pledged as
security for short-term bank borrowings (see note 25(a)).

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

AL BB SR 5P
EHHRF -MESEERE
RAPEBAXEZNEBEBMH
MmMEEZ T EEREEL

7
g o

A ZE_ME+-A=+—H"
NEBEFAEM26,160,8508 (Z =
— =14 :26,160,850/%) FERN B
KR EARBPRITEIRNER (B
BtzE25(a)) ©

BMEADNGHYBREDTRAR
mAARRe

ey
=

/|
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12 Interest in an associate (continued) 12 N—RBEARNERS &
Summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted TXHEBRE AT 2T HEER
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to B ZEENEME KR ZEM
the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, EBEELAE THEHTBEERREK
are disclosed below: ZAEREEHER

2024 2023
—EMEF —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARF 7T

Gross amounts of the associate’s Hf%& /A5 Z48%8

Current assets TMENEE 262,097 379,334
Non-current assets EREEE 848,548 992,478
Current liabilities mENEE 255,241 287,307
Non-current liabilities EREER 359,540 460,988
Equity & e 495,864 623,517
Revenue e 421,120 350,185
Loss for the year FREE (102,904) (139,774)
Other comprehensive income Htemia 4,691 965
Total comprehensive income P HEW R AEEE (98,213) (138,809)

Reconciled to the Group’s interest x££ BB & AT

in the associate #mZ Bk
Gross amounts of net assets of BE N B EEREELE

the associate 495,864 623,517
Group’s effective interest REBBERER 35.5% 35.5%
Group’s share of net assets of AEBEEBEADEESRE

the associate 175,882 221,161
Goodwill kS 57,874 57,874
Carrying amount in the consolidated &t #5#RFAIREE

financial statements 233,756 279,035
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13 Intangible assets

3 BIEE

Computer
software
s EEEG
RMB’000
AR T
Cost: s -
At 1 January 2023 RZZ2-_=%—HF—H 32,631
Addition e 394
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 KT -=F+-F=+—HXK
—E-mFE—HF—H 33,025
Addition nE 2,003
At 31 December 2024 S ZFE_ME+_A=+—H 35,028
Accumulated amortisation: Koty
At 1 January 2023 RIZZ=fF—HF—H (6,329)
Charge for the year FRIOR (4,007)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-F_=F+_A=+—Hk
—E-_pmFE—H—H (10,336)
Charge for the year FRIOR (5,233)
At 31 December 2024 R-BZOSE+_B=+—H (15,569)
Net book value: AREFE -
At 31 December 2024 A ZEIMF+ZHA=+—H 19,459
At 31 December 2023 W E_=F#+"_A=+—H 22,689

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
“administrative and other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FERNEBHEBEIAGHERRE
teEEmWE RPN M7 R R E MK
EEMA o
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14 BT ESt AR MEZET
HYfE TE ARt RE 55

14 Equity securities designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income

2024 2023
—ETmE ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
Investments in unlisted equity KEIFLTRESS
securities
- Dongguan Attach Point Intelligent —EREfERGE SEEBERR AT
Equipment Co., Ltd (“Dongguan (TERZ=AERN)) ()
Attach Point’) (i) 5,600 5,600
Investments in listed equity KE FTRESES
securities
— DORO AB (i) —DORO AB (i 27,372 -
— CAREIUM AB (iii) —CAREIUM AB(iii) 23,387 -
56,359 5,600
() Dongguan Attach Point is established in Chinese () EREEA L B AR Iz o
Mainland and engaged in manufacturing and trading of T EEEXRENEERE
precision equipment. No dividends were received on this SE-HFE_ZEZ_NE+_H
investment during the year ended 31 December 2024 —t+—HIEFE ZEELX
(2023: nil). WERRE (CTEZ=F 1 #|) o
() DORO AB is established in Sweden and listed on (il DORO ABMIHER AL » W YL
Nasdaqg Nordic, and engaged in the development and B ER FHh S ER
sales of senior-adapted phones, mobile phones, other fjf_l ESRERESE FH -H
technical products, and senior-adapted applications. In MENERES R EHRAERRE
January 2024, the Group purchased 1,230,000 shares of LM ZE-_WNE—F» KRE

DORO AB and held 5.01% of equity interest in DORO AB
as at 31 December 2024. Dividends of RMB1,605,000
were received on this investment during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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= & ADORO ABMHJ1,230,000
MM TR _E_ME+_
B=+—HABDORO ABH
501 %kRE-HEZZF M
F+_B=Z=+—HILEE"
EMZEBEWRREEARKE
1,605,0007T ©



14 Equity securities designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

(continued)

(i) CAREIUM AB is established in Sweden and listed on
Nasdag Nordic, and engaged in using smart technology
to provide care service and products. In January 2024,
the Group purchased 1,175,753 shares of CAREIUM AB
and held 4.83% of equity interest in CAREIUM AB as at
31 December 2024. No dividends were received on this
investment during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group designated its investment in Dongguan Attach
Point, DORO AB and CAREIUM AB at fair value through other
comprehensive income (non-recycling), as these investments

are held for strategic purposes.

Financial assets measured at amortised

cost

14 BATHESt AR M2 EIR

HItEE MRS (D)

(i) CAREIUM ABImEAYIL > IF
RILBMFTER Ehmo RS
ERASERERERERR
RER-NR_Z_MWE—A8 >
AEBEE ACAREIUM ABHY
1,175,753 KM LR _-F
“WE+ZHA=+—HFA
CAREIUM ABRJ4.83%M&#E o
BE_ZT_NFE+Z"HA=+—
HEFE UERZIKREWE
RE o

AEBIETHERERZHR - DORO
ABRCAREIUM ABHIIEE AR A F
Bt AHtZ2mWlE (R rl ) »
FERAZELETFIEBRERR-

RIS ENERMEE

Non-current assets
- negotiable certificate of deposit

Current assets
— negotiable certificate of deposit

Annual interest rate of negotiable certificate of deposit held
by the Group as at 31 December 2024 ranges from 2.00% to
3.30% (81 December 2023: 2.70% to 3.30%) with maturity

ERBEE
— T

RBEE
B ged

date from January 2025 to November 2026.

2024 2023
—EOE —E_=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBT T
663,038 473,976
182,228 121,589

AZE_NNE+_RB=+—H =&
EEFENTEZFENFENEN
F2.00%ZE3.30% (CE-_=F+_
A=+—H :2.70%%3.30%) > &
HHAZ_RAFE—RE_ZTX
F+—H-
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16 Prepayment for acquisition of non-current 16 URBEIESREN S EMTFENFIE

assets
Prepayment for acquisition of non-current assets represents WEEIEmBEN E EW BTN IBIE N EE
the prepayment for acquisition of property, plant and MME - BMERERSEREMMEE
equipment and intangible assets. BENTEMRIEB
17 Other non-current assets 17 HthIERBEZE
2024 2023
S V11 - "=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT
Other deposit Hithig & 9,550 9,550
-
18 Inventories 18 78
2024 2023
—EMEF .
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Raw materials and low-value R RARBEHFE R
consumables 886,107 760,174
Work in progress TR 353,336 464,890
Finished goods DA 736,308 552,451

1,975,751 1,777,515
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18 Inventories (continued) 18 78 (&)
(a) The analysis of the amount of inventories (a) HRABLZFABEPRNEE
recognised as an expense and included in profit SHENSHNOT

or loss is as follows:

2024 2023
“ENE .-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARF T
Carrying amount of inventories sold BHEFENREE 15,124,794 11,971,551
Carrying amount of inventories BmRAMEERNEEN
recognised as research and REE
development expenses 263,632 224,507
Write down of inventories F SR 23,547 39,650
Reversal of write-down of inventories 77 & 78 # 2] (834) (3,816)
15,411,639 12,231,892
The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years BEREFEFEMWRERL BN ITE
arose due to an increase in the estimated net realisable value BERNESE TR AN Gt IR
of certain goods as a result of a change in industry trend. FEEA e
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19 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

— third parties

— related parties (note 36(c))
Bills receivable

— third parties

Trade and bills receivables

Less: loss allowance

Other deposits, prepayments and
receivables

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be

8 7 EUGRIA

—%=5

— RS (B13236(c))

FE i
—E=5

8 7 BUGRIE K R

IR

Hih#g s BIRIER

FEWRR IR

recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
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19 B 5 KR EthEUTRIE

2024 2023
S 111 = —ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFIT
4,623,846 3,880,699
41,648 2,229
38,822 33,157
4,704,316 3,916,085
(682) (858)
4,703,634 3,915,227
284,243 286,062
4,987,877 4,201,289
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19 Trade and other receivables (continued)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade and bills receivables (which are included in trade and
other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

19 B 5 REMEBUTRIA (=
BRES 53 4

REREMER REREBHRE O K
HRBEERERNEZRBIRIER
Bl EE (Bt ABZRAEMEU
IE) BERE DTN ¢

Within 1 month FUER XA

Over 1 month but within 3 months  B4& 118 B1E31E B LA
Over 3 months but within 6 months  BiB31E B B 12618 B LK
Over 6 months but within 1 year HiEeE A B EMUR
More than 1 year iBiE 14

Trade and bills receivable are generally due within 30 days to
90 days from the date of billing.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivable are set out in note 34(a).

2024 2023
—E-MEFE —E-=

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFT

3,141,400 2,815,371

1,549,549 1,092,546

12,143 5,150

542 140

- 2,020

4,703,634 3,915,227

BSREKRFEREREE—RKRB
BHHEZHESS0HEIOHNR
E=p=2

ERTEBRFEERRKEZ BN

BFFEENEERMNEZHBE
Bt 5E34(a)
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20 Financial assets measured at fair value 20 B AFEFTABEGZNER
through profit or loss BE
2024 2023
“EMEF - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Non-current assets JERENEE
Wealth management products BYES 151,712 -
Current assets MENEE
Wealth management products and  IERf E @R R A B FER
structured deposits 350,040 511,242
The amount represents investments in wealth management ZEZEIEXNHAPEAME L S %
products and structured deposits issued by reputable BT 2B E RREEERER
financial institutions in the Chinese Mainland. There are no NS ZEEVERKREEERE
fixed or determinable returns of these wealth management Al [E E oy o] FEE YU S o

products and structured deposits.

As at 31 December 2024, wealth management products of N _E_MWMF+ZHA=+—H">
RMB151,712,000 held by the Group (2023: Nil) were pledged REBFENETER AR
as security for short-term bank borrowings (see note 25(a)). 151,712,000 (CE - =F:#) 5

HIREARBPRTEENER (R
iz 25(a)) ©

21 Derivative financial instruments 21 fTE£MT A

2024
—E-ME

Assets Liabilities

BE afR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT

Foreign currency derivative instruments  SMNETTE T A

— Forward foreign exchange contracts ~ —i=HRSMNE &4 37,438 (15,989)
— Foreign exchange option contracts —SMNERRESX 61,976 (40,579)
99,414 (56,568)
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21 Derivative financial instruments (continued) 21 T4 £ T A (&

2023
ey
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETT ARETTT
Foreign currency derivative instruments  MNESTHE T B
— Forward foreign exchange contracts ~ —&2 HAJMNE & 49 - (43,771)
- Foreign exchange option contracts ~ —9MNEHBREEAY = (8,529)
- (52,300)
22 Pledged bank deposits 22 BIRIPIRITIE™R

2024 2023
- 111 - 3 TEC=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETFT

Pledged for ABUTEIEEF

— short-term bank borrowings —FEHRIRIT B (BY3225)

(note 25) 256,012 967,979
— letters of guarantee — R 299,564 333,797
555,576 1,301,776
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23 Fixed deposits with banks with original 23 REEIRE =B R NIERITE
maturity over three months BRATZER
2024 2023
—EME 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBEFT
Fixed deposits with banks with FREH R A =@ 8 rE1T
original maturity over three months RERITERR 940,857 296,557
Annual interest rate of fixed deposits with banks with original N _E-_MF+ZA=+—H">
maturity over three months as at 31 December 2024 is EBEEHHAE=EAANETEERF
ranging from 1.75% to 5.00% (31 December 2023: 5.03% to TEREA1.75%E5.00% (ZF
5.86%). “=F+ZBA=+—H:503%%

5.86%) °

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IRERIRELEBEYREMIR

flow information EREEFR
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) REKRREEEBYEIE
2024 2023
—TE TEI=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Cash on hand FERE 72 72
Deposits with banks RITEN 1,447,399 2,893,012
1,447,471 2,893,084
As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents, RZE_HWE+—_RBR=4+—
pledged bank deposits and fixed deposits with banks H xEEFBEFZAPRHRKNHMIEIT
with original maturity over three months with aggregate MRS RIESZEEY - 2IKH
amount of RMB1,808,779,000 (31 December 2023: SBAGHEEINSEA A =EA
RMB4,063,485,000) were placed with banks in Chinese HNIRITEHEINEEAS AR
Mainland. Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland &1,808,779,0007T (—E=—=
is subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign F+ZHB=+—H: AR
exchange control. 4,063,485,0007T) - I B &
HAPE A BETEREINES
HIFR B B2 &R ©
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24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IRERIRESHXEBEY R EMIR
flow information (continued) EREEH @)

(b) BRIRATEF L EFRTREN
HER

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash
generated from operations:

20245 5% ESRHE (@) ARA5 281

2024 2023
—E-mE - ——
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
itz ARET T NG
Profit before taxation BRAR Al A 460,232 68,133
Adjustments for: MU T EIERHE
Depreciation e 5(c) 449,212 439,635
Amortisation of intangible B EE#H
assets 5(c) 5,233 4,007
Finance costs 2% 5(a) 152,122 171,327
Interest income HIISCYON (118,505) (148,988)
Loss on disposal of property, BEEYZE HEREIERE
plant and equipment BE 18 4 2,375 3,709
Write-down of inventories FEMR 18(a) 23,213 35,834
Impairment loss/(reversal of B Z R EMEWRIE
impairment loss) on trade AERES
and other receivables CRER1E# D) 5(c) 584 (702)
Equity-settled share-based MHEREENRM RS
payment expenses 5(b) 4,426 (2,153)
Net fair value changes on BAFEESTABED
financial instruments at FVPL £ T ENAF(E
EH)FE
— foreign exchange option —SNERRRE S AT
contracts 4 (130,704) (83,751)
— forward foreign exchange —IMNEEHEE A
contracts 4 (21,703) 31,883
— wealth management —IBYERKREBEER
products and structured
deposits 4 (12,785) (42,853)
Share of loss of an associate ~ FE{L— R E: = A B 548 36,500 49,578
Net foreign exchange loss/ SMEERSIE, (R a) SRR
(gain) 4 55,820 (7,988)
Dividends received from RHEBSFEEMBER
investment in equity
securities (1,605) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IRERIRESZXEWRHEHMIA

flow information (continued) EREEN &
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) PREREIEFELEFRGIRER
generated from operations: (continued) HER . ()

2024 2023
TEINE ———

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTT BNGL AW

Changes in working capital: EEETEE .

Increase in inventories FEIEM (221,449) (628,897)
Increase in contract assets BHBEEE (3,203) (3,637)
Increase in trade and B 5k EMEWRIE

other receivables A0 (714,728) (776,171)
Increase in trade and 85 KB FEN FIE

other payables #En 1,037,242 825,798
Decrease/(increase) in BIRRIRITEROR D

pledged deposits (1% m)

with banks 16,946 (317,828)
Increase/(decrease) in EHadgm b

contract liabilities 6,315 (10,757)
Decrease in deferred income  IEIEUR AR (33,889) (34,962)

Cash generated from/(used in) #&&FF1E, (FFA) RE
operations 991,649 (378,783)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IR HIRESZXEWRHEHMIA

flow information (continueq) £HREEH &)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METBELEZABHIR

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAKAKEEE FHESLE
from financing activities, including both cash and non- EEEHFE BEREKIE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities RSBy -MEIHELE ZE
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash BLARERERARAKEER
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash SENAERSHESRERE
flow statement as cash flows from financing activities. DEAMETHREREZ
I=NER
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITER HEAR st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBFT ARETTT
(Note 25) (Note 28)
G (Fito8)
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-mE—-HB—H 4,370,999 15,873 4,386,872
Changes from financing HEREREEH .
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans ¥iR{TE RS IE 4,546,559 = 4,546,559
Repayment of bank loans EERITEN (6,486,801) - (6,486,801)
Interest paid BAFIE (166,670) - (166,670)
Capital element of lease ENHERENEATER
rentals paid = (8,640) (8,640)
Interest element of lease ENHEERENMETER
rentals paid - (611) 611)

Total changes from financing ~ BB RS RELE 4L
cash flows (2,106,912) (9.251) (2,116,163)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IRERIRESZXEYWRHEHMIA

flow information (continued) EREEN @)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHELEZEBHEK @)

financing activities (continued)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
SRITIEM HEaR st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARBTFT ARETF T
(Note 25) (Note 28)
(F=£25) (MfzE28)
Exchange adjustments ERRE 20,346 - 20,346
Other change: Hith&s)
Interest expense (note 5(a)  FEBIZ (Hfit5(a) 151,511 611 152,122
Settlements of trade BERHMERSELE
payables directly by the B REMAFIA
bills endorsement 1,838 = 1,838
Maturities of bills endorsed MeREZESEIH
with recourse (3,411) - (3,411)
Increase in lease liabilities from ERFIUHAEEEZ
entering into new leases HESBEM
during the year - 3,461 3,461
Decrease in lease liabilities from ERKZ IR ERZEE L
terminating lease agreement & & &R
during the year - (36) (36)
149,938 4,036 153,974
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZRE
+-B=+—H 2,434,371 10,658 2,445,029
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IR HIRESZXEWRHEHMIA

flow information (continued) EREBEN &
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEBEBFBEEZEGBHIE @)

financing activities (continued)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITER HEAR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARBTT ARETFT
(Note 25) (Note 28)
(P =£25) (HfzE28)
At 1 January 2023 A _E_=F—H—H 2,615,977 27,520 2,643,497
Changes from financing HEREREEH .
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans #TiR1TERFRERIA 5,141,794 - 5,141,794
Repayment of bank loans BERERTER (3,454,201) - (3,454,201)
Interest paid BEAHE (139,196) - (139,196)
Capital element of lease ENHERENEATE
rentals paid - (12,307) (12,307)
Interest element of lease BNHEEHENMETE
rentals paid - (878) (878)
Total changes from financing ~ B ERERELIHEER
cash flows 1,548,397 (13,185) 1,635,212
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash 24 IRERIRESZXEYWRHEHMIA

flow information (continued) EREEH &)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEBEBFBEEZEGBHIER &)

financing activities (continued)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
SRITIEM HEaR st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARBTFT ARETF T
(Note 25) (Note 28)
(F=£25) (MfzE28)
Exchange adjustments ERRE 38,381 - 38,381
Other change: Hithgs)
Interest expense (note 5(a)) FBBX (Hzto(a) 170,449 878 171,327
Settlements of trade BERHMERSELE
payables directly by the B REMAFIA
bills endorsement 3,411 - 3,411
Maturities of bills endorsed MeREZESEIH
with recourse (5,616) - (5,616)
Increase in lease liabilities from ERFIUHAEEEZ
entering into new leases HESBEM
during the year - 7,020 7,020
Decrease in lease liabilities from ERKZ IR ERZEE L
terminating lease agreement & & &R
during the year - (6,360) (6,360)
168,244 1,538 169,782
At 31 December 2023 RZZBZ=H
+-B=+—H 4,370,999 15,873 4,386,872

286 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

24 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash
flow information (continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

24 RERBFEEBYREMIR
TREEHN (&

(d) ERABEZRERHAEEE

MEESARERERZEH

=
AL

SEAKERSE)

Within operating cash flows ERE
FFARMEBEREMRE

Within financing cash flows

These amounts are related to lease rentals paid.

25 Bank borrowings

BEUTEIE !

2024 2023

—E_ONE —E_=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBT T
867 473
9,251 13,185
10,118 13,658

ZEcRACNEHEEZA
38 °

25 FRITER

Long-term bank borrowings RAEBIRITENR
— unsecured — AT
Short-term bank borrowings RHAIRITE™

— secured (note (a))
— unsecured

—BRIR (Hat@)
— IR

Bank borrowings bear interest ranging from 2.50% to 5.60%
per annum as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
2.40% to 5.77%).

2024 2023
“EmE —ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBET T
81,876 219,493
425,424 977,190
1,927,071 3,174,316
2,352,495 4,151,506
2,434,371 4,370,999

R_E_MmME+_-_BA=+—H"
IRITIEHRIEF K2 50%F5.60%5t
BE(CE_=ZF+"RA=+—8H":
2.40%FE5.77%) ©
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SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% HET5EEI > UARHEZ

25 Bank borrowings (continued)

(a) Assets pledged as security for bank borrowings

At 31 December 2024, the secured bank borrowings
of RMB425,424,000 (31 December 20283:
RMB977,190,000) were secured by the following assets
of the Group:

25 $R1T

(a)

W AR (BaE12)

Shares of an associate

(note 12)

Pledged bank deposits BIERIRITER (W5222)
(note 22)

Wealth management products 284 & W& (#15£20)
(note 20)

(b) The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank

borrowings is as follows:

)

ETA (IIE
REABITERERNEE
RZIEZWFEF+ZAHA=+

H > E?&ﬁﬂfﬁﬁ ERARE
425,424,000 (Z&E - =
F+-_B=+—H: AR
977,190,0007t) U T3 AEH
BHEFIEM
2024 2023
S 111 - = —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T
93,605 111,660
256,012 967,979
151,712 -
501,329 1,079,639

(b)

Within 1 year or on demand —FRFPREREE
After 1 year but within 2 years —FZERHER
After 2 year but within 5 years MEBEREER

(c) Several banking facilities and borrowings of the Group

are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries’ statement of financial
position ratio. If the Group was to breach the covenants,
the drawn down facilities would become repayable on
demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance
with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s
management of liquidity risk are set out in note 34(b).
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BIBTTEFNEERB RN D
MU

2024 2023
—ENF BT =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFT

2,352,495 4,151,506
81,876 138,821

- 80,672

2,434,371 4,370,999

(c)

AEEE TIRTHRENRERA
BTrTETHAERETHEA
TAMBERTLEERRBEEAMNEZ
FoMAEBRERZE B
HXE’Jnﬂé\i%@t?ZTaﬁa &
B THEZTHEETLHENE
o KEH ﬁyj/\ﬁﬂﬁ“@

BIE— T eF B H I HIEES4(b) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

26 Trade and other payables 26 BZ REMEIRIE
2024 2023
—EMEF —E”=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Trade payables B S ENRIE
— third parties —5%=5 4,567,346 4,209,719
— related parties (note 36(c)) —RAR 5 (WE£36(c)) 18,180 24,529
Bills payable FET 45
— third parties —5%=5 1,668,450 993,424
Trade and bills payables B ENRBRENEE 6,253,976 5,227,672
Accrued payroll st TE 111,513 78,321
Other payables and accruals HihfEN IB R ESTE R 197,275 131,038
6,562,764 5,437,031
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled ERrEEB 2 R EMENTIETEERT —
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FREENEREES B AL BILEXR
demand. BiE-
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HEMSGSHRKk IEEHHI D2
the trade and bills payables (which are included in trade and BOEMNTBEBRENERE (BE5t A
other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows: B5 MEMEMIRIE) ZRE D
wr
2024 2023
“E@EEF —ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Within 3 months R3EAB LA 5,092,169 4,032,954
Over 3 months but within 6 months  Bi@31@ 8 1B 61E 2 LA 583,894 482,518
Over 6 months but within 1 year HBiEoE B ER1EMA 331 3,160
Over 1 year Bid1E 4,780 2,386
5,681,174 4,521,018
As at 31 December 2024, trade and bills payable includes ATETFE+_HB=+—H &
accrued trade payables of RMB572,802,000 with no invoice 5 FE (T8 & fE 1 24 61 3E 1 4 U
received (31 December 2023: RMB706,654,000). REENEFEZENARBARE

572,802,000t (Z&E =%+
B=+—H: AR#706,654,000

) @
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SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

27 Contract assets and contract liabilities

(a) Contract assets

Contract assets BNEE

Arising from performance under REHESHNEBLH
sales contracts of equipment  FrE 4RI E FH

Receivables from contracts BRI #5ER &S #E R $E1555 5 F
with customers within the ANE R &L EIREIE
scope of IFRS 15, which are 3t A8 5 R H Mt AEUERIE)

included in “Trade and other  (#75£79)
receivables” (note 19)

The Group typically agrees to a one year retention
period for 10% of the contract value of sales contract
of equipment and software. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention period
as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s products keep properly
functioning during the retention period.

All of the contract assets are expected to be recovered
within one year.
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27 aNBEERGHER

(@ GHEE

2024 2023
Sl 11 - = —E2=

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREF T

6,840 3,637

4,703,634 3,915,227

AEBBERBURE R
HEGHNNGNEEBER10%F
—FHNFRER -ZTBFAG
NEEEEREHER RA
REEBERESERREN
MR R A EEERR R
BHRRITEBSEF-

FREENBEERSBR—FR
DEIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IHEFERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

27 Contract assets and contract liabilities 27 EHNEERANEE (&
(continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHEE
2024 2023
—ETmE 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TT
Receipts in advance FAEWEIE 11,863 5,548
Contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced SEHNEBEFEHARETERII®N
consideration received from customers, for which the BN EERE HEBEEELH
underlying products are yet to be delivered to the KT EXE B IETE B HBE 0 i
location designated by customers or yet to be accepted K= AER o

by customers.

Movements in contract liabilities BB EEE
2024 2023
“EME —E2-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT AR¥TFT
Balance at 1 January ®—B— B 5,548 16,305
Decrease in contract liabilites ~F#st AGHNEBENER
as a result of recognising WHEREREN
revenue during the year that s&Rb

was included in the contract

liabilities at the beginning of

the year (5,548) (16,305)
Increase in contract liabilities as & RIUENE R TR RRIBE R

a result of receiving advances GBREREM

from customers during the

year 11,863 5,548
Balance at 31 December R+ _B=+—HmW4&&x 11,863 5,548
All of the contract liabilities are expected to be FrES4BEREztEN —FR
recognised as income within one year. B AEUR A o
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SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

28 Lease liabilities

At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as

28

HERR

KRB _NE+—R=+—H-#&

follows: Z2HESENEINOT :

2024 2023

—E_MEF —E:=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFIT
Within 1 year 1R 7,165 8,389
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FERER2ER 1,278 5,821
After 2 years but within 5 years 2ERBERSFER 2,215 1,663
3,493 7,484
10,658 15,873

29 Deferred income 29 IRIEUG A

Deferred income represents government grant recognised in
according with the Group’s accounting policy as set out in

note 1(u)(ii)(c).
30 Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution retirement plans

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group
participates in various defined contribution retirement plans
organised by municipal and provincial governments for its
employees. The Group is required to make contributions to
the retirement plans at 15% — 16% of the salaries, bonuses
and certain allowances of the employees. A member of the
plan is entitled to a pension equal to a fixed proportion of the
salary prevailing at the member’s retirement date.
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IR JE IS A F5 1R 38 B 5E 1 (u) (i) () FT &K
MAREBR B RERNBAE
Bfyo

e & B k1a|
R HRRR R 3t B

BUPBERFARE *EBSH
EBEZSHEMETBNFIENSER
MRS - FEBBREE H
T EALKRE T ZMBVI6%E16%
MR RET B fF Rk - T BRI B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

30 Post-employment benefits (continued)

31

Defined contribution retirement plans (continued)

The Group operates a MPF scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions
that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contribution.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
pension benefits beyond the contributions described above.

Equity settled share-based transactions

On 5 June 2024, the Company granted share options to 506
eligible participants to subscribe for a total of 10,280,000
ordinary shares in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the post-IPO share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 13 November 2014. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the
Company, subject to certain performance conditions. The
exercise price is HK$3.518 per share, being the average
closing price for the five trading days (both dates inclusive)
immediately preceding the date of grant.

30 [EERAKEF (B

31

FEMETERKEE (&

AEBERB(BHERGMEABES
BFRD) R BB (ERIEA) EE
THEEETHREZE -BRE
SEIARBUIRTEAEENRE MR
MR E - REBEESE B
TRERBERDAAFEEAEH
EEABHSRIERMER 5 HERME
A BRI ER#30,000% 7t © # 5t &l
F By R BB 57 B » B SRR R
WH SRR A EEBIERLIRE
HRRKTFE o

B 2 FR DASh » A5 55 B O 4R H A
X BRREEBMHNERSE

UEmE RN S

A —E_WENRBAB AR

BARBR_E—NE+—B+=
BHRANEXT  HEERBRE
SFEINIE R R4 m506% B E
RM2HEERHEREUIESH
10,280,000 E @ - B0 R #
P EFEARBEARR —KREER
HREF  HEEFTEE TRERE
TREBASKRI.518EB T BRIZR
CYEBPAEEXZH (BEEEW
H) NEHKRHE-
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SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

31 Equity settled share-based transactions

(continued)

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follow:

31 UHEmEENRHERS (&

RHIFERRFEFOT

Number of Contractual
share options Vesting period life of options
BREHE REH BRENSHEDR
Granted to managements:
RTEER
—-on 5 June 2024 1,662,500 9 months from date of 1 year and 6 months
grant to 31 March 2025
—RIZTHFEARBAA RUEBHBEZZZ1HF 1E26EA
ZA=+—HAHEAR
—-on 5 June 2024 1,662,500 1 year and 9 months from date of 2 years and 6 months
grant to 31 March 2026
—-RZE-WEBEA REBBHEZZ-AF 2EZ6EA
ZR=+—HAMEZTEA
Granted to employees:
BEYESR:
—-on 5 June 2024 3,477,500 9 months from date of 1 year and 6 months
grant to 31 March 2025
—-RZE-WERBEA REBHE_S 545 1EZ6EA
=A=1+—HABRER
—-on 5 June 2024 3,477,500 1 year and 9 months from date of 2 years and 6 months
grant to 31 March 2026
RZZEZMEXBAH RHEBRBHE_S-REF 2EZ6EA
ZA=+—HAMEZIEA
Total 10,280,000

st

The number of the options to be exercised after each vesting
period is subject to a performance guarantee mechanism
with reference to audited profit before taxation after excluding
the share of profits/(losses) of an associate and government
grants of the Group for the respective financial year as
disclosed in relevant announcement of the Company.
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BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

31 Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

31 UEmGEENRERS (@)

BRENMEB R MEFHITEEN
T

2024
—TME
Weighted
average
exercise Number of

price options
e
TEE fBRREHE
HKD ’000
AT T

Outstanding at the beginning REVERITE
of the year

Granted during the year REREF

Forfeited during the year RERBERM

Outstanding at the end of the year RERMEKRITH

Exercisable at the end of the year RERAT{TE

The options outstanding at 31 December 2024 had an
exercise price of HKD3.518 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.5 years.

3.518 10,280
3.518 (159)
3.518 10,121

R-IE-NME+_B=+—HiEk
TENEBRENITFEBEA3.518%8
T MEFHEREGRELHELEA1.5
f'fo
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SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

31 Equity settled share-based transactions 31 UEEREENRNRS &

(continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options is measured based on a binomial option pricing
model. The contractual life of the share option is used as
an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

BRENATERRR

LR B REREYRBNAFE
2ERLBRENAFTESE-B
RIENAFEMGHIBIHERE
BERAEABE-BRENGOFHE
ZEEPERBABBEER - ER
TENEREEAZERRN-

FBRIER A FERER

Vesting date 55 & B

Maturity date FHR

Fair value of share options granted R EHHEFTEIEE
to managements BEBRENATE

at measurement date

Fair value of share options granted R it2 HHARFREEREDN
to employees NEE
at measurement date

Share price &
Exercise Price TfEE
Expected volatility TEHRR 18
Risk-free interest rate & mE fpH) =
Expected dividends RHEAR B
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01/04/2025 01/04/2026
31/12/2025 31/12/2026

HKDO0.999 HKD1.253
0.999%8 7© 1.253%8 7T
HKDO0.986 HKD1.241
0.98678 7T 1.241%8 7
HKD3.40 HKD3.40
3.40E 7T 3.40% 7T
HKD3.518 HKD3.518
3.518% 7T 3.518% 7T
59.08% 57.42%
3.97% 3.62%
0.00% 0.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(continued)

2024 Share Option Scheme:

The expected volatilities are referenced to the historical share
price volatilities of the Company. Expected dividends are
estimated based on the Company’s dividend plan. Changes
in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents:

31 UEmGEENRERS (@)

BRENATERRERR (&

ZEMFEERESE

TR EBS2ER T ABNELR
BERE - TR EDREFATH
RS8R - T B ABEBR
RHOBIEA R AT EMGBFEMREKR

B2 4
o=

32 GHMBIRRRFBFREIR

(a) EHMHBRRRPEENARIE

5 :

2024 2023
—E-MF TEC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETF T

Current tax payable FE{T BN ERFR I8

PRC Corporate Income Tax RE R
Corporate tax payable in India R EIEE[ 2 S ERER

5,460 11,708
88,954 =
94,414 11,708
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32 Income tax in the consolidated statement 32 SRR RRPBERE

of financial position (continued) €=}
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) BHENEIERBESERERE:
(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax () BEFREZEREESHEL
assets and liabilities S HIE B
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) FRREHIBRTRE
recognised in the consolidated statement of RNEIERBEE, (B
financial position and the movements during the &) BY#E B 8F 9 e & &)
year are as follows: LU
Fair value Fair value
change of change of
financial equity securities Unrealised Undistributed
instruments at ~ designated at intra-group Right-of-use Deferred  Cumulative tax profits of PRC
Deferred tax arising from: BEREELR: FVPL FVOCI profit ~ Impairment  Depreciation asset Lease liabilities income losses subsidiaries Total

BOTE  RATEHA
AN Et2EKED
SHIR EERERS RER PEMELIK
AvERE  AVERE  EEAER #f g EREEE HEaR EEHA  RARBER PR 5t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARBTR  ARRTn  ARRTn  ARKTn  ARETrn  ARETrn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETRn  ARETn

A1 January 2023 (1,109 - 2,401 14,559 (5.461) (3.331) 3273 37,148 111,558 - 159,042
(Cherged)/credited to profit or loss (i HABE
(note 6a)) 4) 6,528 - (1,866) (5453) 756 1758 (1,758) (5,244) 20,783 - 16,504
Charged to other comprehensive income BB B2 EME = (%) - - - = = S - (90)
Exchangs difference on translation EREE o - - L] - - - - 43 - 983
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024
5423 (90) 535 9,146 (4,705) (1673 1515 31,904 133,284 - 175,439
(Charged)/credited to proft or loss
(ote Ga) (24,809) - 1,758 1,606 821 37 (291) (5,083) (44.901) (5,449) (76,001)
Charged to other comprehensive income - (1,767) - o S S S S S - (1,767)
Exchange difference on translation - - - (0] - - - - 326 - 322
At 31 December 2024
(19,386) (1,857) 2,293 10,748 (3.884) (1,226) 1,224 26,821 88,709 (5,449) 97,993
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

32 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(continued)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of

32 SHMBIRRRPBFREIR

(#&)
(b) ERRPWIEERBEEERSE
&: &)

(i) BRI

financial position
2024 2023
—EZNF TET=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFIT
Net deferred tax assets in the PR &I FER T RERH
consolidated statement of RIERIEE E 3 E
financial position 105,119 180,292
Net deferred tax liabilities in the Y& B F5 AR M R R AT
consolidated statement of RIEIRIE & (R /F 58
financial position (7,126) (4,853)
97,993 175,439
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (c) KRETVIEERIEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BRI EE1 () Fr & hY & s ER »

1(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB31,883,000
(2023: RMB36,901,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.

AREBUAMBFFRIELEEBA
E#31,883,0005 0 (Z & - =
£ AR #36,901,0007T) FE2
RERIBEE > RERE A THE
MEEEREERER T KA
ERAHAREHEEENRRE
FERRI AT c BIBIRITIR A
MIBEBRAZEER -

2024555 BB (@) ARAT 2090



32 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position (continued)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted
to RMB1,568,575,000 (2023: RMB1,308,154,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB78,429,000 (2023:
RMB65,408,000) have not been recognised in respect of
the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the company controls the dividend
policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed
in the foreseeable future.

33 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FERRMIEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

32 &HIMTBRARB G

(d) KEERIE

=
=}

RIEMIBER R

\_V_IT_EIEJr )% ol

B A B KD R E A
Eﬁﬁﬁﬂ% HMEEAARIE
1,5668,575,000 0 (Z&E =
F . AR%1,308,154,0007T) ©
HRAABZEHZENB A D
RIRE BB » EEE@EE&%@
FMETEE N REKDBE
DB B R FL D Eauzfrﬁ
A FE AT 1R T8 B SRR JE 1R 18
BEARK78,429,0007T (Z
T =& ANR¥65,408,000
7T) ©

3B EE -HERRE

(a) EmBOEH

FEBSHERSBOBHEL]
R R %E?E’Jﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘\@ﬂ%
ﬁﬁﬁ@]%‘% o 7 /A ) 18 m 18l ) &P

statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in DI EVEFERNEEHFFEH
the Company’s individual components of equity between T
the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Equity settled
share-based
Share Share Exchange Other payment Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
NN
e iR EE ERGE Hitis  BRRAGREE RGN 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEBTTR AEETT AREFT AEBTTR ARETR AREFT
33(d)) 33()i) 330)() 33(d))
As at 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F-F- 9,486 1,439,803 100,106 066 2,163 12,612 1,664,276
Equity settled share-based WEEERRG Hx\%
payment transactions - - - - (2,153) - (2,153
Total comprehensive income ~ ER2EREAE
for the year = 5 19,095 = 5 (5.713) 13,382
Asat 31 December 2023and  WZEZZ£+ZA= '|' BR
1 January 2024 ZE-mE-B- 9,486 1,439,803 119,201 66 = 6,899 1,675,605
Equity settled share-based lx%%*ﬁﬁﬁ ®ip Mx‘%
payment transactions - - - - 4,426 - 4,426
Total comprehensive income ~ ER2ENEAE
for the year - - 16,973 - - (6,347) 11,626
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA=+-H 9,486 1,439,853 136,174 66 4,426 1552 1591,557
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 33 BE-HERBE &)

(b) Dividends (b) BE
(i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () FERAEMERGTREFEA
Company attributable for the year RE

2024 2023
—E-mE —TT=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFR ARBFT

Final dividend proposed after the ¥R HAR 18 5% R 35

end of the reporting period RHEARZ B10.07811

of HK$10.0 cents (2023: (CEZ=F 1 THWL

HK$ Nil cents) equivalent to HERHARESIR

approximately RMB9.3 cents CE2ZI=F . AREBZH)

(2023: RMB Nil cents) 109,688 -
The final dividend proposed after the end of the WERRBEZNKRER
reporting period has not been recognised as a B AR BREHHREDA
liability at the end of the reporting period. BEe

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FEAEHERFTZ L—HE
Company attributable to the previous financial FEETELEGRIEFAA
year, approved and paid during the year ’Re
No dividend in respect of the previous financial year, BHE_ZE_NFEE_E
approved and paid during the financial year ended —_=f+”"B=4+—81
31 December 2024 and 2023. Bf B B R A O KR

NERML—ERFENR
Bo
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

33 B HERKRE @

(c) Share capital (c) Bz
Number of
shares Amount
&R kot
’000 HKD’000
Ti FHET
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares of HKDO0.01 SREECOIEATZEER
each 50,000,000 500,000
Number of Nominal value of
shares ordinary shares
RiPEE LEREE
'000 HKD’000 RMB’000
T TEr  ARETEx
Ordinary shares issued and BETRBCLER:
fully paid:
1 January 2023, e e S R =
31 December 2023, “BCHE+A=+T-H
1 January 2024 and “ZCME-A-HEK
31 December 2024 “2ME+ZA=+—H 1,184,538 11,844 9,486
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33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distributable to the shareholders
of Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividends is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
financial statements of operations outside Chinese
Mainland which are dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies as set out in note 1(v).

PRC Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Group’s PRC companies and relevant statutory
regulations, appropriations to the statutory
reserve fund were made at 10% of profit after tax
determined in accordance with accounting rules
and regulations of the PRC until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. This reserve
fund can be utilised in setting off accumulated
losses or increasing capital of the PRC companies
provided that the balance after such conversion is
not less than 25% of their registered capital, and is
non-distributable other than in liquidation.

3BER

EEKRRE (&)

d) REENEERBR

)

(i)

(i)

BR17EE

REMEEE QTR EE
5])  ARBRMEERLE
NEZADIKTERAT K
RoRESEBEREZRIKE
KREERZ®  xRFMN
BRENEBEXHBRES

BEIHRE

B R SRR E R E P
b LU b 2 35 0 Rf 75 98 2% P
BE LM — S EE BB 0 48
B8 T AR B 31 (V)T
@ IR -

o B TE

REAEEREHATMAE
BERME RBREEER
Bl RERE TR E
Gt HA REREE R
MBEF10%ETIR BEE
HHEGRBEINEMELTH
50%7% Lk - = H = A A
RBERStBEERPER
BIEAEN AERREA
AEMERERNDINEHE
SEMEAN25% BERB
BINFEDEC -
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33 B HERKRE @

33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv) Share of other reserve of an associate

v)

The share of other reserve of an associate
represents the share of unrealised gains or losses
on fair value changes in equity securities designated
at FVOCI of an associate and the share of exchange
reserve of an associate.

Other reserve

The other reserve of the Group mainly represents (i)
the difference between the carrying amount of share
capital of QT Great China and the nominal value
of the share issued by the Company in exchange
for all the issued share capital of QT Great China
under the reorganisation of the Group completed
on 26 June 2014; (i) The retained profits and PRC
statutory reserve of Kunshan QT China transfer out
under the shareholding reform completed on 29
December 2020.

(vi) Equity settled share-based payment reserve

The equity settled share-based payment reserve
comprises the portion of the grant date fair value
of unexercised shares options granted to the
directors and employees of the Group that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in note

1(r)(ii).
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d) RENEERRBR (B

(iv) EIE—RME R BB M #E

v)

PR —BEE QB EM
EBEERE—BBHZEQF
BAFESAHMEEEK
mBEEREESFHNAF

DR 8 A — RO B A BB
P 2 {18 o

Btk

rEBNEMEETER
()QT Great Chinafy & 7Bk
HEARXABRERAEER
NZE—WERBIZ+R
HERMNEHRAAZTBRQT
Great ChinaZ B 21T
AMmMET 2RO ZEE
ZHENEE (B LR
mER _E_ZTF+_H
T+ HERBERR G K
BETEHNFRE RN EP
B A TE e o

(Vi) KERBZFBIRG (176

DURE 22 45 B0 BR D 1 TR e
B EFERE M EE1 () (i) Fr &L
MR MDA 5T
RKEIRTFTAEEEER
BEZXRTTHEBRENRER
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(vii) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
securities designated at FVOCI under IFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period (see note

1(f) (if)).

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
bank borrowings and lease liabilities) less cash and cash
equivalents.

33 B HERKRE @

d) RENEERBR (&

(vii) 2 FIEFE (FaI#EB)

REEHEE (THRE) &
BRBREMRAAREE
M B RS ERBREA
FEFAHRMEEKER
EEREESHLATER
stEEE (RMEE10)

(e) BEFXREH

rEBEEEANEZERS
REAEEFELCENES
BEARRBKTRERER
URUGEMARSHE
B IR R 2R B4R e A H M7
m A A 75 F AR A e

FEERGBENERREERR
BEARRBE UHFRMEESK
FHER TAEBRNBESR
ROFALEFTRBEAR Y
FRhZ2ZEEFTE I
BEREEBRBERNELCHESE
AIRHE ©

AEBUKHABREREEFE
EERDEEERHEEARRE
MUEMS  EFABEERETE
EnEHRE (BERTER
REEER) BRERERERE

EEY-
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33 B HERKRE &

(e) Capital management (continued) (e) BEXRERE (&)

33 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

RIE-_MER_FT_=
+-A=+—B AEER
BEEASEEALENT

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31
December 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Fm -

2024 2023
—E_NF ET=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
K&t ARETT AREFT
Current liabilities: mENEE
Short-term bank borrowings 42 BRIRTTEER 25 2,352,495 4,151,506
Lease liabilities HEEaE 28 7,165 8,389
2,359,660 4,159,895
Non-current liabilities: JEREEE
Long-term bank borrowings ~ EHIIRITE R 25 81,876 219,493
Lease liabilities HEad 28 3,493 7,484
Total debt BEERE 2,445,029 4,386,872
Less: Cash and cash B IRENRIREEEY
equivalents 24 1,447,471 2,893,084
Fixed deposits with banks with JRE/HEH =188 M EHIIR
original maturity over three TEBE™R
months 23 940,857 296,557
Adjusted net debt KARABERE 56,701 1,197,231
Total equity HEmiE%Ea 5,091,366 4,831,751
Adjusted net debt-to-capital KB BARBERELE
ratio 1.1% 24.8%
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets measured at FVPL, pledged
bank deposits, financial assets measured at amortised
cost, fixed deposits with banks with original maturity over
three months and derivative financial assets is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

The Group does not provide financial guarantee which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
21.32% (2023: 25.63%), 18.06% (2023: 17.55%) and
79.09% (2023: 79.13%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer, the
second largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

4 TMIAZEMAREERER

AFAE

AEBRABETBERELER
E-RBES MEKREEEK-

TXRAFERREBRZS R
MERFEBEEZSRARAHFARN
TREREEBRRKRIER

(@) EERK

SERBRERZHFRERTT
HENEFMEAEBREERN
BHEENRER ~EENEES
B EZERERESE UMK
HeAEBRRREERREEE
Y- RAFESFABDAEZR
EE -CHEBRTER RE#
WA ENEREE  RE
HEAE=EANIETEREMR
ERTEEMEEMELENEE
REAR ARAXZHFAA
EERBAEERRBERRT
R RIS o

FEBITEEHMBER <
rEBREEEERE-

REBERZEPFKEMMETER
BxRurEEERMSESES -
CEREEREEFREFEETLAE
ExZEAMENEFL B KE
TE - RBEHFR BEFEWK
WIEMEZEM21.32% (ZE =
& 125.63%) ~18.06% (&
=% :17.55%) ’%79.09%
(ZEZ=4%:79.13%) D5
EWBEAEBRERARR -FZ
AERAKRAEARER o
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34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different type of
customer, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished among the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables:
Current (not past due) BNHA (R ER)
1-90 days past due #HA1E90H

91-180 days past due #IHA91E180H
181-365 days past due  #ifi181%FE365H
More than 1 year past due #EEAFBIB14E
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)

M EMTEZEREREER
NFE #E)

(a)

Expected

loss rate
TEHARSIE X
%

%

0.01%
2.45%
14.02%
N/A
100.00%

EERE (&)
ES KR ()

FEBREEREZHEREES
BIENEE (AREERESSE)
REFEEZRRRIAGEE
w-HAAEENBEEERR
KERARTIRENERE
EXEENBRERL #fRa
HKRESTEMEREERA R
rEBFARAERERE—TE
5o
TEREJAERRBREERR
MO 8B 5 W R IB R TR AR (S
HEBENER

2024

T

Gross
carrying Loss
amount allowance
IRE4(E BiaEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T

4,660,363 (474)
4,569 (112)

542 (76)

20 (20)
4,665,494 (682)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continueq)

34 TMITAZEMAREER

NTE (B
(@ EERE #&)
2023
- ——
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIEX IRmEARE B iR E
% RMB’000 RMB’000

%

ARBT T ARBT T

Current (not past due) BRER (R3afHR)
1-90 days past due A1 E90H
91-180 days past due #IHA91E180H
181-365 days past due  #Hf181E365H
More than 1 year past due #EEA#BIB14

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

0.01%
0.32%
1.43%
95.28%
100.00%

3,879,884 (425)
2,463 8)

140 2

381 (363)

60 (60)
3,882,928 (858)

REEXSERBE12(EA
MEBREBRER ZFLXEMF
A > LU BR L B2 FE St 89 A
BBV AR ~ BRI AR T A R 7
EEHERREERERAL
BRI R 2 IRV ER -
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34 Financial risk management and fair values

of financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

34 EMITAZEHMEREERR

DFE &

(@)

Trade receivables (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables during the year is as follows:

Balance at 1 January K—B—BWN&R

Impairment losses recognised B ERE
Written-off 1 24
Exchange difference on translation & E R ZE%E

Balance at 31 December

(b) Liquidity risk

The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group,
which includes the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of funds to cover expected
cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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EERK &)
EZEWHIE ()

FREZRERBEBREERRK

R+—8B=+—Hi%EE

(b)

2024 2023

S 111 = ET=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TT
858 1,837
226 =
(410) (996)
8 17
682 858

mENE & A

MEBERAEEEREE
ETPEEREAEFNEHRRE
AREEESTURNERNRS
BEXR-AEBBBRDEHE
ERPETERRAEABER
AERBTIER  UEREER
THRBETREMSEIESR
WERHEEHNNAEER XU
BNEERARRMARSHEESR
Ko
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 M THAZSREAKEER
REE (E

of financial instruments (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) TEBEEREK (&)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRIITEAEENESREERN
" . ) : = o A S
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’s REPRERENREBRER
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual = (BFE%ey %'JI_JZ (B
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments B) BEBERBRSHREBITHH
. . . oS A
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on EHENHE ﬁ D EBRTHA
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the HNE B RAEETRERX
earliest date the Group can be required to pay: NHROREBHE:
2024 2023
ZEIME —§Z=
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
RHRBRRERT AUFBRRE T
Within -~ More than ~ More than Within ~ More than ~ More than
1yearor 1yearsbut 2 yearsbut Carrying  1yearor 1yearsbut 2 yearsbut Carrying
on lessthan2 less than 5 amount at on lessthan2 less than 5 amount at
demand years years Total 31 Dec demand years years Total 31 Dec
BE-F BEME ®’+ZA BR-F BEWE R+ZB
—FR [EE S [EENS =+-B  —FAF B R B =+-A
EEX k3 it @t WREE EEX RE iE @ MEREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Bank borrowings RITER 2,406,585 83,045 - 2489630 2434371 4202438 144,699 81823 4428960 4,370,999
Lease Liabilties HEERE 7,352 1,350 2,529 11,281 10,658 8,507 6,268 1,911 16,776 15,873
Trade and other payables BRREMEMTE 6,562,764 - - 6562764 6,562,764 5,437,031 - - 5437,031 5,437,031
8,976,701 84,395 2529 9063625 9,007,793 9,648,066 150967 83734 9882767 9,823,903
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £RTEZSREAMSER

of financial instruments (continued) NEE #E)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIERAM

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. Bank borrowings at variable rates and at fixed
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s
interest rate risk profile as monitored by management is
set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management

of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of
the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting

FMEXEREEMRIANATE
Y%Xfﬁé/ﬁiﬁ%lﬁ%ﬂ

-E"]}FU%—KHKEEB\EKXQEET:I{%
MRBEEBE BIERAERK
BEIEMEFENRITERS K
ERDRAZHEERENER
B RN TEMNERR BHEIE
BERINAERF X EREH R
I T EB()E

() FIEREHR
TRERAFTEEEEEE

) ai?'JZIK$E’§*E¢HH5E
BY f& R A R SR

period:
Notional amount
mHE
2024 2023
—EMEF —EB_=

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARF 7T

Fixed rate borrowings: EEMER
Bank borrowings IRITER 2,354,808 3,912,156
Lease Liabilities HEaR 10,658 15,873

Variable rate borrowings: FEE®R
Bank borrowings RITEM 79,563 458,843
Total instruments T R4 2,445,029 4,386,872

31 2 Q Technology (Group) Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit
after tax and retained profits by approximately
RMB338,000 (2023: RMB1,950,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2023.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
bank borrowings, and sales and purchases which give
rise to loan balances, cash balances, receivables and
payables that are denominated in a foreign currency,
i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United
States dollars (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

34 TMITAZEMAREER
QFE @

(c) F=EER (&

(i) BREZHT

W_ZE_W&E+ _H
=+—H At FIEEE
@,/ B 50EE (FrA
HthBHRFAE) » B
REBRRE R MRS
wmAE L I IA AR
338,000t (ZE =% :
AR #1,950,0007T) °

RSB E 2 TR RR
MEREHPNEFSHRE
TOWEBRBEHARE
MEtBEXREBFFAME
NEAEBEBRATEMNE
BENEMTIA  A&EH
WEEREEHN (kR BE

RBREMRFAENFT B
MEIBREEMRETRE
FMEREBRMS  HEEE
R & (RiFEiE
M) PREMMITE BB R
MRBHELENFEEICT
BRAXBBANEEFH
fhsto B — 2 =411
EBYEREEIT DM o

(d) E%ER

AEBFFAENEERARE
EREELEREH ReM
B~ B R TR B R FE T RRIE R Y
ShHs (BPERZERMNESEDN
hAEE M LIINEEE) 5tEN
RITHE RS EHE KR g o 5
REBEBRBNEKEITEAE
T (TEx) RARK (TARE
&) o
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34 Financial risk management and fair values

of financial instruments (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s major
exposure at the end of each reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in Renminbi, translated
using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s

presentation currency are excluded.

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Intercompany receivables
Trade and other payables
Intercompany payables
Bank borrowings

Gross exposure arising from
recognised assets and liabilities

Notional amounts of exchange
rate derivatives
- Forward contracts
- Option contracts

Net exposure arising from
recognised assets and liabilities

RERFEEEY
B3 REMEURRIE
AEREEKTIR
BRREMBEAE
NEEENTIER
BITER

ERIEERBRESL
MR

EXTETANGES
B
—EHEY

—HEaH

ERREEREREL
HAE3E
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34 TMIAZEHAREERER
QDFE @

(d) EER &)

@

BIEmEE#E

TRFVNAEBRERS
HRFTAZHNETEEEBR
b ZFRERIUER
HENERIIEEEZ
SINNERSHENERIE
ERBRE-SLE2HREMNM
= RRBEBUAREIR
M LA 48 H B9 BD HA BE R i
B -BRERIEHFNMH
BERASEEBZNEEBH
EENEBRITHEER-

2024 2023

—E-ME ZBI=F
usD RMB usD RMB
e AR ETT AR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT NS ST v
276,790 41,675 577,274 40,651
= = 748 =
4,759,371 175,783 4,044,340 120,504
(73,438) (1,367) (66,315) (40,063)
(3,367,771) (352,940)  (3,781,454) (174,730)
(2,152,374) - (2,382,082 =
(557,422) (136,849)  (1,607,489) (53,638)
285,317 - 1,527,738 =
4,152,439 = 959,706 =
3,880,334 (136,849) 879,955 (53,638)
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £ TEZSREIEESIER

of financial instruments (continued) NIEE #B)
(d) Currency risk (continueq) (d) E¥@EE %)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BREZHIT

The following table indicates the instantaneous TRFEFINHLSHAEBRR
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained REHAREDREKRINE R
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to B EXNZBEE (R%
which the Group has significant exposure at the end Fﬁ EHEHMEAREBERFTL
of the reporting period had changed at that date, 'ﬁ‘) MERNEKEEFRRE

R (RARG A 8RB
29

assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

2024 2023

- 1113 S5
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease)  profit after (decrease) profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates profits rates profits
ShEERER HiFRE SN PR HEFR %
t#/  BAREFE R/ EARRE

(T bt (FE) petlb

% RMB’000 % RMB’000

ARETR % ARETT

usb ET 5 168,378 5 42,581
(5) (168,378) (5) (42,581)

RMB AR 5 (5,895) 5 (2,236)
(5) 5,895 (5) 2,236

EREFIBDITRIAE R4

Results of the analysis as presented in the above

table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the group entities’ profit after
tax and retained profits measured in the respective
functional currencies, and then translated into
Renminbi at the exchange rate ruling as at the end
of the reporting periods for presentation purposes.

ETREEBEREUERD
FEERSEBHNRREET
ke R 8B as M BY B B &2 & >
Mk E®BIR®REHARIR
TEXBRESARE X
mENZA-
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £RTEZSREAMSER
of financial instruments (continued) NIEE #B)
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥EKR #&)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis (continued)

(i) BREDH (&)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
inter-company payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis has been

BRE 2 Th R RSN B
RKNWEHERANEME
AEBPRREHARAITE
AERBEBRIERREHNE
MIA BEEEAAT
] & T 7R 78 Fe & W AR 1A
BRRBEUERAHBER
ABEE B LI E T
18 2 M i A 8 1 E & S
EHBUTRERERLTE
B2 EREENEE-
AHBUR T =418

performed on the same basis for 2023. BB E LT o
(e) Fair value measurement (e) RTEE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BATFEAENETHEERE
value &
Fair value hierarchy WNFEER
The following table presents the fair value of the TREJNAEBREHMTA

Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date
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WAFE ZFEMIEA
RBREHREEEMEREE
StE U EBERRME
WEEREIBFRFES
EBRAEN=ZMRTFER
B-RAFEFEDEN
FWMPBE2ENTEES
AR B A BB ARE
MREZERERE -

s ERIHE:EFEHE
A1 a8 A BUE (BD AR &
EHHEREERAE®E
ROGERM BN RKH
BRE) tE2NAFE
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £RITEZSREAMSER

of financial instruments (continued) NIEE #B)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) 2FEt= (&
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BATFEAENEZHEERE
value (continued) -RC=
Fair value hierarchy (continued) N EEAR (4
e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using o wo(LHE (FRE R
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which o8 A (BpkpEE
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant 4R 1Y o] B R 8 A
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are g B ARFEHEKR
inputs for which market data are not available. ENEIR - ES:nNg E
ENRAFE FAIHER
MABBAEMIZH
B AR -
e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using o RIEE . FHEKX
significant unobservable inputs ENEIR - ES:nNg E
ENRFE
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £ TEZEHEAMRTER

of financial instruments (continued) NEE #E)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) XFEEE #B)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BATFEAENEHEERE
value (continued) & (&=
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RFEER (B)

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
RIZZME+ZA=+—ANATEFEDES
Fair value at
31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

MATE B4 B2 E#43
Recurring fair value RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
measurement REMATHERE ARBTR INGL S ARBTR ARBTR
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets measured BRATEHABGNEREE
at FVPL 501,752 - 501,752 -
Equity securities designated A FEFAEMEZEREN
at FVOCl R RERS 56,359 50,759 - 5,600
Derivative financial instruments  $1£ 48 T2
- Forward foreign exchange ~ —EHISMNESH)
contracts 37,438 - 37,438 -
- Foreign exchange option ~ —MNEZ RS X
contracts 61,976 61,976 -
Financial liabilities: ERAE!
Derivative financial instruments  $1£ 48 T2
- Forward foreign exchange ~ —REIMNESH
contracts (15,989) - (15,989) -
- Foreign exchange option ~~ —SMNEZEEH
contracts (40,579) - (40,579) -
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £RITEZSREAMSER

of financial instruments (continued) PEE E)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AFEHE (B
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BATFEAENEZHEERE
value (continued) & (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RFEER ()

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
RIBZ=F+"A=+—HNATEHENER

Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZEZ=%
+ZA=+-H
NATE B B2 B3
Recurring fair value RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
measurement REMATESNE NS N S AREF ARETR
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets measured BRATEFABEN
at FVPL SHEE 511,242 - 511,242 -
Equity securities designated AT A ARMZERE
at FvoCl iR g S 5,600 - - 5,600
Financial liabilities: ERARE!
Derivative financial instruments T4 &8I 2
- Forward foreign exchange ~ —MNEHEAH
contracts (43,771) - (43,771) -
- Foreign exchange option —EHIMERH
contracts (8,529) - (8,529) -
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and BHE_E ="K
2024, there were no transfers between Level 1 “mE+=-/B=+—H JJ:
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The FE>EBHRI1EEHK2 2 M
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between jf’ﬁ%%’* I N =1
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the HEBEI RNEBHEKA
reporting period in which they occur. RAFEEBREHIRE
BHNRSHREREREE

o
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34 TMIAZEHAREERER
QDFE @

(e) AFEE #E)

34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i)

BATEAENETHEERR

value (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of financial assets measured at FVPL
in Level 2 is determined using discounted cash flow
models. The discount rate used is derived from the
relevant government vyield curve as at the end of
each reporting period plus an adequate constant
credit spread.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts
in Level 2 is determined by discounting the
difference between the contractual forward price
and the current forward price. The discount rate
used is derived from the relevant government yield
curve as at the end of the reporting period plus an
adequate constant credit spread.

The fair value of foreign currency option contracts in
Level 2 is determined by using the Black-Scholes-
Merton model.
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mNEMEEZAFED
ERAMKBEREAERENE
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WEERZE-
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34 Financial risk management and fair values
of financial instruments (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

U

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Equity securities designated at FVOCI included
the investments in Dongguan Attach Point. The
fair value of Dongguan Attach Point was mainly
determined with reference to the latest available
financial information, adjusted by unobservable
inputs such as latest-round financing of the funds’
underlying investments, when applicable. The
higher the price of the latest-round financing for
these underlying investments, the higher the fair
value of the FVOCI would be. The movement during
the year in the balance of this Level 3 fair value
measurement is as follows:

34 TMITAZEMAREER
QFE @

(e) AFEE #B)

@

BATEAENETHEERR
" &

B RBARIL T EE BHIEH

BAFESAHMEEEK
mEEREESEER
ERNREEE R EE
NAFEETENKRER
MASHMBERNREE
AR R R BI ER R A BUR
HETHE PINMEZHERE
RENEFT—HRE WA
) - ZSHERRENRN
—HREERES BA
FEFAEMERRTH
ANTFERES - ZEHRIA

TEAEEGRNFRNE
£ (I
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARF T
Unlisted equity securities: JE LTRSS
At 1 January w—RBA—H 5,600 5,000
Payment for purchases BEAM - =
Net unrealised gains recognised & A Eth 2 E UL SR
in other comprehensive HABERW D FER
income during the year - 600
At 31 December R+—_B=+—H 5,600 5,600
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34 Financial risk management and fair values 34 £RTEZSREAMSER

of financial instruments (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement
of the Group’s equity securities held for strategic
purposes are recognised in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) in other comprehensive income.
Upon disposal of the equity securities, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
transferred directly to retained earnings.

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2023 and 2024.

ANFE E)
(e) AFEE #E)

() HATFEAENZTHEERE
")

B RBARIL T E G BHIEH
(&)

EMEAERSRER
WA RIERSIES
BY 1 frJ UK 2 O 5 1R 1 E Ath
EEBR@mAERDATE
#E (TR EE) -THE
RERSR HthE2E K
mRFHNERFEREA

RERA -

(i) B FESREZHEE
REEIAFlE

A B IR IE A A ABREY
SRHTEAMNERERAR
TEIFRITEINOEEF
+ZB=+—HBHHQFE
WHEEBARER

35 Commitments 35 K

Commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

R_E_NME+_BA=+—H®Exk
EEENVMERRITETIREEN
AREWNT -

2024 2023
—EME ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T

Contracted for acquisition of BEYE- -HMERIESERE
property, plant and equipment NE#H
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36 Material related party transactions

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions:

Name of related parties

R Bk 75 % 78

36 EXEEIARS

frzE M HBIREREME PR ER
S ERN AEBEBESTIULUT
EREBARS !

Relationship with the Group
i ok 75 % 8 B A R [ RO RR 1

CK Telecom Limited* (“Heyuan CK”)
(‘ERIBERRE CDR) BRAR")

AR A E M & E CR) BARAB (DREE))

Van Telecom Limited* (“Van Telecom PRC”)
(MEZRLBRRE")

WZRRAERAT (LR HRE))

C-Flex Electronic (Huangshi) Ltd.* (“Huangshi C-Flex)
(BEAAEEFREBRRT)
EOAAEETFREARAE ((HAAE))

Heyuan Youhua Micro Electronic Technology
Company Limited* (“Heyuan Youhua”)

(AR REMEEREFRAB)
TARREMEERRBRAR (DRAZEE)

Dongguan Xinxu Optical Limited.* (“Dongguan Xinxu”)
("REHMEAERRAE)
REHMBHEFRAE] (TREHBI)

Xiamen Zhonghui Microelectronics Co., Ltd.*
(“Xiamen Zhonghui”) (‘BT R EBEME T BRAE")
EFMREMEFBRAE (EFRE))

— SHENZHEN CK Telecom Limited* (“Shenzhen CK”)
(R AEAEERERNRERRLT")

AT A EERERMRERRAR (NRIYIFER)

* The English translation of the companies’ names is for reference
only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
A B S A 4

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
A B S A 4

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
A B S A 4

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
A B S A 4

A subsidiary of an associate of the Group
REEBZRBNWE RS

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
FR fe] B8 58 S A 42 1

Controlled by Mr. He Ningning
Fh o] 88 58 S A 42

* =

ENERBIAXIEERHSE =&
AEWMEXBBEHT o

¥ N
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36 EXEAMARS #)

36 Material related party transactions
(continued)

(a) Key management personnel (@) FTEEEASHHN

2024 2023
—E-OE —E_=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARF T
Salaries, wages and other benefits ~ #r& ~ T& KR EHMEF 8,474 8,216
Contributions to defined contribution 531 &R th st =3k
retirement plans 134 148
Equity settled share-based payment LU#Ezs 45 ERIRG D =BT
expenses 265 -
8,873 8,364

tiTrEEEBEASHFMNEL
8Tk (FsE5(0)) o

The above remuneration to key management personnel
is included in “staff costs” (note 5(b)).

(b) Other transactions with related parties

(b) EAREANHMIS

Sales of products to
— Xiamen Zhonghui
— Heyuan CK

Purchases of products from

— Huangshi C-Flex
— Heyuan Youhua
— Dongguan Xinxu

Lease of equipments to

— Xiamen Zhonghui

EmET
—EFIRE
—AREE Al

Eom
—EOEE
SRR
=

REBHEET
—EFRE
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2024 2023
—ETNE —E2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFx AR¥T T
60,021 11,771
71 210
60,092 11,981
173,163 136,673
276,009 163,864
24,459 6,230
473,631 306,767
- 830
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36 Material related party transactions
(continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

(i) Due from related parties

36 EXEMARS @)

(c) EARAEG 5458
() KBS

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E=

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARF T

Trade-related =7y L
Trade receivables B S EW A
— Heyuan CK —ARPR R
— Xiamen Zhonghui —EPIRE
Other receivables H g sIa
— Shenzhen CK — &I
Contract assets BHEE
— Xiamen Zhonghui —EFRE

(i) Due to related parties

Trade-related =Ry =]

Trade and bills payable BoRENRBERENEE
— Huangshi C-Flex —=a0HE%
— Heyuan Youhua —AR AR B
— Dongguan Xinxu —HREME

The amounts due from/to related parties as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were expected to be
recovered/repaid within one year.

= 229
41,648 2,000
41,648 2,229

68 68
6,782 =

(i) FEfTRIE A

2024 2023
—EME BT =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR#ETF T
10,179 17,603
169 5,539
7,832 1,387
18,180 24,529

= VAt = S ==
F+ZA=+—HEu~
& 1<t R Bt 5 =R IE FE HR A R
—ERIRE I o

2024535 E#EHE (EE) BRAR
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36 Material related party transactions
(continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (continueqd)

(iij) Lease Liabilities

36 EXEAMARS &

(c) HARAEASAEER (B2

(i) THEEE

2024 2023

—E_MEF —F=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Lease liabilities HEaR
— Van Telecom PRC —MEZ R A
- Shenzhen CK —RIFE ]

The Group entered into leases in respect of certain
leasehold properties from its related parties, with
lease terms of 2-3 years. During the year, the
amounts of rent paid by the Group under the lease
to its related parties were RMB4,561,000 (2023:
RMB5,244,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 BI5EIN > UAREZIT)

37 Company level statement of financial

37 REIEEMFHIRRR

position
2023
Note " RMB'000
Hiat AR¥TTT
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries BB ARMNKRE 11 163,297 158,871
Investments in an associate 275,236 275,236
Amount due from a subsidiary FEUW— RSB A SIS 575,099 566,643
1,013,632 1,000,750
Current assets REMEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B =k1B 576,381 572,381
Trade and other receivables 85 REMERIE 166 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEY 1,868 2,701
578,415 575,082
Current liabilities mENBaE
Trade and other payables B MEMENRIE 169 =
Amount due to a subsidiary ~ FE{T—FM B AT FHRIE 321 327
490 327
Net current assets REEEFE 577,925 574,755
Total assets less current MEERRBEER
liabilities and net assets BEEFE 1,591,557 1,575,505
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B K EE
Share capital f& A 33(c) 9,486 9,486
Reserves & 33(d) 1,582,071 1,566,019
TOTAL EQUITY L 1,591,557 1,575,505
38 Non-adjusting events after the reporting 38 HEHABIFAREH
period
On 3 March 2025, the Group acquired 20,000,000 ordinary A _E_HAF=-B=H’'&KXE&E

shares issued by Newmax Technology at the price of
TWD22.16 per share, representing approximately 9.8%
of the total number of issued ordinary shares of Newmax
Technology as enlarged upon completion of its private

placement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHMIBERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (&% BIEREIN > UA R EFIR)

39 Immediate and ultimate controlling party

As at 31 December 2024, the directors consider the
immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group
to be Q Technology Investment Inc., which is incorporated in
the BVI, and be Mr. He Ningning, respectively.

40 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

39

40

BEERR&EERS

R_B_NFE+-_H=+—H"%
EXRAEENEESRE RRE
ERS D /”J'J%EA”%FEﬁEi%uIHﬂ

MINERKKREFERATDRAEE
e e

#E"_T-_mWE+_"H
=+—HLEFEEEGER
REMBERT ~ FET R K
RRENARERE

BEZFMHRERTEEH  BER
S EEZEERBIENEE
—E_ME+_A=T—HIEEE
M R E AR ] NAEET &R > ZF
Eﬂ%%ﬁ%‘%]ﬁﬂﬂmihmﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬂ&
ZR - ZEUREELUTAIERAS
EEAERE -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
R BRBAHZERBH
BEtHAREN

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

— Lack of exchangeability

BIFR & st 2R B215% (BFIAR) - SMNEEKEGHIZE | h= At

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial

instruments. disclosures — Amendments to the classification and

measurement of financial instruments
B PR B 75 3R 5 ZE RIS 95 (18T AY)
B THMTA . RE-—THTANSBERGEETR

' &4 T AR B R B 5 R 5 2R

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BB REEN G EANFEESE—F11E
IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BUFR B3R R 2R SB185% B A2 5 RIK &

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures

BRI #5352 R %

1958 BMARRIE MEHINE L E] | K EE

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets

between an investor and its associate or joint venture

BB F5 e S 22 RIS 105 R BB & 5t 22 R 552858 (IBET ) »
REZEHRABENTNGETLEZHNEELENTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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1 January 2025
—_Z”_H%—HF—H

1 January 2026
e —/ \ﬂf ﬁ EI

1 January 2026
—ETRE—RB—H
1 January 2027
—ET+tHF—HF—H
1 January 2027
—2-tH5—AF—H
To be determined

by the IASB
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